MICROBIAL BIOPROCESSING: FROM NATURE TO INDUSTRY

By

Jenna M. Young

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Microbiology and Molecular Genetics

ABSTRACT

MICROBIAL BIOPROCESSING: FROM NATURE TO INDUSTRY

By

Jenna M. Young

Microorganisms play an essential role in the processing of plant-derived matter in nature and in industrial settings. Decomposition of plant matter in nature is a key process in the feedback between soils and the atmosphere and an important parameter to incorporate into climate models to increase their predictive value. The mechanisms that enable decomposers to process plant matter in nature are not known. To gain insights, I investigated the response of *Cellulomonas* decomposers to nitrogen disturbances such as those caused by the addition of fertilizers or atmospheric deposition of greenhouse gases. These decomposers adapt to low nitrogen by specifically colonizing plant-derived substrates as biofilms and sequestering significant amounts of carbon in the biofilm matrix. The biofilm strategy enabled cells to be closer to the substrate and to degrade it more efficiently despite the low availability of nitrogen sources. The process is reversible and potentially manageable, thus showing promise for its use as a carbon remediation technology to mitigate the accumulation of greenhouse gases.

Knowledge gained from studying *Cellulomonas uda* can be utilized in industry as interest in cellulolytic microorganisms has increased in recent years due to their role in bioethanol production. To minimize the cost of bioethanol, agricultural residues and dedicated bioenergy crops are preferable as substrates instead of starch and sugar. These lignocellulosic substrates are more recalcitrant and require a chemical pretreatment step plus an additional step of enzymatic hydrolysis to make them fermentable. Consolidated bioprocessing (CBP), i.e. a combined platform that catalyzes the breakdown and fermentation of cellulose in one single step, is a cost-effective approach to producing ethanol from lignocellulosic substrates. *C. uda* is an attractive candidate for industrial consolidated bioprocessing of lignocellulose. The activities of this organism is limited, however, by the accumulation of ethanol and fermentation byproducts, which in nature are rapidly removed by other organisms. Our lab has developed a platform for the bioprocessing of chemically-pretreated agricultural residues such as corn stover by *C. uda* and *Geobacter sulfurreducens* into ethanol and biohydrogen using a microbial electrochemical cell (MEC). As predicted, nitrogen supplementation prevented the accumulation of carbon as a curdlan biofilm matrix and resulted in 2-fold increases in the energy recoveries from the fermentation of Ammonia Fiber Expansion pretreated corn stover (AFEX-CS). Improving culture conditions and developing a faster fermenting strain led to a 12-fold increase in ethanol productivity.

Another bioprocessing scheme of industrial significance is the generation of value-added co-products from glycerol, the major waste product in the production of biodiesel. Harnessing the glycerin waste stream to produce value-added products will diminish the cost and waste of biodiesel production. We identified a glycerol-fermenting bacterium (*Clostridium cellobioparum*) that converts glycerol into ethanol at high rates and generates waste fermentation byproducts that are converted into hydrogen in *Geobacter*-driven MECs. This scheme shows promise as a wastewater treatment method as optimization of the platform resulted in glycerol consumption of 50g/L.

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to "family" in every sense of the word. In particular to my family back home in Georgia. They are an amazing support system and have listened tirelessly to both the good and the bad over the years. I would also like to dedicate this to my Michigan family, the friends and labmates who helped me through the tough times and laughed with me through the good times. Lastly, to Tucker, who makes me laugh every day.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work described in this dissertation is the result of the help, support, and work of many good people. First and foremost, my mentors Dr. Gemma Reguera and Dr. Bruce Dale for the good fortune of an ever interesting project that excited and challenged me throughout the process. I also want to thank my committee members who guided me in addition to my mentors, Dr. James Tiedje, Dr. Claire Vieille, and Dr. Kurt Thelen.

I want to thank Susan Leschine for making my projects possible as she provided our cellulolytic strains. A special shout-out to the Vieille lab members for all their assistance with HPLC analysis and troubleshooting, in particular thanks to Dr. Bryan Schindler and Nik McPherson. Thanks to Dr. Melinda Frame and Dr. Per Askeland for microscopy guidance resulting in some very pretty pictures of bacteria.

I want to thank my generous funding sources, especially the College of Natural Science at Michigan State University for the Marvin Hensley Endowed, continuation, and dissertation completion fellowships as well as the Rackham Fund Foundation.

To the past and present members of the Reguera lab, thank you to those who helped keep the lab running, edited papers and fellowships, helped with the many many growth curves over the years, and became my surrogate family. In particular, I want to acknowledge our old lab techs for their help in the early days. Blair Bullard trained me on day one in the lab and was always around to lend a helping hand. Kwi Kim helped with the original cellulolytic screening before I ever started my project and managed to sneak in advice about the important things in life into everyday conversation. A special thanks to Dr. Sanela Lampa-Pastirk for being an amazing source of knowledge, even

though Microbiology isn't her thing. She taught us the ways of the academic world and how science learning should be approached. Tucker and I also want to thank her for her cheese pie. Special recognition goes to Dena for being the rock of the lab. To round out the bunch, Allison Speers. As I am the only member of the Reguera lab not working with *Geobacter*, an extra extra special thanks to Allison, who was my scientific connection to the rest of the lab. With a parallel project as well as being co-contributer to another project, Allison was my major resource for discussions, experimental planning, and trouble shooting in the lab. Many of my experiments have a fingerprint or two of hers within them.

Lastly, I want to recognize the MMG grad students both past and present. We are lucky as a department to have such a close knit group. I encourage that tradition to continue as I know that I could not have gotten through this without them.

Х
xi
ND ABBREVIATIONS xiii
Id applications of industrial microbiology
bial Bioprocessors
control of biofilm formation by <i>Cellulomonas</i> spp. in response to 24 (
fect of N availability on growth and biofilm formation in <i>ellulomonas</i> spp

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.5	EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES	52
	2.5.2 Bacterial strains and culture conditions	52
	2.5.3 Nitrogen fixation assays	53
	2.5.4 Biofilm dispersal	54
	2.5.5 Carbon, nitrogen, curdlan, and total cell protein determination	55
	2.5.6 Dry weight and total cell protein determination	56
	2.5.7 Microscopy analysis	56
	2.5.8 Enzyme and protein assays	57
	2.5.9 Filter paper experiments	58
	2.5.10 Chitinase activity assays and ChiA immunodetection	
	2.5.11 Biofilm assays on cellulose membranes	60
2.6	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	61
REF	FERENCES	62
		-
Chapter 3:	Operational and biological approaches for improved consolidated	
bioprocess	sing of AFEX-pretreated corn stover to ethanol by Cellulomonas uda	69
· 3.1	ABSTRACT	70
3.2	INTRODUCTION	70
3.3	MATERIALS AND METHODS	75
	3.3.1 Bacterial strains and culture conditions	75
	3.3.2 Alcohol Tolerance of <i>C. uda</i>	76
	3.3.3 Adaptive Evolution of <i>C. uda</i>	76
	3.3.4 Batch cultures of C. uda on varying concentrations of AFEX-CS	3.77
	3.3.5 Analytical techniques	77
3.4	RESULTS	78
	3.4.1 Hydrolysis and fermentation of varying concentrations of AFEX	-CS
	by C. uda	78
	3.4.2 Adaptive evolution of <i>C. uda</i> for improved fermentation	82
	3.4.3 Fermentation of AFEX-CS by the adapted AA7 strain of C. uda	87
3.5	DISCUSSION	92
3.6	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	96
REF	FERENCES	97
Chapter 4:	Fermentation of glycerol into ethanol and simultaneous hydrogen produ	uction
in bioelecti	rochemical cells.	.104
4.1	ABSTRACT	.105
4.2	INTRODUCTION	.106
4.3	MATERIALS AND METHODS	.115
	4.3.1 Bacterial strains and culture conditions	.115
	4.3.2 Screening of fermentative strains for glycerol consumption	.115
	4.3.3 Batch cultures of C. cellobioparum and G. sulfurreducens	.115
	4.3.4 Alcohol tolerance of C. cellobioparum and G. sulfurreducens	.116
	4.3.5 Adaptive evolution of <i>C. cellobioparum</i>	.116
	4.3.6 Adaptive evolution of <i>G. sulfurreducens</i>	.117
	4.3.7 MECs	.117
	4.3.8 Energy recovery	.120

	4.3.9 Confocal Scanning Laser Microscopy (CLSM)	.122
	4.3.10 Analytical techniques	.123
4.4	4 RESULTS	.124
	4.4.1 Identification of a glycerol-fermenting ethanologenic strain	.124
	4.4.2 Syntrophic growth of G. sulfurreducens and C. cellobioparum in	า
	batch cultures with fumarate as the electron acceptor	.126
	4.4.3 Tolerance of wild-type strains to glycerol	.129
	4.4.4 Fermentation of glycerol to ethanol in a MEC	.131
	4.4.5 Adaptive evolution of C. cellobioparum	.132
	4.4.6 Adaptive evolution of G. sulfurreducens	.136
	4 4 7 Glycerol tolerance of GsulAst and CCelAtoc	139
	4.4.8 MECs with 10% (w/v) alveral loading	142
4		152
т. Д (160
PF		161
I NL		. 101
Chapter !	5. Conclusions and Future Directions	168
5	1 CONCLUSIONS	169
5.2	2 FUTURE DIRECTIONS	170
0.1	5 2 1 Cellulomonas uda	170
	5 2 2 Clostridium cellobioparum	172
RF	FFRENCES	174
Appendix	: Investigations towards the development of a genetic system in <i>Cellulon</i>	nonas
flavigena		.178
А.	1 BACKGROUND	.179
A.:	2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	.179
	A.2.1 Bacterial strains and culture conditions	.179
	A.2.2 Antibiotic screening and minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC	C)179
	A.2.3 DNA manipulations and plasmid construction	.180
	A.2.4 Preparation of electrocompetent cells and electrotransformatio	n181
A.	3 RESULTS	.182
	A.3.1 Antibiotic resistance profile of <i>C. uda</i> and <i>C. flavigena</i>	.182
	A.3.2 Transformation of C. flavigena	.184
Α.	4 DISCUSSION	.186
RE	EFERENCES	.187

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Total cell protein and dry weight content of <i>C. uda</i> planktonic cells or biofilms
Table 2.2 <i>C. uda</i> planktonic and biofilm growth with labile C and/or N substrates40
Table 3.1 C. uda fermentation products of AFEX-CS
Table 3.2 C. uda AA7 fermentation products of AFEX-CS 88
Table 4.1 Screening of fermentative strains for glycerol consumption125
Table A.1 Antibiotic resistance profile of C. uda
Table A.2 Antibiotic resistance profile of C. flavigena

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Timeline of the history of industrial microbiology	6
Figure 2.1 Effect of N availability on growth and biofilm formation in Cellulomona	as spp.
	30
Figure 2.2 Effect of N availability on growth, curdlan production, and enzyme act	tivity in
Cellulomonas uda	32
Figure 2.3 <i>C. uda</i> growth-independence on atmospheric N2	33
Figure 2.4 TEM micrographs and colony morphology of C. uda in nitrogen and n	itrogen
limited conditions	35
Figure 2.5 Colonization and degradation of cellulosic substrates	36
Figure 2.6 Colonization and degradation of chitinous substrates	37
Figure 2.7 Biofilm formation and dispersal in response to C:N ratio	39
Figure 2.8 <i>C. uda</i> biofilm dispersal	41
Figure 2.9 Phase contrast <i>C. uda</i> biofilm dispersal	42
Figure 2.10 Effect of N additions on C sequestration	43
Figure 2.11 Decomposition of filter paper as a function of N availability	45
Figure 2.12 ESEM micrographs of filter paper as a function of N availability	46
Figure 3.1 Hydrolysis and fermentation efficiency of <i>C. uda</i> on AFEX-CS	79
Figure 3.2 Ethanol tolerance of <i>C. uda</i> and adaptively evolved strains	84
Figure 3.3 Fermentative growth of the parental and AA7 strains of <i>C. uda</i>	86
Figure 3.4 Fermentation products of AFEX-CS by the parental and AA7 strains of	of C.
uda	90
Figure 3.5 Comparison of fermentation products and ethanol productivity	92

Figure 4.1 Transesterification reaction of triacylglycerides
Figure 4.2 The fermentative metabolism of glycerol into ethanol and 1,3-propandediol
and the associated fermentative byproducts114
Figure 4.3 Syntrophic growth of <i>G. sulfurreducens</i> and <i>C. cellobioparum</i> 128
Figure 4.4 Tolerance of wild-type strains to glycerol130
Figure 4.5 Adaptive evolution of glycerol tolerance in <i>C. cellobioparum</i>
Figure 4.6 Adaptive evolution of ethanol tolerance in <i>G. sulfurreducens</i>
Figure 4.7 Glycerol tolerance of GsulA _{5E} and CcelA _{10G} and co-culture improvements

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

- AA3, allyl alcohol 10⁻³ M
- AA7, allyl alcohol 10⁻⁷ M
- AFEX, Ammonia Fiber Expansion
- AFEX-CS, Ammonia Fiber Expansion pretreated corn stover
- BCA, Bicinchoninic Acid
- BSA, Bovine Serum Albumin
- BES, bioelectrochemical system
- CB, cellobiose
- CBP, consolidated bioprocessing
- CFU, colony forming units
- CLSM, confocal laser scanning microscopy
- CMC, carboxymethylcellulose
- CMCase, carboxymethylcellulase
- DMSO, dimethyl sulfoxide
- DNS, 3,5-dinitrosalicylic acid
- EPS, exopolysaccharide
- FAEE, fatty acid ethyl esters
- FAME, fatty acid methyl esters
- GC, gas chromatography
- HPLC, high pressure liquid chromatography
- MEC, microbial electrolysis cell
- NAG, N-acetyl glucosamine

OD, optical density

- RBB, Remazol Brilliant Blue
- RPM, rotations per minute
- SEM, scanning electron microscopy
- TEM, tunneling electron microscopy

WT, wild-type

Chapter 1

A history and applications of industrial microbiology

1.1 Industrial Microbiology: An Understanding

Industrial biotechnology is the use of biological methods applied to industrial processes, which can be used to produce chemicals, materials, and energy, often in a beneficial manner. Biotechnology has the potential to benefit the environment through reduction in greenhouse gas emissions and reduction in harmful waste generations. It can also help the economy through stimulation of agricultural markets, creation of products with improved process rates and efficiencies, and lower energy costs (52).

The main proponent of change leading to the benefits of biotechnology is the use of renewable resources. Biotechnology provides a mechanism to move away from fossil fuels and rely instead upon renewable substrates. Industry originally relied on renewables prior to the industrial revolution when petrochemical processes became dominant. Over the past several decades, which included the oil crisis in the 1970's and continually rising oil prices, it has become increasingly clear that non-renewable resources are just that, a finite resource on which dependency cannot be sustained. Despite this realization, market costs drive the demand for sustainable products. While benefits to the environment and diminished generation of waste and harmful byproducts are attractive advantages, production costs will always play a role in the choice between sustainability and economics. The successful biotechnology advances will be those that combine environmental and economic advantages (52).

Microorganisms play an important role in industrial biotechnology as they catalyze natural processes of interest, but their natural environments do not select for optimum product formation. Adjusting conditions and genetic material can improve these bioprocesses and allow biotechnologists a quick and efficient way to make

sustainable and profitable products (52). Microorganisms have been used in several different industries over the years including food, agriculture, chemical and pharmaceutical applications. The advantages of using microorganisms over chemical pathways include opting for an environmentally friendly system by limiting use of harsh reagents (heavy metals, strong acids and bases, solvents) and harnessing native abilities evolved for specificity and efficiency (enzyme complexes) (13).

1.2 Industrial Microbiology: A History

Before the actual discovery of microorganisms, they played a major role in human lives. Microorganisms allowed the preservation of food, production of beverages, cheese, bread, pickled food, and vinegar, and all these processes were possible without knowledge of the root of the process. Fermentations by yeast go back to 7000 B.C. with the first recording of beer in Babylonia. Egyptian records show use of yeast to make leavened bread in 4000 B.C., and the Assyrians were making wine in 3500 B.C. (12) (Fig. 1.1).

The first piece to the puzzle began in the 17th century, when Antonie van Leeuwenhoek used a microscope and first described microorganisms that he called "animalcules" (Fig. 1.1) Then, in the early nineteenth century, three independent scientists (Charles Cagniard, Theodor Schwann, and Friedrich Traugott Kützing) connected microorganisms to the phenomenon of fermentation, but opposition remained. Some still believed it to be a strictly chemical reaction. Finally, the negation of spontaneous generation in the late nineteenth century by Louis Pasteur allowed the advancement of microbiology. The combination of this discovery and the discovery that

distinct microorganisms exhibited different characteristics (e.g. disease symptoms, fermentation products) had major impacts on the medical field as well as understanding other processes like fermentation.

In 1879, Robert Koch determined that bacteria cause disease. This provided direction for the fight against disease and the search began for compounds toxic to bacteria that do not harm the host. Finally in 1927, Alexander Flemming discovered Penicillin and observed cell extracts of mold that would inhibit the growth and lyse bacteria but did not harm animals (Fig. 1.1). However, this discovery was limited by native production rates and activity of the drug. During WWII, soldiers were developing bacterial infections in their wounds, and the need for antibiotics became increasingly important. This began strain improvements via mutations resulting in successful development of high-production strains. Penicillin was followed by the discovery of more antibiotics from other yeast and bacteria, specifically from Actinomycetes, including cephalosporins, streptomycin, tetracycline, chloramphenicol, vancomycin, and many more (12). While the discovery of bacteria being the root of disease and the subsequent creation of the antibiotics industry makes up a major sector of bioindustry, other products were of interest as well.

In the late 19th century, as microbes were first being understood, another breakthrough occurred, the discovery of enzymes. In 1877, Moritz Traube was the first to describe enzymes, what he called "protein-like catalysts." Two decades later, Eduard Buchner founded the field of Biochemistry by catalyzing a reaction with cell free extracts by converting sucrose to ethanol with yeast cell lysates. In the early 20th century, primary metabolites, such as amino acids, vitamins, flavor nucleotides, organic acids,

and alcohols, were produced at industrial scale. For example, citric acid, acetic acid, and vitamin C all became industrial products via microbial fermentation. As the century moved on amino acids, and more vitamins and organic acids also became commercially available (12) (Fig. 1.1)

Then, in the 1970s, an energy crisis turned the focus back to ethanol, but this time for energy instead of food and beverages (Fig. 1.1). The crisis was short-lived, and bioenergy lost focus when oil prices dropped, and the technology was not advanced enough for industry (12). Then, in 2007, Congress passed the Energy Independence and Security Act (Fig. 1.1) which required 36 billion gallons of ethanol to be produced per year by 2022, and 21 billion gallons to be specifically "advanced biofuels" such as cellulosic ethanol (11). Today, we once again have high oil prices, renewable resources are cheap, and a renewed interest in alternative fuels has resumed. The biofuel industry is a perfect example of purposing microorganisms for yielding valuable products (13).



Figure 1.1: Timeline of the history of industrial microbiology

1.3 Biofuels

1.3.1 Overview

Other types of renewable energy also exist including solar, wind, waves, tidal flows, and nuclear fusion (18), but replacing liquid transportation fuel is essential as 60% of our oil consumption goes towards transportation needs (2). Developing biofuels derived from renewable sources to replace petrodiesel will benefit the economy by reducing imports and boosting the domestic agriculture industry. Decreasing our reliance on foreign oil will improve national security and constrain oil prices. Additionally, cleaner emissions will result in improved environmental conditions (55, 56).

When comparing liquid transportation fuels, several factors are important to consider. Octane and cetane numbers describe the ignition quality of the fuel with high numbers being favorable. Energy content of fuels will affect torque, acceleration, and miles per gallon. Additionally, emissions quality will determine the environmental impact of the fuel (55, 56).

There are two main types of transportation fuel, gasoline and diesel. Gasoline contains hydrocarbons 4-12 carbons long and has an octane number range of 91-99. Alternatives to gasoline include ethanol and butanol. Ethanol has a favorable octane number of 129 but an energy content at 70% of traditional gasoline. Ethanol, especially when derived from cellulosic resources, has the potential to reduce greenhouse gas emissions (17) with some estimates as high as 60-90% reductions compared to conventional gasoline (9). Limitations in ethanol as a biofuel include low vapor pressure limiting ease of combustion especially at low temperature (56) and its corrosive nature preventing use in pure form in the existing infrastructure (13).

Butanol, which can actually replace either gasoline or biodiesel, has two more carbons per molecule than ethanol, therefore, a higher energy content than ethanol by 40% but a lower octane number (96) although it is within the range of gasoline (32). Butanol also exhibits reduced emissions (26). Use of butanol as an alternative fuel is mostly limited by low product yields (26).

Diesel contains hydrocarbons ranging from 9-23 carbons long whereas its biofuel alternative, biodiesel, ranges from 12-22 resulting in similar energy content and cetane numbers (32). Biodiesel has reduced emissions compared to diesel in terms of carbon monoxide and particulates, but actually releases more nitrogen oxides due to higher rates of oxidation (15). The major limitation of biodiesel is poor cold flow properties (15, 47).

As ethanol is the major renewable fuel currently used in the United States, and biodiesel is preferred in Europe (18), I will concentrate on these two alternative fuels.

1.3.2 Ethanol

While the Energy Independence Act of 2007 has renewed interest in ethanol as a biofuel, it is not a new idea. Ethanol was used as fuel in original ignition engines in the late 19th century and early 20th century (1). Ethanol dominates the current biofuel market as 67 billion literes were produced in 2008 (40) with most of that production coming from Brazil, the United States, and Asia (9). Currently, ethanol is mostly derived from sugar and starch substrates fermented by yeast and bacteria (1), but it has the potential to be produced from low cost feedstocks (60).

Under optimistic conditions, ethanol could penetrate 52% of the fuel market by 2030. This would depend on the country adopting flex fuel cars that could run on 85% ethanol blends. Otherwise, penetration could only ever reach 15%, as non-flex fuel cars can only use gasoline blends up to 15% ethanol (56).

1.3.3 Biodiesel

Using plant oils as a fuel source goes back to the late 19th century. The first scientists to use transesterification of plant oils to produce biodiesel were E. Duffy and J. Patrick in 1853, but it was Rudolf Diesel who first tested it as a fuel in a car in 1893. Furthermore, after a demonstration at the International Exhibition in Paris using peanut oil to run a diesel engine, R. Diesel intuitively asserted "Usage of plant oil as fuel for cars may seem insignificant nowadays but such oils, with time, may become as important as coal and oil products now" (18). The credit for the first production of biodiesel as we know it today goes to G. Chavanne who patented the process while at the University of Brussels using palm oil in 1937 (30).

From 1998 to 2008 the biodiesel industry exhibited incredible growth both in the US and overseas. Domestically, biodiesel production increased 350-fold from 2 million to 700 million gallons a year. The European Union saw a 33-fold increase in production from 475 thousand tons to 16 million tons (18).

The big picture benefits of biodiesel result from being a renewable energy source (reduced carbon footprint, renewable feedstock supply), cleaner emissions, and expansion of agricultural markets and economy. The fuel properties of biodiesel show promise, but are still limited in some ways. Biodiesel compared to diesel has a higher

flash point, greater lubricity, and can mix with petrodiesel in any concentration. Unfortunately, cold fuel properties limit the usability of this fuel presently. Cloud point and pour point at freezing temperatures limit the use of this fuel during winter months in some climates. If the cold fuel properties are addressed and oil yields increase (via plant genetic manipulation or new and improved feedstocks), biodiesel could become economically feasible. At present, biodiesel market penetration will only reach 6% by 2030 (55).

1.4 Pretreatment technologies as the first step in biomass conversion to ethanol

Conversion of lignocellulose to ethanol faces several challenges, the first of which is the natural recalcitrance of this substrate. The substrate complexity and inherent resistance to degradation requires pretreatment prior to biological conversion to ethanol (53). Lignocellulose is composed of lignin, cellulose, hemicellulose and small amounts of protein, pectin, extractives, and ash. Composition and construction of these components vary by plant type. Lignin serves as a barrier of the plant cell wall to microbial degradation (28). The goal of pretreatment is to break the lignin seal and decrease crystallinity of cellulose in order to increase accessibility of carbohydrate polymers for enzymatic hydrolysis and eventually fermentation (39, 57). The pretreatment process should minimize energy consumption and chemical and mechanical usage, be scalable to industry, and require little input via enzymes and chemicals post-pretreatment and before fermentation.

Current technologies do not reach all these goals, but trade-offs can be made to optimize methods (28). There are two main classes of pretreatment technologies

utilized in industry, physical and chemical pretreatment methods. Physical pretreatments exploit particle size and mechanical stress to reduce crystallinity. Chemical pretreatments use acids and bases in varying methodologies to accomplish this goal (53).

Acid pretreatments use high temperature and pressure to target and hydrolyze hemicellulose and lignin, resulting in a solubilized fraction containing hemicellulosic sugars and degradation products (53). Steam pretreatment and acid pretreatments utilize high temperature and sometimes pressure with their catalysts (water or acid) to disrupt cellulose crystallinity. Lignin and hemicellulose are solubilized while cellulose microfibrils remain mostly intact. The resultant product is a slurry of semi-degraded lignocellulose (28).

Alkaline treatments target acetyl groups and ester linkages connecting the lignin to the cellulose and hemicellulose. Hemicellulose is not degraded so additional enzymes are needed downstream, but fewer degradation products occur (53). Alkaline pretreatments aim to solubilize lignin while hemicellulose and cellulose remain solid. Ammonia Fiber Expansion (AFEX) is a physicochemical pretreatment that uses moderate temperature and high pressure. The ammonia hydroxide targets the acetyl groups and ester linkages of lignocellulose (53). The ammonia is evaporated and recovered, resulting in a dry product with low concentrations of inhibitors (28). Ammonia pretreatment yields optimal sugars by depolymerizing lignin and cleaving the lignin carbohydrate linkages. Ammonia costs play a major role in the economy of this technology, but as ammonia can be recovered and reused, costs are minimized (39).

The resulting substrate is decrystallized cellulose with solubilized lignin and increased access for hydrolysis (3).

1.5 Native Microbial Bioprocessors

1.5.1 Microbial bioprocessing in Nature

Microorganisms play a central role in the cycling of carbon in terrestrial environments (51). Cellulose degraders contribute to ca. 90% of global carbon cycling of plant-derived cellulose (19) as complex microbial consortia composed of cellulolytic and saccharolytic microorganisms degrade and ferment cellulose anaerobically to CO_2 , H_2 , organic acids, alcohols, and fatty acids (33). In the absence of inorganic electron acceptors such as nitrate, Mn(IV), Fe(III) and sulfate, the products of cellulose fermentation serve as growth substrates for other microorganisms, such as methanogens and homoacetogens, which complete the C cycle by producing CO_2 and CH_4 (33).

Microorganisms naturally produce a wide-range of valuable products that can be harnessed in industry including organic acids, chemicals, vitamins, antibiotics, pharmaceuticals, and biofuels. While these native organisms tend to grow slowly and have low product yields, they maintain several advantages as industrial candidates. Biological conversions have innate synthetic pathways to desirable products with high specificity for their substrates and often eliminate the need for environmentally harmful compounds such as heavy metals and solvents (13). Harnessing these natural processes could allow for energy recovery from biomass waste and residue from the agricultural sector as well as other industries (45).

1.5.2 Microbial bioprocessing in Industry: Bioconversion to Ethanol

To convert biomass to ethanol, pretreated substrates must first be hydrolyzed to fermentable sugars. Cellulose is hydrolyzed by cellobiohydrolases (exoglucanases) that cleave cellobiose off the ends of cellulose chains, endoglucanases that hydrolyze internal bonds along the chain, and β -glucosidase that splits cellobiose into glucose units. Since hemicellulose is composed of a variety of hexose and pentose sugars, various other enzymes are required such as xylanases, mannases, and galactosidases depending on the biomass composition (28, 42).

Two conversion methods utilizing enzyme cocktails are separate hydrolysis and fermentation (SHF) and simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) (59). SHF separates the two major processes of lignocellulose conversion to ethanol. First optimal conditions for enzymatic hydrolysis are employed to convert pretreated lignocellulose into monomeric sugars. SSF combines the two processes in a single reactor by combining the enzymes and microbial catalyst and reducing costs (59).

A more promising and cost-effective approach, consolidated bioprocessing (CBP), combines degradation of cellulose and conversion of sugars to ethanol into one step using a single microorganism capable of production of saccharolytic enzymes and fermentation of enzymatically-derived hexose and pentose sugars (9, 37). This process should lower the cost and increase the efficiency of bioethanol production from lignocellulosic substrates. The potential of the process stems from enzyme-microbe synergy due to complex cellulase systems. Two main strategies are employed to develop a CBP microorganism. The native cellulolytic approach utilizes natural saccharolytic microorganisms that can be metabolically engineered to improve product

yields. The recombinant cellulolytic strategy employs ethanologens and engineers them to incorporate cellulase systems into their genomes (37).

Plants use lignin in their cell walls to protect themselves, but microbial interactions in nature are still quite common. Sometimes these interactions are negative which is the case with pathogens, but they can also be positive as with symbionts. Also, microbes play a major role in carbon cycling (saprotrophs) which shows that microbes have found a way around the plants native defense (20). This illustrates the potential of native cellulolytic organisms for use in ethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass. Cellulose is the most abundant polysaccharide on Earth, and many organisms are involved in the conversion of this substrate into soluble sugars. The complex nature of lignocellulose requires an intricate system of enzymes to efficiently degrade the polymers. Certain bacterial species form complex cellulolytic complexes called cellulosomes where catalytic enzymes organize amongst 'scaffold' and 'dockerin' proteins and use 'cohesion' domains to bind to the substrate (5). Cellulosomes are multifunctional enzyme complexes that form protuberances on the outside of the cell and mediate cell-substrate contact, but can also maintain activity once released into the environment (6).

1.5.3 Cellulomonads

Cellulomonas spp. play a critical role in decomposition in many terrestrial ecosystems as they are the only bacteria known to decompose plant litter aerobically and anaerobically. Their versatile metabolism is due to their unique ability to produce free non-complexed enzymes, which are the major enzymatic strategy for aerobic

decomposition, as well as enzyme complexes or cellulosomes, analogous to those produced by anaerobic decomposers (10, 38). The main habitat of this genus is soil, but they are often found in other cellulose enriched environments such as rumen, activated sluge, and sugar fields (54). Cellulomonads were of original interest to industry as efficient producers of single cell protein for use as a food additive. *Cellulomonas* spp. were used to digest agricultiral residues like sugar cane bagasse and rice straw to produce single cell protein (25, 29, 46, 54).

Cellulomonas strains have a history in co-cultivation methods for improved performance or value-added products. To improve biomass production for single cell protein production, Cellulomonas strains were co-cultivated with cellobiose-consuming yeast to minimize feedback inhibition of enzymatic activity in the presence of cellobiose (24). This method was also utilized in cocultures with Candida utilis to minimize the need for yeast extract or vitamin additions (31). These co-culture methods also extended to creating value-added products from waste material. A Cellulomonas strain was co-cultured with Desulfovibrio vulgaris to produce methane from cellulose as the Cellulomonas strain converted cellulose and xylan into formate and ethanol, which were then converted by D. vulgaris into methane (21). Co-cultivation with nitrogen-fixers on cellulose of wheat straw also resulted in energy-yielding products (22, 23). More recently, a consortia of C. uda and Geobacter sulfurreducens was shown to convert pretreated agricultural residue to ethanol and hydrogen. The ability of Cellulomonads to produce valuable products combined with their native cellulolytic abilities make them ideal candidates for consolidated bioprocessing.

1.5.4 Microbial bioprocessing in industry: Wastewater treatment

Anaerobic digestion is a method of using a complex mixture of anaerobic microorganisms to degrade organic matter in industrial wastewater and solid wastes to reduce contaminants and release energy via biomethanation (36). The pulp and paper mill industry for example, began using anaerobic wastewater treatment in the 1970s (44). Various other industries have also employed similar methods including textile industries for the degradation of color effluents (49), fisheries (41) as well as distilleries and the food industry (36).

Of particular interest is the crude glycerol wastewater of the biodiesel industry. As the biodiesel market has expanded, the market for glycerol as a value-added product has been saturated resulting in economic and environmental liabilities associated with the wastewater (16, 27). Bioconversion of crude glycerol to valuable products could prove an effective method of wastewater treatment for the biodiesel industry. Ethanol is of particular interest as it can be used as a feedstock in the transesterification process used to convert triacylglycerides to biodiesel (8). Potential of the treatment of biodiesel wastewater has been explored in particular for the production of ethanol and/or hydrogen as value-added products (48, 61).

1.5.5 Clostridia

The *Clostridium* genus encompasses a broad range of gram-positive, rod-shaped, endospore forming bacteria making up the 2nd largest bacterial genus. The group of organisms (organized into 19 clusters) is often associated with disease-causing bacteria and toxins, but these organisms also are filled with potential for biotechnological

applications. Of particular interest to the bioenergy industry are cellulolytic Clostridia. These organisms can be found in environments rich in decaying plant matter including soil, sediment, compost, and gastrointestinal tracts of herbivorous and wood-eating organisms. Some Clostridia are generalists and can utilize a wide range of sugar substrates, while others are specialists and require certain carbon sources (14).

Cellulolytic *Clostridium spp*. are well known for their robustness in industrial fermentations, including the fermentation of glycerol (the major waste product of biodiesel plants) into value-added products (7). Fermentative products of interest from *Clostridium* spp. include ethanol (1, 37), butanol (1, 62), acetone (1), 1,3-propanediol (4, 50, 62), and hydrogen (43).

C. cellobioparum, a member of Cluster III (cellulolytic, nitrogen-fixing) of Clostridia, is a generalist able to use a wide range of substrates to produce acetate, ethanol, formate, lactate, and hydrogen (14). *C. cellobioparum* was isolated from the cow rumen. Other members of Cluster III include *C. hungatei*, *C. thermocellum*, *C. termitidis*, *C. celluloyticum*, *C. papyrosolvens* (34, 58). This clade was recently reclassified as *Ruminococcaceae* (35)

1.6 Summary

Use of microbes in industry has a long history impacting major industries including food, medicine, and chemicals. Recently, microbial biotechnology in regards to biofuels has become increasingly important. With a large abundance of carbon energy available in lignocellulosic biomass, understanding microbial bioprocesses can lead to the use of such organisms in industry.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- 1. **Antoni, D., V. V. Zverlov, and W. H. Schwarz.** 2007. Biofuels from microbes. Applied microbiology and biotechnology **77:**23-35.
- Atabani, A. E., A. S. Silitonga, I. A. Badruddin, T. M. I. Mahlia, H. H. Masjuki, and S. Mekhilef. 2012. A comprehensive review on biodiesel as an alternative energy resource and its characteristics. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 16:2070-2093.
- Balan, V., B. Bals, S. P. Chundawat, D. Marshall, and B. E. Dale. 2009. Lignocellulosic biomass pretreatment using AFEX. Methods in molecular biology 581:61-77.
- 4. **Barbirato, F., E. H. Himmi, T. Conte, and A. Bories.** 1998. 1,3-propanediol production by fermentation: An interesting way to valorize glycerin from the ester and ethanol industries. Industrial Crops and Products **7:**281-289.
- 5. **Bayer, E. A., H. Chanzy, R. Lamed, and Y. Shoham.** 1998. Cellulose, cellulases and cellulosomes. Current Opinion in Structural Biology **8**:548-557.
- 6. **Bayer, E. A., E. Morag, and R. Lamed.** 1994. The Cellulosome A TreasureTrove for Biotechnology. Trends in Biotechnology. **12:**379-386.
- Biebl, H., and C. Sproer. 2002. Taxonomy of the glycerol fermenting clostridia and description of *Clostridium diolis* sp nov. Systematic and Applied Microbiology 25:491-497.
- 8. **Brunschwig, C., W. Moussavou, and J. Blin.** 2012. Use of bioethanol for biodiesel production. Progress in Energy and Combustion Science **38:**283-301.
- 9. **Carere, C. R., R. Sparling, N. Cicek, and D. B. Levin.** 2008. Third Generation Biofuels via Direct Cellulose Fermentation. International Journal of Molecular Science **9**:1342-1360.
- 10. Chaudhary, P., N. N. Kumar, and D. N. Deobagkar. 1997. The glucanases of *Cellulomonas*. Biotechnology advances **15:**315-331.
- 11. Congress., U. S. 2007. Energy Independence and Security Act of 2007.

- 12. **Demain, A. L.** 2010. History of Industrial Biotechnology, p. 17-77, Industrial Biotechnology. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.
- 13. **Du, J., Z. Shao, and H. Zhao.** 2011. Engineering microbial factories for synthesis of value-added products. Journal of industrial microbiology & biotechnology **38**:873-890.
- 14. **Dürre, P.** 2005. Handbook on clostridia. Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton.
- 15. **Durrett, T. P., C. Benning, and J. Ohlrogge.** 2008. Plant triacylglycerols as feedstocks for the production of biofuels. The Plant journal : for cell and molecular biology **54:**593-607.
- 16. **Engelhaupt, E.** 2007. Biodiesel boom creates glut of glycerin. Environmental science & technology **41:**5175.
- 17. **Farrell, A. E.** 2006. Ethanol can contribute to energy and environmental goals (vol 311, pg 506, 2006). Science **312:**1748-1748.
- 18. **Feofilova, E. P., E. Sergeeva Ia, and A. A. Ivashechkin.** 2010. Biodiesel-fuel: content, production, producers, contemporary biotechnology (review). Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology **46**:405-415.
- Gessner, M. O., C. M. Swan, C. K. Dang, B. G. McKie, R. D. Bardgett, D. H. Wall, and S. Hattenschwiler. 2010. Diversity meets decomposition. Trends in Ecololgy and Evolution 25:372-380.
- 20. **Gilbert, H. J., H. Stålbrand, and H. Brumer.** 2008. How the walls come crumbling down: recent structural biochemistry of plant polysaccharide degradation. Current opinion in plant biology **11**:338-348.
- Guyot, J. P. 1986. Role of formate in methanogenesis from xylan by Cellulomonas sp. associate with methanogens and Desulfovibrio vulgaris: Inhibition of the aceticlastic reaction. Federation of European Microbiological Societies Microbiology Letters 34:149-153.
- 22. Halsall, D. M., and A. H. Gibson. 1985. Cellulose decomposition and associated nitrogen-fixation by mixed cultures of *Cellulomonas gelida* and *Azospirillum* sp or *Bacillus macerans*. Applied and environmental microbiology **50**:1021-1026.
- 23. Halsall, D. M., and A. H. Gibson. 1986. Comparison of 2 *Cellulomonas* strains and their interaction with *Azospirillum brasilense* in degradation of wheat straw and associated nitrogen-fixation. Applied and environmental microbiology **51**:855-861.
- 24. **Han, Y. W.** 1982. Nutritional requirements and growth of a *Cellulomonas* species on cellulosic substrates. Journal of Fermentation Technology **60**:99-104.

- 25. Han, Y. W., C. E. Dunlap, and C. D. Callihan. 1971. Single cell protein from cellulosic wastes. Food Technology **25:**32-35.
- 26. **Jin, C., M. F. Yao, H. F. Liu, C. F. F. Lee, and J. Ji.** 2011. Progress in the production and application of n-butanol as a biofuel. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews **15**:4080-4106.
- 27. **Johnson, D. T., and K. A. Taconi.** 2007. The glycerin glut: Options for the value-added conversion of crude glycerol resulting from biodiesel production. Environmental Progress **26**:338-348.
- 28. **Jorgensen, H., J. B. Kristensen, and C. Felby.** 2007. Enzymatic conversion of lignocellulose into fermentable sugars: challenges and opportunities. Biofuels Bioproducts & Biorefining-Biofpr **1**:119-134.
- 29. **Kim, B. H., and J. W. T. Wimpenny.** 1981. SCP production from domestic refuse paper fractions using the cellulolytic bacterium *Cellulomonas flavigena*. Journal of Fermentation Technology **59**:275-280.
- 30. **Knothe, G.** 2001. Historical perspectives on vegetable oil-based diesel fuels. Inform **12**:1103-1107.
- 31. **Kristensen, T. P.** 1978. Continuous single cell protein production from *Cellulomonas* sp. and *Candida utilis* grown in mixture on barley straw. European Journal of Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology **5**:155-163.
- 32. Lee, S. K., H. Chou, T. S. Ham, T. S. Lee, and J. D. Keasling. 2008. Metabolic engineering of microorganisms for biofuels production: from bugs to synthetic biology to fuels. Current Opinions in Biotechnology **19:**556-563.
- 33. **Leschine, S. B.** 1995. Cellulose Degradation in Anaerobic Environments. Annual Review of Microbiology **49**:399-426.
- Lu, Y., X. Wang, N. Li, X. Wang, M. Ishii, Y. Igarashi, and Z. Cui. 2011. Characterization of the effective cellulose degrading strain CTL-6. Journal of environmental sciences 23:649-655.
- Ludwig, W., K.-H. Schleifer, and W. B. Whitman. 2009. Revised road map to the phylum Firmicutes, p. 1-13. *In* P. Vos, G. M. Garrity, D. Jones, N. R. Krieg, W. Ludwig, F. A. Rainey, K.-H. Schleifer, and W. B. Whitman (ed.), Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology. Springer New York.
- 36. Lv, W., F. L. Schanbacher, and Z. T. Yu. 2010. Putting microbes to work in sequence: Recent advances in temperature-phased anaerobic digestion processes. Bioresource technology **101**:9409-9414.

- Lynd, L. R., W. H. van Zyl, J. E. McBride, and M. Laser. 2005. Consolidated bioprocessing of cellulosic biomass: an update. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 16:577-583.
- 38. Lynd, L. R., P. J. Weimer, W. H. van Zyl, and I. S. Pretorius. 2002. Microbial cellulose utilization: fundamentals and biotechnology. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Review **66**:506-577.
- Mosier, N., C. Wyman, B. Dale, R. Elander, Y. Y. Lee, M. Holtzapple, and M. Ladisch. 2005. Features of promising technologies for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass. Bioresource technology 96:673-686.
- 40. **Murphy, J. D., and T. Thamsiriroj.** 2011. What will fuel transport systems of the future? Materials Today **14**:518-524.
- 41. **Prasertsan, P., S. Jung, and K. A. Buckle.** 1994. Anaerobic filter treatment of fishery waste water. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology **10:**11-13.
- 42. **Rabinovich, M. L., M. S. Melnik, and A. V. Boloboba.** 2002. Microbial cellulases (Review). Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology **38**:305-321.
- 43. Ren, Z., T. E. Ward, B. E. Logan, and J. M. Regan. 2007. Characterization of the cellulolytic and hydrogen-producing activities of six mesophilic *Clostridium* species. Journal of applied microbiology **103**:2258-2266.
- 44. **Rintala, J. A., and J. A. Puhakka.** 1994. Anaerobic treatment in pulp and papermill waste management: A review. Bioresource technology **47**:1-18.
- 45. **Rittmann, B. E., R. Krajmalnik-Brown, and R. U. Halden.** 2008. Pre-genomic, genomic and postgenomic study of microbial communities involved in bioenergy. Nature Reviews Microbiology **6**:604-612.
- 46. **Rodriguez, H., and R. Gallardo.** 1993. Single cell protein production from bagasse pith by a mixed bacterial culture. Acta Biotechnologica **13:**141-149.
- 47. Rottig, A., L. Wenning, D. Broker, and A. Steinbuchel. 2010. Fatty acid alkyl esters: perspectives for production of alternative biofuels. Applied microbiology and biotechnology **85**:1713-1733.
- 48. **Sakai, S., and T. Yagishita.** 2007. Microbial production of hydrogen and ethanol from glycerol-containing wastes discharged from a biodiesel fuel production plant in a bioelectrochemical reactor with thionine. Biotechnology and bioengineering **98:**340-348.
- 49. Sarayu, K., and S. Sandhya. 2012. Current technologies for biological treatment of textile wastewater-a review. Applied biochemistry and biotechnology **167:**645-661.
- 50. **Saxena, R. K., P. Anand, S. Saran, and J. Isar.** 2009. Microbial production of 1,3-propanediol: Recent developments and emerging opportunities. Biotechnology advances **27:**895-913.
- 51. Singh, B. K., R. D. Bardgett, P. Smith, and D. S. Reay. 2010. Microorganisms and climate change: terrestrial feedbacks and mitigation options. Nature Reviews Microbiology. 8:779-790.
- 52. **Soetaert, W., and E. J. Vandamme.** 2010. The Scope and Impact of Industrial Biotechnology, p. 1-16, Industrial Biotechnology. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.
- 53. Sousa, L. D., S. P. S. Chundawat, V. Balan, and B. E. Dale. 2009. 'Cradle-tograve' assessment of existing lignocellulose pretreatment technologies. Current Opinion in Biotechnology **20:**339-347.
- 54. **Stackebrandt, E., P. Schumann, and H. Prauser (ed.).** 2006. Prokaryotes, vol. 3.
- 55. **Szulczyk, K. R., and B. A. McCarl.** 2010. Market penetration of biodiesel. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews **14**:2426-2433.
- 56. **Szulczyk, K. R., B. A. McCarl, and G. Cornforth.** 2010. Market penetration of ethanol. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews **14**:394-403.
- 57. Weil, J., P. Westgate, K. Kohlmann, and M. R. Ladisch. 1994. Cellulose pretreatments of lignocellulosic substrates. Enzyme and Microbial Technology **16**:1002-1004.
- 58. **Wiegel, J., R. Tanner, and F. A. Rainey.** 2006. An Introduction to the Family Clostridiaceae. Prokaryotes: a Handbook on the Biology of Bacteria, Vol 4, Third Edition: Bacteria: Firmicutes, Cyanobacteria:654-678.
- 59. Wingren, A., M. Galbe, and G. Zacchi. 2003. Techno-economic evaluation of producing ethanol from softwood: comparison of SSF and SHF and identification of bottlenecks. Biotechnology Progress **19:**1109-1117.
- 60. **Wyman, C. E.** 2007. What is (and is not) vital to advancing cellulosic ethanol. Trends in Biotechnology. **25:**153-157.
- 61. **Yang, F., M. A. Hanna, and R. Sun.** 2012. Value-added uses for crude glycerol-a byproduct of biodiesel production. Biotechnology for biofuels **5**:13.
- 62. **Yazdani, S. S., and R. Gonzalez.** 2007. Anaerobic fermentation of glycerol: a path to economic viability for the biofuels industry. Current Opinion in Biotechnology **18**:213-219.

Chapter 2

Reversible control of biofilm formation by *Cellulomonas* spp. in response to nitrogen availability

This chapter was previously published and has been reprinted with permission.

Copyright © Society for Applied Microbiology and Blackwell Publishing Ltd. Young, J. M., S. B. Leschine, and G. Reguera. Reversible control of biofilm formation by Cellulomonas spp. in response to nitrogen availability. Environmental Microbiology. 2012, 14(3), 594-604, DOI: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02596.x

The work in this chapter builds upon and includes some results from:

Reguera, G. 2001. Chitin Degradation by the Facultatively Aerobic Cellulolytic Bacterium *Cellulomonas uda*. Dissertation. University of Massachusetts Amherst.

2.1 SUMMARY

The microbial degradation of cellulose contributes greatly to the cycling of carbon in terrestrial environments and feedbacks to the atmosphere, a process that is highly responsive to nitrogen inputs. Yet how key groups of cellulolytic microorganisms adaptively respond to the global conditions of nitrogen limitation and/or anthropogenic or climate nitrogen inputs is poorly understood. The actinobacterial genus Cellulomonas is of special interest because it incorporates the only species known to degrade cellulose aerobically and anaerobically. Furthermore, despite their inability to fix nitrogen, they are active decomposers in nitrogen-limited environments. Here we show that nitrogen limitation induced biofilm formation in Cellulomonas spp., a process that was coupled to carbon sequestration and storage in a curdlan-type biofilm matrix. The response was reversible and the curdlan matrix was solubilized and used as a carbon and energy source for biofilm dispersal once nitrogen sources became available. The biofilms attached strongly to cellulosic surfaces and, despite the growth limitation, produced cellulases and degraded cellulose more efficiently. The results show that biofilm formation is a competitive strategy for carbon and nitrogen acquisition and provide valuable insights linking nitrogen inputs to carbon sequestration and remobilization in terrestrial environments.

2.2 INTRODUCTION

Microorganisms play a central role in the cycling of carbon in terrestrial environments and the biogenesis of greenhouse gases such as CO_2 , CH_4 , and N_2O (50). However, the magnitude of these responses is still unclear, due in part to our limited understanding of the mechanisms that enable microorganisms to adjust their physiology

to changes in their ecosystem that have the potential to affect climate (2). Plant-derived cellulose is the most abundant terrestrial C input and accounts for nearly 50% of all the C sequestered by plant biomass during photosynthesis annually (33). As a result, cellulose degraders contribute to the cycling of ca. 90% of the global plant production that enters soils and sediments as dead organic matter (14) and to the release of approximately half of the 120 billions of C fixed through photosynthesis every year (50). The aerobic decomposition of cellulose is restricted to a top thin crust of soils (33) and is mostly driven by cellulolytic fungi and actinobacteria (35), which primarily mineralize cellulose to CO₂. Approximately 5-10% of the cellulose is degraded in anaerobic environments, with highest activities occurring in proximity to the surface of soils, composts, and fresh water sediments (31, 33). Complex microbial consortia composed of cellulolytic and saccharolytic microorganisms degrade and ferment cellulose anaerobically to CO₂, H₂, organic acids, alcohols, and fatty acids (31). In the absence of inorganic electron acceptors such as nitrate, Mn(IV), Fe(III) and sulfate, the products of cellulose fermentation serve as growth substrates for other microorganisms, such as methanogens and homoacetogens, which complete the C cycle by producing CO₂ and CH₄ (31). The sediments in natural wetlands alone contribute with 20 to 40% of the global CH₄ budget (13, 17) and weather- and climate-induced fluctuations in these ecosystems account for 90% of the variability of global CH₄ emissions (47). Thus, the activity of aerobic and anaerobic cellulolytic microorganisms contributes greatly to terrestrial C cycling and climate feedbacks as a direct source of CO₂ or, indirectly, of CH₄.

The activity of cellulose degraders is intimately connected to the availability of N sources (22, 46). N limitation is globally distributed (28) and can be exacerbated by C supplementation, such as that resulting from the incorporation of cellulose derived from crop residues into soils, which can progressively limit decomposition (16) and C-use efficiency (11, 18). By contrast, increased N inputs in soils, such as from atmospheric deposition, fertilizers, pollution, and plants associated with N₂-fixing symbionts, can affect the enzymatic activity and diversity of the heterotrophic community (38, 56, 61) and enhance decomposition and C release to the atmosphere (4). Climate also affects plant diversity and, therefore, litter quality and its N content (14), which may impact cellulose degradation. Not surprisingly, bacterial community structure is highly responsive to disruption of the natural C:N ratio (43). However, it is difficult to predict the functional implications of these responses without knowledge of how cellulose degraders respond to C:N disturbances (50).

According to ecological stoichiometry theory, bacteria are under great selective pressure to adapt to imbalances in substrate C:N in order to maintain a constant C:N ratio inside the cell (54). This is especially challenging for cellulose degraders, which inhabit environments with a high C:N ratio. Because of this, it has been proposed that N limitation enriches for free-living, N₂-fixing decomposers (32). This is supported by the wide distribution of nitrogenases among microbial lineages (7) and the ability of N₂-fixing, clostridial decomposers to couple the anaerobic degradation of cellulose to N₂ fixation (32). However, most cellulolytic organisms cannot fix N₂ and require a source of

combined N to grow (7). Furthermore, the presence of O_2 limits N_2 fixation (10) and, therefore, the availability of combined N sources from N_2 fixers in the aerobic zones of soils or in areas prone to O_2 intrusions, where most of the cellulose is degraded (31, 33, 35). This suggests that adaptive responses other than N_2 fixation drive decomposition.

To gain insights into these adaptive responses, we focused our investigations on the genus Cellulomonas, which comprises the only microorganisms known to degrade cellulose aerobically and anaerobically (35). Cellulomonas spp. produce non-complexed and complexed (or cellulosomes) cellulase enzyme systems (8, 27, 57), which are enzymatic strategies linked to the predominance of cellulolytic microorganisms in either aerobic (non-complexed) or anaerobic (complexed) habitats (35). They are not known to fix N₂ (53) or to contain nitrogenase genes (1), yet they are ubiquitous and can be abundant in terrestrial ecosystems where cellulose degradation is a significant process (3, 35, 42, 48). Here we show that *Cellulomonas* spp. undergo a physiological shift from planktonic to biofilm growth in response to low N availability. The mechanism was finelytuned to the external C:N ratio and enabled the reversible sequestration of C in a curdlan-type biofilm matrix. The biofilms also produced high levels of cellulase activities, attached strongly to cellulosic substrates, and degraded the substrate efficiently. This provides a competitive strategy for decomposition and N acquisition despite the predominantly N-limiting conditions of terrestrial environments.

2.3 RESULTS

2.3.1 Effect of N availability on growth and biofilm formation in Cellulomonas spp.

We investigated the effect of N availability on the growth of representative species of Cellulomonas by culturing the strains in a N-supplemented or a N-limited culture with the cellulose-derived disaccharide, cellobiose, as sole C and energy source. All of the strains tested grew planktonically with N supplementation (Fig. 2.1A) and responded to growth-limiting concentrations of N with a shift from planktonic to biofilm growth (Fig. 2.1B). In contrast to the uniform turbidity of the N-supplemented cultures (Fig. 2.1A inset), the N-limited cultures only supported the development of a white-coloured biofilm, which settled at the bottom of the culture vessel (Fig. 2.1B inset). The biofilms were easily disrupted by vortexing into a suspension of small cell aggregates. This allowed for stable absorbance readings and comparative measurements of biofilm biomass in all N-limited cultures. Interestingly, the response of Cellulomonas fimi was not as strong as in the other strains (Fig. 2.1B). However, its growth was poor, with planktonic doubling times in the N-supplemented cultures significantly higher $(7 \pm 0.5 h)$ than the average doubling times of the other strains $(4 \pm 0.6 h)$. This suggests that the partial response of C. fimi to low N availability was due to growth limitation by other nutrients.



Figure 2.1: Effect of N supplementation (A) or limitation (B) on biomass yields (planktonic, solid columns; biofilm, open columns) of representative species of *Cellulomonas*. Insets in A and B show pictures of *C. uda* planktonic and biofilm cultures, respectively. For interpretation of the references to color in this and all other figures, the reader is referred to the electronic version of this dissertation.

We further characterized this response in *Cellulomonas uda*, which is better known at the physiological level (53), by monitoring its growth and C (cellobiose) use efficiency as a function of N availability (Fig. 2.2A). N-supplementation promoted the exponential growth of a planktonic population at a rate of 0.04 μ g total cell protein per h (R² = 0.992) and increases in the C:N ratio until N concentrations dropped to ca. 0.1 mM (Fig. 2.2A, left panel). At this point, the cells entered stationary phase and aggregated transiently. In contrast, the N-limited cultures, which had no N supplementation in order to exacerbate the C:N ratio, had no planktonic growth and supported the development of the white-coloured biofilm (Fig. 2.2A, right panel). Increases in biofilm biomass followed a polynomial distribution (R² = 0.979), as expected of a process coupled to cell growth, and inversely correlated with decreases in

the C:N ratio ($R^2 = 0.973$) until all the C and N sources were depleted. Total cell protein also increased linearly and at a rate of ca. 0.02 µg protein per h ($R^2 = 0.946$) during the linear phase of biomass increase, demonstrating that the biofilm cells were growing and dividing.



Figure 2.2: (A) Effect of N supplementation (left) or limitation (right) on planktonic (solid circles) and biofilm (open circles) biomass growth (calculated as \log_{10} of OD_{660}). C:N (cellobiose: NH_4^+) ratios also are shown (dashed lines with triangles). (B) Curdlan production (dashed line) during the formation of N-limited biofilms (solid line). Inset: TEM thin section showing the ruthenium-stained layer of curdlan around a cell (bar, 0.2 µm). (C) Cell-associated (CA) and supernatant (SN) CMCase specific activities (U per µg of total cell protein) in N-supplemented (black columns) or N-limited (white columns) cultures. Inset: fluorescence micrograph of nitrogen-limited biofilms attached to cellulose fibers in pebbled-milled cellulose. Biofilm cells were stained with the BacLightTM viability dyes (green, live cells; red, dead cells). Bar, 50 µm.

Biofilm cell growth was not coupled to N₂ fixation, as nitrogenase activity was not detected nor was the biofilm growth dependent on atmospheric N₂ (Fig. 2.3). Rather, the biofilm cells appear to use the low concentrations of N ($0.3 \pm 0.1 \text{ mM NH}_4^+$ equivalents) available in the medium to support cell growth and to sequester all the excess C in the biofilms.



Figure 2.3: *C. uda* growth-independence on atmospheric N_2 . Graphs show planktonic (A) and biofilm (B) growth in anaerobic cultures with or without NH_4CI supplementation, respectively, as a function of the gas atmosphere: N_2 (solid lines) or argon (dashed lines).

2.3.2 C sequestration in a curdlan-type biofilm matrix under N limitation

The rates of C uptake by *C. uda* biofilms (52 moles of C per mol of N) were 1.7-fold higher than in planktonic cultures supplemented with N (31 moles C per mol N). The increased C uptake by the biofilms matched well with the increases in biofilm dry

weight, which were 1.8-fold higher than in the planktonic cells growing in Nsupplemented cultures (Table 2.1). By contrast, the dry weight/protein ratio measured in early stationary phase cultures of N-supplemented (planktonic) cultures was ca. 3, which is consistent with the reported accumulation of approximately 3 mg of glycogen per mg of cell protein in stationary-phase cells of *C. uda* (49). High C:N ratios have already been linked to the production of curdlan (β (1-3) glucan) capsules in *Cellulomonas* spp. (51, 58). Thus, we investigated if the biofilms were sequestering excess C as curdlan. We measured linear accumulations of a curdlan-type glucan during biofilm formation at rates (5.8 mg/h; R² = 0.976) almost 5-times higher than the rate of cell protein increases (1.3 µg/h; R² = 0.977).

Culture	Physiology	Dry weight (mg/ml)	Total cell protein (mg/ml)	Ratio (DW/TCP)
N-supplemented (N^{+})	Planktonic	0.52	0.18	2.92
N-limited (N ⁻)	Biofilm	0.95	0.06	16.38
RATIO (N ⁻ /N ⁺)		1.83	0.33	5.61

 Table 2.1: Total cell protein and dry weight content of C. uda planktonic cells or biofilms

The curdlan produced per cell protein matched well with the increases in biofilm biomass measured spectrophotometrically (Fig. 2.2B). These results indicate that biofilm biomass increases resulted from the accumulation of C as a curdlan matrix and, to a lesser extent, from the growth of the biofilm cells. The curdlan accumulated extracellulary as a thick exopolysaccharide (EPS) matrix that stained with the cationic dye ruthenium red (Fig. 2.2B, inset) and was already visible during the early hours (15 h) of C sequestration (Fig. 2.4). Furthermore, N limitation also resulted in the growth of rugose, rather than smooth, colonies on solidified medium (Fig. 2.4), a phenotypic shift linked to EPS production and biofilm formation (60).



Figure 2.4: (A) TEM micrographs of ruthenium-red stained planktonic (A) and biofilm (B) cells (15 h). (B) Shift from smooth (C) to rugose (D) colonies when N availability limits growth.

2.3.3 Colonization and degradation of cellulosic and chitinous surfaces by Nlimited biofilms

Although the N-limited biofilms settled at the bottom of glass or plastic vessels, they did not attach to these materials and were easily detached by gentle agitation. By contrast, the biofilms attached strongly to and grew on cellulose fibers in N-limited cultures supplemented with pebble-milled cellulose as sole C and energy source (Fig. 2.2C inset). Furthermore, cell-associated and supernatant cellulase (CMCase) specific activities (units, U, per µg of protein) were 2- and 4-fold higher, respectively, in the N-limited biofilm cultures (Fig. 2.2C) as compared to the N-supplemented cultures. The biofilms also attached and degraded other cellulosic substrates such as cellulose-azure (Fig. 2.5A). Furthermore, adhesion was not affected by the roughness of the substrate, as the smooth surface of the dialysis tubing cellulose membranes (regenerated cellulose) was also readily colonized (Fig. 2.5B).



Figure 2.5: (A) Degradation of cellulose-azure and concomitant release of the celluloseassociated dye Remazol Brilliant Blue 5R (RBB) by N-limited biofilms in comparison to uninoculated controls. (B) CLSM micrographs of 72-h old, N-limited biofilms formed on a cellulose membrane (dialysis tubing). The cells were stained in green with the SYTO9 dye. Bar, 20 μm.

The biofilms also colonized and degraded chitinous substrates, which are structurally related to cellulose, and expressed higher levels of chitinase enzymes under N limitation (Fig. 2.6). These results suggest that N limitation induced changes in the adhesive properties of the cells and increases in enzyme production that promoted the colonization and degradation of cellulosic and chitinous substrates.



Figure 2.6: (A-B) Attachment of N-limited biofilms of *C. uda* to chitin surfaces (squid pen (A) and colloidal chitin (B)). Biofilms were examined by SEM (A) or by fluorescence

Figure 2.6 (cont'd) microscopy after staining cells with the BacLight viability kit (B). (C-D) Effect of N availability on soluble or cell-associated exochitinase (C) and endochitinase (D) activities in cultures with glycerol or cellulose as sole C and energy source. Inset in (D) shows an immunoblot demonstrating the increased expression of *C. uda* main endochitinase, ChiA, in supernatant fluids from cultures grown in the GS2*colloidal chitin medium with (+) or without (-) NH₄Cl supplementation.

2.3.4 Biofilm formation and dispersal in response to the C:N ratio

Planktonic and biofilm growth yields inversely correlated with the C:N ratio (Fig. 2.7) independently of the C or N substrates tested (Table 2.2). This is consistent with a physiological response to the C:N ratio rather than to a particular C and/or N substrate.



Figure 2.7: Inverse correlation between planktonic and biofilm growth yields as a function of the C:N ratio in *C. uda* cultures grown with 18 mM glucose as a C source and with (0.5 or 2 mM) or without NH_4CI supplementation.

C source	N source	Growth rates (OD ₆₆₀ /h)	Growth yields (OD ₆₆₀)	Biofilm growth ^a
Cellobiose		NA ^b	NA	+
Cellobiose	NH₄CI	$\textbf{0.45}\pm\textbf{0.05}$	1.12 ± 0.10	-
Cellobiose	Urea	$\textbf{0.43} \pm \textbf{0.01}$	1.05 ± 0.03	-
Cellobiose	NAG	0.29 ± 0.03	NA	+/- ^C
Glucose		NA	NA	+
Glucose	Urea	$\textbf{0.88} \pm \textbf{0.02}$	0.90 ± 0.01	-
Glycerol		NA	NA	+
Chitobiose		$\textbf{0.50} \pm \textbf{0.01}$	1.38 ± 0.04	-
Chitotriose		$\textbf{0.35}\pm\textbf{0.02}$	1.19 ± 0.01	-

Table 2.2: C. uda planktonic and biofilm growth with labile C and/or N substrates

^a Biofilm growth (+), no biofilm growth (-) (planktonic growth), and mixed cultures composed of cell aggregates and planktonic cells (+/-).

^b Not applicable (conditions leading to biofilm formation).

^{*c*} NAG, which is assimilated poorly by *C. uda* (45), promoted initial cell aggregation when used as a source of N, consistent with transient N-limiting conditions, but cell aggregates slowly dissolved after three days of incubation.

As a result, the physiological shift from planktonic to biofilm growth, and, therefore, from

C utilization to sequestration, was reversible and the biofilm cells dissolved the curdlan

matrix and dispersed upon reversal of the C:N ratio by N supplementation (Fig. 2.8).



Figure 2.8: *C. uda* biofilm dispersal. (A) Solubilization of the curdlan biofilm matrix (dashed line) coupled to biofilm biomass dispersal (solid line, open circles) and planktonic growth (solid line, solid circles) in the absence of cellobiose in the growth medium. (B) Dissolution of young (28-h) biofilms (solid line, open circles) coupled to planktonic growth (solid line, solid circles) after addition of NH₄Cl to cellobiose-containing N-limited cultures. The C:N ratio (dashed line with triangles) is also shown.

The simultaneous removal of the C source and supplementation with N led to the rapid (less than 24h) solubilization of the curdlan biofilm matrix, which was used as a source of C and energy to support biofilm dispersal and planktonic growth (Fig. 2.8A). Curdlan dissolution was initially observed in localized areas within the biofilm and promoted the release of cell clusters (Fig. 2.9).



Figure 2.9: Phase contrast micrographs showing islands of curdlan dissolution (red circles in (A)) and dispersal of cell clusters from the main biofilm body (arrow in (B).

Motile cells were also observed during N-induced dispersal and TEM analyses of negatively stained cells from the dispersing cultures revealed some cells with polar multitrichous flagellation (Fig. 2.8A inset). However, motile and/or flagellated cells were not observed in the N-limited biofilms or in the N-supplemented planktonic cultures. This suggests that flagellar motility was a specific response of the cells to N-induced dispersal. Biofilm dissolution responded to the C:N ratio and could be induced at any point in C sequestration and biofilm formation. As shown in Fig. 2.8B, for example, N enrichment of young (28-h old) biofilms growing with cellobiose decreased the C:N ratio and promoted their dissolution and planktonic growth. Furthermore, it was possible to manage N inputs, and, therefore, the C:N ratio, to control the C sequestration capacity of the biofilms (Fig. 2.10).



Figure 2.10: Effect of N additions (0.5 and 2 mM additions of NH₄Cl are shown) on the C sequestration capacity and/or dissolution of *C. uda* biofilms. Controls with no N supplementation (0 mM) are also shown.

2.3.5 Degradation of filter paper by N-limited biofilms

The ability of *C. uda* biofilms to degrade cellulose under conditions of N limitation was further investigated using the model cellulosic substrate, filter paper, and in reference to control cultures supplemented with N (provided as NH₄Cl) (Fig. 2.11A). The filter paper substrate supported the growth of *C. uda* (measured as total cell protein) in both the N-supplemented and N-limited cultures, which followed a polynomial distribution ($R^2 = 0.939$ and 0.967, respectively) as the cells transitioned from exponential to stationary phase (Fig. 2.11A). The degradation of filter paper was also examined to calculate the

yields and rates of decomposition in both cultures (Fig. 2.11A). The degradation of filter paper in the N-supplemented cultures also followed a polynomial distribution ($R^2 = 0.921$), which inversely correlated with the cell growth. By contrast, decomposition by the N-limited biofilms started after 2 days of incubation, suggesting that the biofilms first colonized and then degraded the cellulosic substrate. After this first phase of colonization, the biofilms degraded the substrate linearly, reaching maximum yields of decomposition in only 4 days. At this point, decomposition were similar in both cultures (ca. 36% of the filter paper in 4 days, the N-supplemented cultures needed 6 days of incubation to reach the same yield. Thus, the overall rates of decomposition were higher under N limitation. These contrasting results cannot be explained by differences in cellulase activities, which were similar in both cultures throughout the incubation period (Fig. 2.11B).



Figure 2.11: Decomposition of filter paper as a function of N availability. (A) Cell growth (log₁₀ total cell protein, solid line) and filter paper decomposition (dashed line) in N-supplemented (left) or N-limited (right) cultures. (B) Cellulase (CMCase) specific activities (U per mg of total cell protein) in supernatant fluids from N-supplemented (dashed line) and N-limited (solid line) cultures. The trend lines moving through the average points are shown. All data points in A and B show the average and standard deviations of triplicate samples.

Rather, they reflected a different decomposition strategy as a function of N availability. Planktonic cells from the N-supplemented cultures did not attach to the cellulose fibers and degraded the substrate 'at a distance', whereas the N-limited cells attached and formed biofilms on the cellulosic substrate during its enzymatic degradation (Fig. 2.12).



Figure 2.12: ESEM micrographs of the filter paper substrate after 6 days of incubation in the N-supplemented (A) and N-limited (B) cultures (bar, 20 µm). Additional micrographs are shown in Fig. 13.

2.4 DISCUSSION

2.4.1 Biofilm formation and dispersal as adaptive responses of Cellulomonas to C:N disturbances.

Our results show that *Cellulomonas* spp. use biofilm formation and dispersal to adaptively respond to C:N disturbances. As shown in Figures 1 and 2, cells responded to N-limiting conditions and, therefore, to high C:N ratios, by forming biofilms. Biofilm

formation involved the storage of the excess pools of labile C in a curdlan biofilm matrix (Fig. 2.2B), which was dissolved and used as a C source once the C:N ratio was reversed by N supplementation (Fig. 2.8). The formation of a curdlan capsule in Cellulomonas spp. was first reported in cultures of C. flavigena KU during entry in stationary phase (58) and later studies (24, 51) supported the notion that curdlan production is a general response of Cellulomonas spp. to high C:N ratios that leads to cell aggregation. In C. uda, curdlan production started rapidly in response to N limitation and was concomitant to increases in biofilm biomass (Fig. 2.2B). This is consistent with curdlan production being the first response to low N availability. In support of this, the degradation of filter paper was only detected after 2 days of incubation in the N-limited cultures (Fig. 2.11A). Furthermore, cell aggregates of C. flavigena KU also attached to cellulose surfaces and contained globular protuberances resembling cellulosomes (24). This suggested that the curdian had a role in cellulose attachment (24). Similarly, Nlimited biofilms of C. uda bound strongly to cellulose surfaces (Fig. 2.2C) but weakly to abiotic surfaces. However, it is unlikely that the curdlan matrix conferred surface specificity and strong attachment on the biofilms. Curdlan and cellulose surfaces are both anionic in nature, which is expected to result in strong repulsion forces between the biofilms and the surface. Anionic EPS matrices bind divalent cations strongly (12) and can use them to bridge negatively charged functional groups within the EPS (Kim and Jang, 2006). This helps stabilize the EPS matrix but could also allow N-limited biofilms to bind the anionic groups in cellulosic substrates. Yet this attachment is unlikely to be strong and specific, because N-limited biofilms did not attach strongly to other anionic surfaces such as glass and plastic. Furthermore, adhesion was not

influenced by surface roughness, as the biofilms attached strongly to smooth cellulose surfaces such as dyalisis tubing cellulose membranes (Fig. 2.5B). In contrast, the cellulases produced by *Cellulomonas* spp. contain binding domains that function as specific cellulose adhesins (Francisco et al., 1993). Our results show that soluble and cell-associated cellulase production increased in response to low N availability (Fig. 2.2C). Thus, cell-associated and soluble cellulases could provide a mechanism for the specific colonization of cellulosic substrates and for their degradation, respectively.

Curdlan capsules function as short-term C reserve compounds in C. flavigena KU during stationary phase (51, 58). Similarly, the curdlan biofilm matrix served as a C source to support biofilm dispersal upon N supplementation (Fig. 2.8A). Biofilm dispersal responded to all the N sources tested (Table 2.1) and could be induced at any point in biofilm formation (Fig. 2.8B). This is consistent with a reversible mechanism in response to the C:N ratio. Curdlan dissolution in response to N availability was not uniform, but rather localized to internal regions of the biofilm (Fig. 2.9). In P. aeruginosa PO1, flagella expression increases in response to the sudden availability of C sources to aid cells in dissociating from the biofilm matrix during dispersal (Sauer et al., 2004). Interestingly, we also observed motile cells with polar tufts of flagella (Fig. 2.8A inset) in the localized regions of curdlan dissolution formed during N-induced biofilm dispersal in C. uda (Fig. 2.7). This contrasts with earlier reports that C. uda is non-motile and nonflagellated (53) and suggests that flagellar motility may be a specific response to N enrichments needed to facilitate cell detachment from the EPS matrix during biofilm dispersal.

2.4.2 N-limited biofilms as an efficient strategy for decomposition

Despite the growth limitation imposed by low N availability, C. uda coupled biofilm growth on the cellulosic surface to its degradation (Fig. 2.5 and Fig. 2.11). Furthermore, the N-limited biofilms degraded the same amount of filter paper as planktonic cultures grown with N supplementation and faster (Fig. 2.11A). This argues against classic stoichiometric theory (9) and the accepted notion that all decomposers lower their C-use efficiency to adapt to N limitation (36) unless able to fix N_2 (32). This indicates that N-limited biofilms are an efficient mechanism for decomposition. We detected cell-associated and soluble cellulases in N-limited cultures (Fig. 2.2C), suggesting that the biofilms used both enzymatic strategies during decomposition. Cellassociated cellulases function as specific cellulose adhesins and enable the attachment of the biofilm clusters to the substrate. This concentrates the cells in proximity to the substrate, a mechanism reported to stimulate cellulose hydrolysis, presumably because the cell envelope and/or glycocalyx modifies the physical chemistry of the gap between the substrate and the cell and creates a more favorable microenvironment for the activity of the enzymes (34). The biofilm matrix also concentrates the free enzymes close to the substrate and prevents energy losses from their progressive dilution and nonspecific adsorption (62). The matrix also retains soluble products of cellulose decomposition in the vicinity of the cell (39). This maximizes C-use efficiency and prevents the release of chemoattractants for competing cellulolytic microorganisms (20). As a result, cellulose-attached biofilms can maximize decomposition and C-use efficiency despite the low levels of N available for growth.

2.4.3 Biofilms as a competitive strategy for N acquisition during decomposition.

Natural cellulosic substrates harbor N sources in the form of structural and enzymatic proteins of the plant cell wall (23), which become available during decomposition. The filter paper substrate used in our studies (Fig. 2.11) mimics the natural cellulosic substrates, as it contains NH_4^+ and NH_4^+ salt contaminants within its structure, which are slowly released during its swelling in solution and degradation (29). As a result, cellulose-degrading biofilms provide a strategy for acquiring N in an environment where N sources are scarce. The anionic groups of the curdlan biofilm matrix also bind NH_4^+ cations strongly (12) and increase their concentration in the cell microenvironment. This contrasts with more energy-intensive responses for N acquisition such as chemotaxis and motility (35) or N₂ fixation (32). Hence, N-use efficiency is also maximized in the N-limited biofilms.

By specifically colonizing cellulose substrates, N-limited biofilms also gain access to N sources derived from the activities of N₂-fixing decomposers (32, 35) and of lignindegrading fungi (16). The ability of N-limited biofilms to attach and degrade chitinous substrates (Fig. 2.6) is significant because chitin is a N-containing carbon substrate structurally related to cellulose and, therefore, also provides a N source for growth. Furthermore, chitin is present in the cell walls of most fungi and the exoskeletons of arthropods. Hence, the colonization and degradation of chitin-containing substrates also confers on the biofilms mycolytic activity and an efficient strategy to prey on the abundant chitin-containing fungal competitors (5) and litter-associated detritivors (14).

2.4.4 Environmental implications of biofilm formation and dispersal in response to C:N disturbances

Our results show that biofilms are a competitive strategy for decomposition and for acquiring N in environments where competition for limited N resources is high. The activity of cellulose degraders controls the trophic interactions that regulate C and N cycling in terrestrial environments and modulates the functional response of the decomposing community to C:N disturbances and feedbacks to the atmosphere (14). The biofilm matrix also enables cell-cell recognition (12) and provides an ideal niche for the coexistence of selected groups of bacteria in close proximity to each other. This favors metabolic interactions such as those that enable microbial consortia to decompose plant litter efficiently and release terrestrial C to the atmosphere (35). In addition, the EPS matrix protects cells from desiccation and rehydration events, such as those resulting from draught and precipitation, and provides extended areas of hydration for solute diffusion and synergistic trophic interactions (39). Inasmuch as N limitation (28) and biofilm formation (40) may occur commonly in terrestrial environments, biofilm formation in response to N limitation may be a general strategy for plant litter decomposition in nature and a significant contributor to C retention in soils. Thus, mechanistic understanding of the activities and C storage capacity of cellulolytic biofilms and their responses to anthropogenic C and N disturbances is important to understand the interplay of C and N cycling in terrestrial environments. The reversible, and potentially manageable, nature of C sequestration by Cellulomonas spp. in response to C and N disturbances also provides a potential target for stimulating the Csequestering capacity of the biofilms in situ, a process that could be harnessed to

partially mitigate green house emissions, at least at the regional scale (25, 59).

2.5 EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

2.5.1 Bacterial strains and culture conditions

The following species of *Cellulomonas* were used in these studies: *Cellulomonas* flavigena (ATCC 482), Cellulomonas fimi (ATCC 484), Cellulomonas gelida (ATCC 488), Cellulomonas cartae (ATCC 21681), Cellulomonas biazotea (ATCC 486) and Cellulomonas uda (ATCC 21399). Unless otherwise indicated, all cultures were grown aerobically in GS2 (Cavedon et al., 1990) or *GS2 (Reguera and Leschine, 2001) medium supplemented with cellobiose (0.2% (w/v)) as the C source (GS2-CB or *GS2-CB medium). Cultures were first grown in GS2-CB medium, a complete medium with 0.2% (w/v) urea and 0.6% (w/v) yeast extract (Cavedon et al., 1990), but without resazurin and cysteine (45). After three transfers in mid-exponential phase, a 10% (v/v) inoculum was transferred to *GS2-CB-NH4Cl medium, which is the previously described *GS2 medium (Requera and Leschine, 2001) (a N-limited GS2 medium lacking urea and containing 0.01% (w/v) yeast extract to stimulate growth) supplemented with 0.2% cellobiose as a C source and 2 mM NH₄Cl as a N source. Exponentially growing cells from the *GS2-CB-NH₄Cl cultures were harvested by centrifugation (2,000 x g, 15 min) and inoculated to a final OD₆₆₀ of 0.02 into *GS2-CB-NH₄CI (N-supplemented cultures) or *GS2-CB (N-limited cultures) media. All cultures were prepared in triplicate Nephelo borosilicate flasks (300-ml flasks equipped with a 14-mm side arm, Wheaton) or 18-mm glass test tubes and incubated at 35° C.

Planktonic growth was monitored spectrophotometrically as the optical density of 660 nm (OD_{660}). Biofilm formation was also monitored spectrophotometrically as increases in biofilm biomass by substracting the OD_{660} of the undisturbed culture (planktonic growth) from the OD_{660} of the culture once the biofilms had been mechanically disrupted with brief (5 seconds) vigorous vortexing.

When indicated, cells were also cultured on solid medium, using the same stepwise culturing protocol and same media with cellobiose but solidified with 1.5% agar. The same culturing protocol and media were also followed to test the effect of other C and N sources on *C. uda* growth in N-supplemented or N-limited liquid cultures. C sources tested other than cellobiose were glucose, glycerol, *N*-Acetyl glucosamine (NAG), chitobiose, or chitotriose (all at 0.2% (w/v) concentrations) or insoluble substrate such as 0.2% (w/v) colloidal chitin (21), 0.2% (w/v) ball-milled cellulose (30) and dialysis tubing cellulose membranes (see *Supplementary Information*). N sources tested other than NH₄Cl were urea or NAG at a final concentration of 0.2% (w/v).

Squid pen (55) or 0.25% cellulose-azure were also tested as C sources, except that CU mineral medium (a defined medium for *C. uda* prepared as *GS2 medium but without yeast extract and supplemented with thiamine-HCl, 10mg/L; biotin, 0.01m/L) was used instead of *GS2 medium.

2.5.2 Nitrogen fixation assays

Nitrogenase activity in *C. uda* cultures was assayed by the acetylene reduction assay (41). Biofilms were grown aerobically or anaerobically to mid-exponential phase in *GS2 medium containing 0.2% cellobiose as sole C and energy source using crimp top

pressure tubes. Reactions were started with the replacement of 10% of the tube headspace with C₂H₂. Formation of acetylene reduction products, C₂H₄ or C₂H₆, was monitored using a gas chromatograph (Varian GC Model 3700) equipped with a flame ionization detector. The gas components were resolved in a stainless steel column packed with POROPACK[®]N (Supelco Corp.) operated at 50°C and with N₂ (30 ml min⁻¹) as the carrier gas. N₂ fixation was also assayed in growth experiments using anaerobic cultures with cellobiose as C and energy source and a headspace of N₂ as sole N source. Controls with an argon gas atmosphere were also included. Growth was measured spectrophotometrically as absorbance of the cultures at 660 nm, as described above.

2.5.3 Biofilm dispersal

Biofilm dispersal was investigated in two separate assays. In the first assay, we studied the remobilization of curdlan and its use as a source of C to support biofilm dispersal and planktonic growth. For this experiment, 60-h old N-limited biofilms grown in *GS2 medium with cellobiose were harvested by centrifugation (2,000 x g, 15 min) and resuspended in fresh *GS2 with 2 mM NH₄Cl and no C supplementation. Biofilm dispersal was also studied by directly adding 2 mM NH₄Cl to N-limited biofilms growing in *GS2 medium with cellobiose for 28 h. The cellobiose and NH₄⁺ concentrations before and after NH₄Cl supplementation were measured by HPLC and with the Nessler's reagent, as described below, to monitor the C:N ratios. In both experiments,

planktonic growth and biofilm biomass increases were monitored spectrophotometrically, as described above. All experiments were performed at 35°C.

2.5.4 Carbon, nitrogen, curdlan and total cell protein determination

Cultures were periodically sampled to measure C and N concentrations and total cell protein. Cells and insoluble materials in the samples were separated from supernatant fluids by centrifugation (2,000 x g, 15 min). Filtered (0.45-µm) supernatant fluids recovered by centrifugation were used for C and N determinations. C (cellobiose or glucose) concentrations were measured in a High Pressure Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) system equipped with an Aminex HPX-87H ion-exchange column (Bio-rad) and operated at room temperature. The eluent used was 4 mM H₂SO₄. Ammonium equivalent concentrations were determined by measuring the OD₄₂₅ of a 1:2 mix solution of sample and Nessler's reagent (Fluka) using NH₄Cl as standard.

Curdlan in the insoluble material was quantified using a fluorescence dye-binding microassay, as previously described (26). Biofilm cell growth was also measured as total cell protein in the insoluble fraction harvested by centrifugation, resuspended with 2N NaOH and boiled for 1 h to lyse the cells. The lysed samples were cooled at room temperature for 30 minutes and neutralized with an equal volume of 2N HCl prior to measuring its protein content with the Pierce Bicinchoninic Acid (BCA) assay (52) and using bovine serum albumin (BSA) as standard.

2.5.5 Dry weight and total cell protein determination

C. uda cells were grown at 32° C in *GS2 medium with 0.2% cellobiose. A 10% (v/v) inoculum of an exponentially growing culture (24 h) was transferred to fresh medium and further incubated. This culture was used to inoculate 125 ml of fresh medium alone or supplemented with 0.2% (w/v) NH₄Cl. Cultures were prepared in 250-ml side-armed Nephelo flasks to allow for measurements of optical densities of the cultures. The Nsupplemented cultures were grown to early-stationary phase (ca. 40 h) and the Nlimited biofilms for 72 h before cells were harvested by centrifugation (20 min at 5,000 x g and 4°C) and resuspended in 50 ml of sterile dH2O. Total cell protein was determined in 300 µl of cell suspensions. Cell suspensions were first boiled in the presence of one volume 1M NaOH and neutralized with one volume of 1M HCI. Cell debris was then sedimented by centrifugation and discarded and the protein content of supernatant fractions was determined as a modification of the method of Bradford (6), using the BioRad protein assay (BioRad Laboratories, Inc.). Bovine serum albumin in 1M NaOH and 1M HCl was used as protein standard. The above-mentioned cell suspension was also used for dry weight calculations. Approximately 55 ml of cell suspension were dispensed in aluminum foil vials, incubated at 100°C overnight, and weighed to calculate the dry weight of the original culture.

2.5.6 Microscopy analyses

Transmission electron microscopy was used to examine thin sections of *C. uda* cells grown in *GS2 medium with 0.2% cellobiose with or without supplementation with

NH₄Cl, as described above. Cells from overnight (15 h) or one-week cultures were fixed and stained with the cationic dye ruthenium red, which stains acidic polysaccharides (57). Thin sections of embedded cells were examined with a JEOL 100S transmission electron microscope operated at 80 kV.

Fluorescence microscopy was used to examine *C. uda* biofilms formed on cellulose fibers (ball-milled cellulose) or colloidal chitin particles after two days of incubation in *GS2 medium at 32°C with gentle agitation. Cellulose- or chitin-associated biofilms were stained with fluorescent dyes using the LIVE/DEAD[®] BacLight[™] Bacterial Viability kit (Invitrogen) and examined using a Zeiss Axioskop. Phase contrast microscopy was used to examine biofilm dispersal using the same microscope.

A Carl Zeiss EVO LS25 variable pressure scanning electron microscope (ESEM) was used to image wet filter paper samples collected from 6-day old cultures grown in *GS-2 with or without supplementation with NH₄Cl, as described below. Six-day old biofilms on squid pen were examined by scanning electron microscopy (SEM) using standard sample preparation procedures and using a JEOL JSM-5400 microscope.

2.5.7 Enzyme and protein assays

Supernatant fluids and resting cell suspensions from exponentially growing cultures were obtained and concentrated as previously described (44, 45). Chitinase activity and chitinase immunodetection are described in detail in the *Supporting Information*. Cellulase activity was measured with the cellulose-azure (19) and carboxymethyl-cellulase (CMCase) (44, 45) assays. In the first assay, exponentially-grown (24 h) cultures of *C. uda* in GS2*-glycerol were inoculated (10% (v/v)) in CU minimal medium

supplemented with 0.25% (w/v) cellulose-azure (Sigma), a cellulose substrate bound to Remazol Brilliant Blue 5R (RBB) dye, which is solubilized during cellulose hydrolysis (19). An uninoculated control culture also was included to detect unspecific dye release from the dyed cellulose. All cultures were incubated at 32° C with gentle agitation and supernatant samples were removed periodically, centrifuged to remove residual cellulose, and the optical density at 595 nm of the soluble dye was measured. The amount of dye release, in mg per ml of culture, was calculated using a standard curve prepared with RBB (Sigma). Cellulase activity was also measured as CMCase activity in supernatant fluids and cell suspensions from cultures grown with 0.2% cellobiose with or without supplementation with 2 mM NH₄Cl, as described elsewhere (44, 45). Supernatant and cell suspensions were also assayed for protein using the Pierce BCA Protein Assay Reagent (52) (Pierce, Rockford, IL), with bovine serum albumin as protein standard.

2.5.8 Filter paper experiments

C. uda was also grown with filter paper as sole C and energy source in *GS2 medium (with or without 2 mM NH₄Cl supplementation), following the step-wise culturing approach described above except that cellobiose was replaced as a C source by a 5mm diameter disc of filter paper and that microcentrifuge tubes containing 333 µl of *GS2 (N-limited) or *GS2-NH₄Cl (N-supplemented) medium were used for culturing. The filter paper substrate was Whatman 3MM paper discs generated with an office paper hole puncher. Each disc was placed in a microcentrifuge tube before autoclaving for 30 min. The sterile *GS2 or *GS2-NH₄Cl medium was then aseptically dispensed in
the tubes before inoculation. All incubations were performed at 35°C. Several tube replicates of N-supplemented and N-limited cultures were started at once and three replicates from each culture were periodically sacrificed to measure cell growth and filter paper decomposition. The tubes were centrifuged to separate the culture supernatant fluids from the cells and the filter paper disc. The supernatant fluids were used for cellulase enzyme assays, as described above. Cell growth was estimated as total cell protein extracted from the pellets with 2N NaOH and boiling, as described above. This treatment was found not to affect the filter paper analyses. The paper discs were hydrolyzed with 100 µl of 72% sulfuric acid at 30°C for 2 h, then diluted with ddH₂O to 4% sulfuric acid, and the pH raised to 6 with 0.4 g of CaCO₃. The amount of reducing sugars in these samples was estimated with the 3,5-dinitrosalicylic acid (DNS) reagent with glucose as standard, as previously described (37). The amount of filter paper degraded was calculated from the amount remaining in the culture in reference to the time 0 samples.

2.5.9 Chitinase activity assays and ChiA immunodetection

Chitinase activity was measured in culture supernatant fluids and resting cell suspensions from N-limited or N-supplemented cultures grown with glycerol or cellobiose as sole C and energy source. Endo- and exochitinase activities were measured using, respectively, methylumbelliferyl-chitotriose or chitobiose, as previously described (44). Emission of fluorescence was detected using a PTI Fluorescence system (Photon Technology International, Inc., NJ) and Felix[™] Windows software at a fixed excitation wavelength of 365 nm and a fixed emission wavelength of 460 nm.

The expression of ChiA, the major C. uda enzyme component for the solubilization of chitin, was also immunologically detected in supernatant fluids from Nsupplemented or N-limited cultures grown with colloidal chitin using mouse polyclonal anti-ChiA antibodies (44). Supernatant proteins were first separated by 10-15% gradient SDS-PAGE, as previously described (44). After electrophoresis, polyacrylamide gels GelBond[®] from the film support following manufacturer's separated were recommendations (Pharmacia). The gels were equilibrated in transfer buffer (Tris, 50 mM; glycine, 380 mM; SDS, 0.1% (w/v); methanol, 20%; and dH₂O) before they were assembled in the transfer sandwiches, as described elsewhere (15). Proteins in the polyacrylamide gels were blotted onto an Immobilon-NC transfer membrane (Millipore Corporation, Bedford, MA) using a mini Trans-Blot electrophoretic transfer cell (BioRad) operated at 43 V (approximately 181 mAmps) for 35 min. Blocking, antibody binding and immunodetection of proteins on the membranes were performed as described elsewhere (15). Alkaline phosphatase-conjugated AffiniPure Goat Anti-Mouse IgG (H+L) (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc., West Grove, PA) was used as secondary antibody. Development was carried out using 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate/nitroblue tetrazolium (BCIP/NBT) (SIGMA FASTTM BCIP/NBT tablets, Sigma) for approximately 30 min.

2.5.10 Biofilm assays on cellulose membranes

Biofilm formation in response to N limitation was also investigated using 1-inch wide dialysis tubing cellulose membranes (Sigma). Biofilm induction by N limitation followed the same culturing protocol described for other substrates, with the following

modifications. A glass coverslip was inserted inside a 1-inch strip of the membrane to support it and facilitate handling. The membrane-coverslip set-up was placed in a glass Petri dish filled with PBS buffer and autoclaved before transferring it to a well of a 6-well microtiter plate (Corning) containing 5 ml of sterile *GS-2 medium supplemented with 0.2% cellobiose. After 3 days of incubation at 35°C, the membrane was washed in PBS and stained with the fluorescence SYTO9 dye (Invitrogen), following manufacturer's recommendations. The membrane-coverslip was then transferred to a clean well filled with PBS buffer and examined with a Zeiss LSM Pascal CLSM equipped with an Achroplan (40X) immersible objective (excitation at 488, emission at 505-535).

2.6 Acknowledgements

We thank Bruce Dale and Jay Lennon for critical reading of this manuscript and Lucy Ru-Sin Yin and Per Askeland for support with electron microscopy. This work was supported by grants from the Rackham Fund Foundation and the MSU Foundation to GR and U.S. Department of Energy grant DE-FG02–02ER15330 to SL.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- Abt, B., B. Foster, A. Lapidus, A. Clum, H. Sun, R. Pukall, S. Lucas, T. Glavina Del Rio, M. Nolan, H. Tice, J. F. Cheng, S. Pitluck, K. Liolios, N. Ivanova, K. Mavromatis, G. Ovchinnikova, A. Pati, L. Goodwin, A. Chen, K. Palaniappan, M. Land, L. Hauser, Y. J. Chang, C. D. Jeffries, M. Rohde, M. Goker, T. Woyke, J. Bristow, J. A. Eisen, V. Markowitz, P. Hugenholtz, N. C. Kyrpides, and H. P. Klenk. 2010. Complete genome sequence of *Cellulomonas flavigena* type strain (134). Standards in Genomic Science 3:15-25.
- 2. Allison, S. D., M. D. Wallenstein, and M. A. Bradford. 2010. Soil-carbon response to warming dependent on microbial physiology. Nature Geoscience 3:336-340.
- 3. Asari, N., R. Ishihara, Y. Nakajima, M. Kimura, and S. Asakawa. 2007. Succession and phylogenetic composition of eubacterial communities in rice straw during decomposition on the surface of paddy field soil. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition **53**:56-65.
- 4. **Bardgett, R. D., C. Freeman, and N. J. Ostle.** 2008. Microbial contributions to climate change through carbon cycle feedbacks. Internation Society for Microbial Ecology Journal **2**:805-814.
- 5. **Boer, W., L. B. Folman, R. C. Summerbell, and L. Boddy.** 2005. Living in a fungal world: impact of fungi on soil bacterial niche development. Federation of European Microbiological Societies Review **29**:795-811.
- 6. **Bradford, M. M.** 1976. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantification of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principles of protein-dye binding. Analytical Biochemistry **72**:248-254.
- 7. Canfield, D. E., A. N. Glazer, and P. G. Falkowski. 2010. The evolution and future of Earth's nitrogen cycle. Science **330**:192-196.
- 8. Chaudhary, P., N. N. Kumar, and D. N. Deobagkar. 1997. The glucanases of *Cellulomonas*. Biotechnology Advances **15:**315-331.
- 9. Craine, J. M., C. Morrow, and N. Fierer. 2007. Microbial nitrogen limitation increases decomposition. Ecology 88:2105-2113.

- 10. **Dixon, R., and D. Kahn.** 2004. Genetic regulation of biological nitrogen fixation. Nature Reviews Microbiology **2:**621-631.
- Finzi, A. C., D. J. Moore, E. H. DeLucia, J. Lichter, K. S. Hofmockel, R. B. Jackson, H. S. Kim, R. Matamala, H. R. McCarthy, R. Oren, J. S. Pippen, and W. H. Schlesinger. 2006. Progressive nitrogen limitation of ecosystem processes under elevated CO2 in a warm-temperate forest. Ecology 87:15-25.
- 12. **Flemming, H. C., and J. Wingender.** 2010. The biofilm matrix. Nature Reviews Microbiology **8:**623-633.
- Fung, I., J. John, J. Lerner, E. Matthews, M. Prather, L. P. Steele, and P. J. Fraser. 1991. 3-Dimensional Model Synthesis of the Global Methane Cycle. Journal of Geophysical Research Atmospheres 96:13033-13065.
- Gessner, M. O., C. M. Swan, C. K. Dang, B. G. McKie, R. D. Bardgett, D. H. Wall, and S. Hattenschwiler. 2010. Diversity meets decomposition. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 25:372-380.
- 15. **Harlow, E., and D. Lane.** 1988. Antibodies. A laboratory manual. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, New York.
- 16. **Heimann, M., and M. Reichstein.** 2008. Terrestrial ecosystem carbon dynamics and climate feedbacks. Nature **451:**289-292.
- 17. Hein, R., P. J. Crutzen, and M. Heimann. 1997. An inverse modeling approach to investigate the global atmospheric methane cycle. Global Biogeochemical Cycles **11**:43-76.
- 18. **Hobbie, S. E.** 2008. Nitrogen effects on decomposition: A five-year experiment in eight temperate sites. Ecology **89**:2633-2644.
- 19. **Hotten, P. M., K. L. Jones, and J. M. Grainger.** 1983. The application of a mathematical model to an appraisal of the cellulose-azure method for determining cellulase activity. European Journal of Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology **18**:344-349.
- 20. Hsing, W., and E. Canale-Parola. 1992. Cellobiose chemotaxis by the cellulolytic bacterium *Cellulomonas gelida*. Journal of Bacteriology **174**:7996-8002.
- 21. **Hsu, S. C., and J. L. Lockwood.** 1974. Powdered chitin as a selective medium for enumeration of actinomycetes in water and soil. Applied Microbiology **29:**422-426.
- 22. Hyvonen, R., G. I. Agren, S. Linder, T. Persson, M. F. Cotrufo, A. Ekblad, M. Freeman, A. Grelle, I. A. Janssens, P. G. Jarvis, S. Kellomaki, A. Lindroth, D. Loustau, T. Lundmark, R. J. Norby, R. Oren, K. Pilegaard, M. G. Ryan, B.

D. Sigurdsson, M. Stromgren, M. van Oijen, and G. Wallin. 2007. The likely impact of elevated [CO₂], nitrogen deposition, increased temperature and management on carbon sequestration in temperate and boreal forest ecosystems: a literature review. New Phytologist **173**:463-480.

- 23. Keegstra, K. 2010. Plant cell walls. Plant Physiology 154:483-486.
- 24. **Kenyon, W. J., S. W. Esch, and C. S. Buller.** 2005. The curdlan-type exopolysaccharide produced by Cellulomonas flavigena KU forms part of an extracellular glycocalyx involved in cellulose degradation. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek **87**:143-148.
- 25. **King, G. M.** 2010. Enhancing soil carbon storage for carbon remediation: potential contributions and constraints by microbes. Trends in Microbiology
- 26. **Ko, Y. T., and Y. L. Lin.** 2004. 1,3-beta-glucan quantification by a fluorescence microassay and analysis of its distribution in foods. Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry **52**:3313-3318.
- 27. Lamed, R., J. Naimark, E. Morgenstern, and E. A. Bayer. 1987. Specialized cell surface structures in cellulolytic bacteria. Journal of Bacteriology **169**:3792-3800.
- 28. **LeBauer, D. S., and K. K. Treseder.** 2008. Nitrogen limitation of net primary productivity in terrestrial ecosystems is globally distributed. Ecology **89:**371-379.
- 29. Leitch, J. L., and L. A. Wells. 1946. A filtration error in nitrogen determinations. Journal of the Franklin Institute **241**:73-77.
- 30. **Leschine, S., and E. Canale-Parola.** 1983. Mesophilic cellulolytic clostridia from freshwater environments. Applied Environmental Microbiology **46**:728-737.
- 31. **Leschine, S. B.** 1995. Cellulose Degradation in Anaerobic Environments. Annual Review of Microbiology **49**:399-426.
- 32. Leschine, S. B., K. Holwell, and E. Canale-Parola. 1988. Nitrogen fixation by anaerobic cellulolytic bacteria. Science **242**:1157-1159.
- 33. Ljungdahl, L. G., and K. E. Eriksson. 1985. Ecology of Microbial Cellulose Degradation. Advances in Microbial Ecology 8:237-299.
- 34. Lu, Y., Y. H. Zhang, and L. R. Lynd. 2006. Enzyme-microbe synergy during cellulose hydrolysis by *Clostridium thermocellum*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA **103**:16165-16169.
- 35. Lynd, L. R., P. J. Weimer, W. H. van Zyl, and I. S. Pretorius. 2002. Microbial cellulose utilization: fundamentals and biotechnology. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Review **66:**506-577, table of contents.

- 36. **Manzoni, S., R. B. Jackson, J. A. Trofymow, and A. Porporato.** 2008. The global stoichiometry of litter nitrogen mineralization. Science **321:**684-686.
- 37. **Miller, G. L.** 1959. Use of dinitrosalicylic acid reagent for determination of reducing sugar. Analytical Chemistry **31**:426-428.
- Neff, J. C., A. R. Townsend, G. Gleixner, S. J. Lehman, J. Turnbull, and W. D. Bowman. 2002. Variable effects of nitrogen additions on the stability and turnover of soil carbon. Nature 419:915-917.
- 39. **Or, D., S. Phutane, and A. Dechesne.** 2007. Extracellular polymeric substances affecting pore-scale hydrologic conditions for bacterial activity in unsaturated soils. Vadose Zone Journal. **6:**298-305.
- 40. **Or, D., B. F. Smets, J. M. Wraith, A. Dechesne, and S. P. Friedman.** 2007. Physical constraints affecting bacterial habitats and activity in unsaturated porous media a review. Advances in Water Resources **30**:1505-1527.
- 41. **Postgate, J. R.** 1972. The acetylene reduction test for nitrogen fixation, p. 343-356. *In* J. R. Norris and D. W. Ribbons (ed.), Methods in Microbiology, vol. 6B. Academic Press, New York.
- 42. **Pourcher, A. M., L. Sutra, I. Hebe, G. Moguedet, C. Bollet, P. Simoneau, and L. Gardan.** 2001. Enumeration and characterization of cellulolytic bacteria from refuse of a landfill. Federation of European Microbiological Societies Microbiology Ecology **34**:229-241.
- 43. Ramirez, K. S., C. L. Lauber, R. Knight, M. A. Bradford, and N. Fierer. 2010. Consistent effects of nitrogen fertilization on soil bacterial communities in contrasting systems. Ecology **91:**3463-3470; discussion 3503-3414.
- 44. **Reguera, G., and S. B. Leschine.** 2003. Biochemical and genetic characterization of ChiA, the major enzyme component for the solubilization of chitin by *Cellulomonas uda*. Archives of Microbiology **180**:434-443.
- 45. **Reguera, G., and S. B. Leschine.** 2001. Chitin degradation by cellulolytic anaerobes and facultative aerobes from soils and sediments. Federation of European Microbiological Societies Microbiology Letters **204**:367-374.
- Reich, P. B., S. E. Hobbie, T. Lee, D. S. Ellsworth, J. B. West, D. Tilman, J. M. Knops, S. Naeem, and J. Trost. 2006. Nitrogen limitation constrains sustainability of ecosystem response to CO2. Nature 440:922-925.
- 47. Ringeval, B., N. de Noblet-Ducoudre, P. Ciais, P. Bousquet, C. Prigent, F. Papa, and W. B. Rossow. 2010. An attempt to quantify the impact of changes in wetland extent on methane emissions on the seasonal and interannual time scales. Global Biogeochemical Cycles **24**:1-12.

- 48. Schellenberger, S., S. Kolb, and H. L. Drake. 2009. Metabolic responses of novel cellulolytic and saccharolytic agricultural soil *Bacteria* to oxygen. Environmental Microbiology.
- 49. Schimz, K. L., and B. Overhoff. 1987. Glycogen, a cytoplasmic reserve polysaccharide of *Cellulomonas* sp. (DSM20108) Its identification, carbon source-dependent accumulation, and degradation during starvation. Federation of European Microbiological Societies Microbiology Letters **40**:325-331.
- 50. Singh, B. K., R. D. Bardgett, P. Smith, and D. S. Reay. 2010. Microorganisms and climate change: terrestrial feedbacks and mitigation options. Nature Reviews Microbiology 8:779-790.
- 51. Siriwardana, L. S., A. R. Gall, C. S. Buller, S. W. Esch, and W. J. Kenyon. 2011. Factors affecting accumulation and degradation of curdlan, trehalose and glycogen in cultures of Cellulomonas flavigena strain KU (ATCC 53703). Antonie van Leeuwenhoek **99:**681-695.
- Smith, P. K., R. I. Krohn, G. T. Hermanson, A. K. Mallia, F. H. Gartner, M. D. Provenzano, E. K. Fujimoto, N. M. Goeke, B. J. Olson, and D. C. Klenk. 1985. Measurement of protein using bicinchoninic acid. Analytical Biochemistry 150:76-85.
- 53. **Stackebrandt, E., P. Schumann, and H. Prauser.** 2006. The family *Cellulomonadaceae*, p. 983-1001, Prokaryotes, vol. 3.
- 54. **Sterner, R. W., and J. J. Elser.** 2002. Ecological stoichiometry : the biology of elements from molecules to the biosphere. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J. ; Oxford.
- 55. **Stretton, S., S. Techkarnjanaruk, A. M. McLennan, and A. E. Goodman.** 1998. Use of green fluorescent protein to tag and investigate gene expression in marine bacteria. Applied Environmental Microbiology **64**:2554-2559.
- 56. Vitousek, P. M., and R. W. Howarth. 1991. Nitrogen limitation on land and in the sea: How can it occur? Biogeochemistry **13**:87-115.
- 57. Vladuttalor, M., T. Kauri, and D. J. Kushner. 1986. Effects of cellulose on growth, enzyme production, and ultrastructure of a *Cellulomonas* species. Archives of Microbiology **144**:191-195.
- 58. Voepel, K. C., and C. S. Buller. 1990. Formation of an extracellular energy reserve by *Cellulomonas flavigena* strain KU. Journal of Industrial Microbiology **5**:131-138.
- 59. Woodward, F. I., R. D. Bardgett, J. A. Raven, and A. M. Hetherington. 2009. Biological approaches to global environment change mitigation and remediation. Current Biology **19:**R615-623.

- 60. **Yildiz, F. H., and G. K. Schoolnik.** 1999. *Vibrio cholerae* O1 El Tor: identification of a gene cluster required for the rugose colony type, exopolysaccharide production, chlorine resistance, and biofilm formation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA **96**:4028-4033.
- 61. **Zeglin, L. H., M. Stursova, R. L. Sinsabaugh, and S. L. Collins.** 2007. Microbial responses to nitrogen addition in three contrasting grassland ecosystems. Oecologia **154:**349-359.
- Zhang, Y. H., and L. R. Lynd. 2004. Toward an aggregated understanding of enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose: noncomplexed cellulase systems. Biotechnology and Bioenergy. 88:797-824.

Chapter 3

Operational and biological approaches for improved consolidated

bioprocessing of AFEX-pretreated corn stover to ethanol by Cellulomonas uda

3.1 ABSTRACT

Bioethanol is currently the most widely used alternative to petroleum for liquid transportation fuels. Utilization of lignocellulosic biomass to produce ethanol decreases our dependence on foreign oil, improves the economy, and benefits the environment. Lignocellulosic biomass must be pretreated and enzymatically hydrolyzed to enable fermentation of the released sugars to ethanol, which add to the cost of the fuel. Ammonia Fiber Expansion (AFEX) is a low-cost pretreatment method with the potential for high sugar conversion with minimal inhibitory compounds. AFEX-treated corn stover (AFEX-CS) also supports the growth of various cellulolytic microorganisms. In particular, strains of Cellulomonas such as Cellulomonas uda are especially suited for ethanologenesis from lignocellulose and show promise for the consolidated bioprocessing (CBP) of AFEX-CS into ethanol. Thus, we investigated the operational parameters that promoted fermentative growth of C. uda from AFEX-CS. Here we describe the culturing conditions that promote the growth of C. uda with up to 5% (w/v) AFEX-CS solids. We also adaptively evolved a strain of C. uda with improved fermentative capabilities that increased ethanol productivity from AFEX-CS 12-fold. The results highlight the potential of C. uda as a robust CBP organism for the processing of agricultural wastes into ethanol.

3.2 INTRODUCTION

Our current major source of liquid transportation fuel, petroleum, is non-renewable and mostly originates from unstable regions of the world. Biomass, a renewable resource, can be used to produce liquid transportation fuel and provide a domestic supply of

energy. Bioethanol is the most widely used liquid transportation fuel alternative with Brazil, the United States, and Asia contributing the most to its production (7). Ethanol has the potential to reduce our energy carbon footprint as CO₂ emissions could be reduced by as much as 60-90% (7). Corn ethanol, which emits 87-88% less greenhouse gases than gasoline, has a net energy balance of 25% (i.e., the energy output is 25% more than the energy input for production) (19). Lignocellulosic feedstocks have greater potential. Ethanol from switchgrass has, for example, a 500% net energy balance, in addition to improved emission and soil conservation benefits (43). Hence, fuels produced from lignocellulosic substrates have the potential to decrease our reliance on foreign oil, improve our domestic economy by creating new markets, and diminish negative impacts on the environment.

Lignocellulose is composed of lignin, cellulose, hemicellulose and small amounts of protein, pectin, extractives, and ash. Composition and construction of these components varies by plant type. Cellulose and hemicellulose are sugar polymers and could, therefore, be used as substrates for ethanol fermentation. However, the lignin protects the plant cell wall from microbial degradation and blocks the access of microbial enzymes to the carbohydrate polymers (20). The natural recalcitrance of the substrate thus requires pretreatments to increase its digestability (47). The pretreatments break the lignin seal and decrease the crystallinity of cellulose, thus facilitating enzymatic access to the carbohydrate polymers and their hydrolysis (36, 56). Ammonia Fiber Expansion (AFEX) is a physicochemical pretreatment of lignocellulose that utilizes temperature, pressure, and ammonia to solubilize the lignin (9), while decrystallizing the cellulose and increasing the substrate's digestibility (2, 53). The

method allows for the recovery of most of the ammonia catalyst, which reduces costs, and leaves small amounts of residual ammonia that serve as a nutrient for fermentative microbes (1, 45, 57). Furthermore, the substrate does not need to be washed prior to fermentation because inhibitory compounds are only minimally produced (10, 27). After the pretreatment, the exposed cellulose and hemicellulose need to be hydrolyzed into fermentable sugars to produce ethanol. Normally, this step involves costly enzyme cocktails and multi-step methods (16, 31, 44). A cost-effective approach to this process is consolidated bioprocessing (CBP) in which a single organism degrades the substrate and converts both hexose and pentose sugars into ethanol (7, 31). This process is estimated to increase the efficiency of bioethanol production from lignocellulosic substrates and reduce the cost of ethanol production by 50% (30).

In nature, the complex biochemical nature of lignocellulose substrates has selected for organisms that produce multienzyme systems whose catalytic activities act synergistically to efficiently degrade the biomass polymers. Enzymes involved in this process include those cleaving internal (endoglucanases) or terminal (exoglucanases) bonds in cellulose (cellulases), hemicellulose, and pectin (xylanases, arabinofuranidases, mannosidases, etc) (20). Many of these enzymes are organized in domains, often containing catalytic and substrate-binding domains connected through flexible regions or linkers (3). In most anaerobic cellulolytic microorganisms, the hydrolytic enzymes are assembled as protein complexes or cellulosomes using 'scaffold' and 'dockerin' proteins (3). In addition to evolving complex enzyme system for an efficient and synergistic hydrolysis, native lignocellulolytic organisms have also evolved metabolisms that enable them to ferment the soluble products released during

biomass degradation, thus maximizing energy recovery from the high energy cost associated with the production of hydrolytic enzymes (28). These microorganisms are, therefore, naturally tuned for CBP of lignocellulose substrates. However, fermentative growth is often slow compared to industrial standards and adapted to the environmental rates of biomass processing (14).

Cellulomonas spp. are the only known group of cellulolytic facultative anaerobes (32). They can hydrolyze a wide range of carbohydrate substrates such as cellulose, xylan, starch, and agricultural wastes (51). They can also ferment many biomassderived sugars such as xylose, arabinose, glucose, mannose, galactose, cellobiose, maltose, and sucrose (50). Ethanol is often a major product of fermentation in these organisms in addition to lactate, acetate, formate, succinate, and CO₂ (50). Some of the strains also have high protein and essential amino acid values and have been used for single cell protein production from agricultural wastes (18, 23, 24). They have also been studied for their hydrolytic enzymes (11, 21, 25, 54). Studies in our lab have shown that Cellumonas uda ATCC 21399 is naturally suited for ethanologenesis from AFEX-CS, growing robustly with this substrate and producing ethanol at ca. 50% of the maximum theoretical yield (48). Formate and acetate are also produced during ethanologenesis, along with small amounts of lactate and succinate (48). Although the fermentation byproducts of AFEX-CS metabolism by C. uda can cause feedback inhibition (12), they can be removed and used as electron donors by exoelectrogenic bacteria such as Geobacter sulfurreducens (49). As a result, AFEX-CS hydrolysis and ethanol fermentation are stimulated during syntrophic growth of C. uda with G. sulfurreducens in a microbial electrolysis cell (MEC), which also recovers the energy of the waste

fermentation products as hydrogen (48). Energy recoveries from AFEX-CS in the MEC platform were ultimately dependent on the growth robustness of C. uda. AFEX-CS hydrolysis efficiencies and ethanol production were, for example, stimulated when the cultures were supplemented with nitrogen sources (48). This is because, as shown in Chapter 2, nitrogen supplementation prevents the accumulation of carbon as a curdlan biofilm matrix (58) and potentially diverts all the carbon towards cell growth, enzyme production, and ethanologenesis. Consistent with this, nitrogen supplementation alone resulted in 2-fold increases in the energy recoveries from the fermentation of AFEX-CS to ethanol (56%) and to ethanol and cathodic hydrogen (73%) (48). These values exceed those reported for ethanol production from acid-treated corn stover using standard fermentative yeast catalysts (29) and highlight the potential of MEC platforms for ethanol production using C. uda. Interestingly, ethanol production plateaued before all the nitrogen was removed by C. uda (48). Furthermore, despite the low (0.2%, w/v) solid loadings used in this study, only half of the AFEX-CS was degraded. This suggests that nutrients became growth-limiting and, therefore, there is potential for optimizing the CBP of AFEX-CS by C. uda by optimizing the culturing conditions.

Here I describe studies to improve the CBP of AFEX-CS to ethanol by *C. uda*. Supplementing the medium with yeast extract, incubating at the temperature optimum, and shaking the cultures during incubation promoted the growth of *C. uda* and ethanologenesis at high (5%) solid loadings of AFEX-CS solids. *C. uda* was also adaptively evolved under ethanol and allyl alcohol pressure to select for a strain with improved fermentation abilities. Improvements in operational parameters alone resulted in 5-fold increases in fermentation yields and 6-fold increases in ethanol yields and

ethanol productivity compared to the previous study (48). Furthermore, ethanol productivity was increased 12-fold in a strain adaptively evolved for robust fermentative growth and ethanologenesis. The results highlight the potential of *C. uda* for the CBP of AFEX-CS and offer valuable insights into the operational and biological constraints that can be targeted for further improvements.

3.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.3.1 Bacterial strains and culture conditions

Cellulomonas uda ATTC 21399 was routinely cultured at 35°C in anaerobic GS2 medium (8) with 0.2% cellobiose (GS2-CB). When indicated, cellobiose was replaced with corn stover as sole carbon and energy source, previously processed and pretreated with the AFEX method (27) and ground and sieved as previously described (48) (AFEX-CS). The glucan and xylan contents of the AFEX-CS (glucose and xylose equivalents, respectively, in acid hydrolysates) were estimated to be 36 % (\pm 8) and 22% (\pm 4) xylose, respectively. For the experiments with AFEX-CS, a modified GS2 medium (GS3 medium) lacking MOPS was used, as MOPS was found to interfere with HPLC analyses of ethanol. Cells from late exponential-phase GS2-CB cultures were harvested by centrifugation (3220 x g, 10 min, room temperature), resuspended in GS3 medium, and inoculated into GS3-AFEX-CS medium to a final OD₆₆₀ of 0.04. The cultures were incubated at 35°C with gentle shaking (200 rpm) and spectrophotometric readings (OD₆₆₀) were taken periodically after mixing the cultures by inversion and allowing the solids to settle for 20 min.

3.3.2 Alcohol tolerance of *C. uda*

Late-exponential phase cultures of *C. uda* strains grown anaerobically at 35° C in GS2-CB were inoculated to an initial OD₆₆₀ of 0.02 into GS2-CB medium with varying concentrations of ethanol (between 0 and 5% (v/v)). The cultures were incubated at 35° C and growth was monitored spectrophotometrically as OD₆₆₀ every ca. 6 h.

3.3.3 Adaptive evolution of *C. uda*

An ethanol-tolerant strain of C. uda was evolved by continuous subculturing of stationary phase cultures in GS2-CB media supplemented with increasing concentrations of ethanol, starting with concentrations of 1% (v/v) ethanol and increasing them in 0.5% (v/v) increments once the growth rate and lag time had stabilized. This approach was successful until reaching 5% (v/v) ethanol. Although the adaptively evolved cultures grew with 5% ethanol, they could not be stably sustained over time, thus signaling the end of the evolution experiment. Two subsets of cultures growing stably and reproducibly at 4% ethanol were also challenged in parallel with allyl alcohol at 10^{-3} M and 10^{-7} M, respectively, in addition to ethanol, in order to select for variants carrying mutations in ethanol dehydrogenase that increase ethanol tolerance and ethanologenic rates (37). Clonal isolates from cultures growing at 4.5% concentrations of ethanol were separated as isolated colonies on solidified (1.5% agar) GS2-CB media. Five colonies were subcultured three times to insure clonal purity and tested for growth and ethanol production in GS3-CB media. The best performing strain was also tested for ethanol tolerance, as described above, to confirm the acquired

phenotypic trait, and for fermentative growth on various carbon sources at 0.2% (w/v) (cellobiose, glucose, xylose, or a combination of glucose and xylose in the ratio [0.12 and 0.08% (w/v) respectively] similar to that calculated for the AFEX-CS.

3.3.4 Batch cultures of C. uda on varying concentration of AFEX-CS

Late-exponential phase cultures of *C. uda* grown at 35° C in GS3 medium with cellobiose (0.2%), were inoculated to an OD₆₆₀ of 0.04 in bottles containing anaerobic GS3 medium with varying concentrations of AFEX-CS (0, 1, 3, 5% [w/v]). All cultures were incubated at 35° C with gentle agitation (200 rpm). Aliquots (1 ml) were periodically removed from the culture to monitor growth (OD₆₆₀) and to analyze the fermentation broth by HPLC, as described below.

3.3.5 Analytical techniques

The xylose content in acid hydrolysates of the AFEX-CS remaining in the cultures after 2 weeks of incubation was used to calculate hydrolysis efficiencies, as previously described (46) and modified (48). The xylose content of the AFEX-CS remaining at the end of the incubation period was also used to estimate the efficiency of the hydrolysis in reference to uninoculated controls. Glucose was not an accurate proxy because of interference from the abundant curdlan exopolysaccharide (β -1,3 glucose) produced by *C. uda* biofilms (58). The glucan and xylan contents of the AFEX-CS (36% glucose and 22% xylose equivalents, respectively) were used to estimate the amount of glucose and xylose solubilized by the CBP strain and, therefore, available for fermentation. Sugars,

alcohols, and organic acids in 1-ml filtered (0.45 µM syringe filters, National Scientific, Rockwood, TN) culture supernatant fluids or AFEX-CS acid hydrolysates were measured by HPLC (Waters, Milford, MA) at 30°C, as previously described (48).

3.4 RESULTS

3.4.1 Hydrolysis and fermentation of varying concentrations of AFEX-CS by *C. uda*

C. uda was cultured in a modified rich medium (GS3) carrying yeast extract to stimulate growth with various concentrations (0.5%, 1%, 3% and 5%) of AFEX-CS solids. The cultures were incubated at 35°C, a temperature previously reported to stimulate fermentative growth (39, 40, 54), with gentle agitation to facilitate mixing and further stimulate growth. The amount of AFEX-CS hydrolyzed increased linearly ($R^2 = 0.99$) with the solid loadings (Fig 3.1A). As solid loadings increased, hydrolysis efficiencies increased which were approximately 20% at 0.5% solid loadings, 30% at 1% loadings, 40% at 3% loadings, and 60% at 5% loadings. Thus, there was a positive solid effect.



Figure 3.1: Hydrolysis and fermentation efficiencies of *C. uda* (closed symbols) and its variant AA7 (open symbols) on AFEX-CS (A) Amount of hydrolyzed AFEX-CS (based on xylose equivalents) compared to amount of AFEX-CS provided as substrate (B) Ethanol production normalized to amount of

AFEX-CS hydrolyzed

The solid loading had no effect on the fermentation profiles, with formate, acetate, and ethanol being the most abundant products and with only small amounts of succinate and lactate being produced (Table 3.1). Interestingly, titers for fermentation products did not increase proportionally to the amount of AFEX-CS hydrolyzed and available for fermentation. As a result, the conversion efficiency (g of ethanol/g of AFEX hydrolyzed) decreased exponentially ($R^2 = 0.92$) with the solid loadings (Fig 3.1B). Thus, although substantially more AFEX-CS was hydrolyzed at higher loadings,

fermentation efficiencies remained unchanged suggesting that fermentative growth is naturally slow in this organism and/or fermentative growth is inhibited once some fermentation products reach a threshold.

AFEX-CS ^b	Succinate	Lactate	Formate	Acetate (A)	Ethanol (E)	E/A
0	0.7 (± 0.7)	0.0 (± 0.0)	3.8 (± 1.5)	2.4 (± 1.4)	0.6 (± 1.4)	
0.5	3.8 (± 0.5)	0.4 (± 0.6)	9.8 (± 0.5)	10.2 (± 2.6)	7.5 (± 0.2)	0.74
1	2.8 (± 0.0)	2.1 (± 0.0)	11.1 (± 0.4)	9.7 (± 0.3)	7.1 (± 1.2)	0.73
3	1.9 (± 0.1)	1.2 (± 0.1)	11.4 (± 0.5)	9.0 (± 0.7)	9.0 (± 2.7)	0.99
5	3.0 (± 2.2)	1.3 (± 1.3)	12.8 (± 4.6)	11.6 (± 7.1)	8.6 (± 1.5)	0.74

			a
Table 3.1: C.	uda fermentation	products from	AFEX-CS

^a Shown are averages (and standards errors, in parentheses) of the concentrations of fermentation products (mM) in two

replicates.

^b Concentration of AFEX-CS (w/v)

3.4.2 Adaptive evolution of *C. uda* for improved fermentation

As the ethanol titers did not increase proportionally to the amount of AFEX-CS hydrolyzed as the solid loading increased, we investigated the ethanol tolerance of *C. uda*. Growth rates decreased rapidly in the presence of even low concentrations of ethanol (Fig 3.2A). The growth rates of cultures with 1% and 2% (v/v) ethanol were, for example, 75% and 13% of those grown without ethanol. Higher concentrations inhibited growth altogether (Fig 3.2A). Although *C. uda* tolerance to ethanol is naturally low, the ethanol titers measured from AFEX-CS fermentation (Table 3.1) are within the ranges (less than 0.5% (v/v)) that are tolerated by this bacterium. Hence, it is unlikely that ethanol accumulation inhibited fermentation from AFEX-CS.

As acetate and formate accumulation can also feedback inhibit fermentation and enzyme production (12), we designed an experiment to adaptively evolve *C. uda* cultures for improved fermentative growth. We initiated the experiment by serially transferring cellobiose-grown cultures in the presence of increasing concentrations of ethanol to concomitantly evolve ethanol tolerance. Once the cultures were adaptively evolved to grow at 4% (v/v) of ethanol, additional pressure with allyl alcohol was introduced to improve fermentative rates (37). We evolved separate cultures (AA3 and AA7) with both ethanol and 10^{-3} (AA3) or 10^{-7} M allyl alcohol, respectively, in parallel to cultures with only ethanol. This resulted in three lines of adaptively evolved cultures: ethanol, ethanol + AA3, and ethanol + AA7. All the three culture lines evolved tolerance to up to 5% (v/v) ethanol over the course of 18 months. The growth rates of clonal isolates from the three evolved lines were similar in GS3-CB media (Fig. 3.2B) but ethanol yields were higher in the clones derived from cultures selected under allyl

alcohol pressure (Fig. 3.2C). The strain with the best growth rate and ethanol titer was from the culture with 10^{-7} M allyl alcohol. It was designated strain AA7 and was chosen for further studies.



Figure 3.2 Ethanol Tolerance of C. uda and adaptively evolved strains

(A) Growth rates of the parental and the adaptively evolved AA7 strains of *C. uda* (closed and open circles, respectively) in triplicate at increasing concentrations of ethanol. (B-C) Growth rates (B) and ethanol yields (C) of clonal isolates of strains of *C. uda* adaptively evolved with ethanol alone (dark grey; Cu strains) or together with high (light grey; AA3 strains) or low concentrations of allyl alcohol (white; AA7 strains).

As shown in Fig. 3.2A, strain AA7 grew at concentrations of ethanol as high as 5% (v/v) in GS3-CB medium. The fermentative growth of C. uda AA7 was also investigated with different sugars and in reference to the parental strain. Cultures were grown in GS3-CB to late exponential phase before being transferred to GS3 with cellobiose, glucose, xylose, or a combination of glucose and xylose in a ratio mimicking that calculated for the glucose:xylose content in AFEX-CS. Growth with cellobiose resumed rapidly without an apparent lag phase in the parental and AA7 strains and growth rates were similar in both strains (Fig. 3.3A). Growth with glucose and xylose or a combination of both did not start immediately and the cultures had lag phases of variable lengths (Fig. 3.3B-D), as they transitioned from growing with cellobiose to other fermentable sugars. However, the lag phases were significantly reduced in the adapted strain AA7 compared to the parental strain. Thus, strain AA7 was able to rapidly switch its metabolism to growth with the new sugar, lagging for only 18 h with glucose (Fig. 3.3B) and about 24 h with xylose (Fig. 3.3C) or with both glucose and xylose (Fig. 3.3D). By contrast, the parental strain lagged for 80 h with glucose (Fig 3.3B) and about 55 h with xylose and the combination of glucose and xylose (Fig 3.3C and D, respectively).



Figure 3.3 Fermentative growth of the parental (closed circles) and AA7 (open circles) strains of *C. uda* with cellobiose (A), glucose (B), xylose (C), and glucose and xylose (D)

3.4.3 Fermentation of AFEX-CS by the adapted AA7 strain of C. uda

Strain AA7 also grew in medium with AFEX-CS at solid loadings as high as 5%. At low solid loadings, hydrolysis efficiency was comparative to the parental strain, however, the percentage of AFEX-CS that was hydrolyzed at the different solid loadings was similar and averaged 33 (±6) %. The resulting hydrolysis efficiencies thus decreased at high solid loadings compared to the parental strain. Ethanol titers were also similar in the cultures regardless of the solid loading (Table 3.2) and comparable to those measured in the parental strain (Table 3.1). As a result, the ethanol conversion efficiencies (g of ethanol/g of AFEX), though decreasing exponentially with increased solid loadings ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.96$), showed small improvements at higher solid loadings compared to the parental strain (Fig 3.1B).

AFEX-CS ^b	Succinate	Lactate	Formate	Acetate (A)	Ethanol (E)	E/A
0	1.5 (± 0.2)	0.7 (± 0.0)	4.8 (± 0.3)	7.7 (± 0.2)	4.4 (± 0.4)	
1	1.9 (± 0.1)	0.8 (± 0.1)	8.7 (± 0.0)	11.5 (± 0.8)	8.1 (± 0.2)	0.61
1.5	1.8 (± 0.1)	0.8 (± 0.2)	10.6 (± 0.0)	12.9 (± 0.4)	7.4 (± 2.1)	0.57
3	1.9 (± 0.3)	1.1 (± 0.1)	12.5 (± 0.0)	12.2 (± 0.2)	8.0 (± 0.3)	0.54
5	2.2 (± 0.6)	1.3 (± 0.5)	14.1 (± 0.2)	12.7 (± 2.5)	9.8 (± 0.6)	0.69

			a
Table 3.2:	C. uda AA7	fermentation	products of AFEX-CS

^a Shown are averages of concentrations of fermentation products (mM) and, in parentheses, standard deviations of two

replicates.

^b Concentration of AFEX-CS (w/v)

Although the yields of fermentation products of strain AA7 (Table 3.2) were similar to the parental strain (Table 3.1), the adapted strain reached those yields far more rapidly (Fig 3.4). On average, it took the parental strain 4-6 days to complete the fermentation whereas *C. uda* AA7 reached the same yields in half that time (Fig. 3.4). Thus, the selective pressure with ethanol and allyl alcohol produced a strain with improved fermentative abilities that was able to rapidly adapt its metabolism to ferment the available sugars from AFEX-CS.



Figure 3.4 Fermentation products of 1% (A-B), 3% (C-D) and 5% (E-F) AFEX-CS by the parental or adapted AA7 strains of *C. uda* (closed and open symbols, respectively). Shown are formate (circles), acetate (squares), and ethanol (triangles).

The fermentation yields and rates of ethanologenesis of the parental and AA7 strains on 5% (w/v) AFEX were also compared to the previously reported study (48) that used minimal medium and 0.2% (w/v) AFEX-CS and incubations at 30°C (Fig 3.5). By optimizing operational parameters such as temperature and agitation and providing yeast extract to satisfy any growth requirements, *C. uda* was able to grow and ferment higher (5%) solid loadings. This resulted in 5-fold increases in the yields of fermentation products, with ethanol titers increasing 6-fold. Ethanol production per day was also 6-fold higher in the parental strain when grown under the optimized culturing conditions at 5% solid loadings. Furthermore, strain AA7 produced ethanol 2-fold faster than the parental strain under the same optimized conditions or 12-fold faster compared to minimal conditions.



Figure 3.5 Comparison of fermentation products (columns) and ethanol productivity (line) produced by the parental (P) and adapted (AA7) strains of *C. uda* under the optimized conditions reported in this study (5%) in reference to previously reported (48) conditions (MM)

3.5 DISCUSSION

The results show that the CBP of AFEX-CS by *C. uda* can be improved significantly by optimizing the culture conditions and improving the fermentative rates of the bacterium via adaptive evolution. At increased solid loadings (0.5-5% w/v), *C. uda* efficiently degraded AFEX-CS for conversion to ethanol, but hydrolysis was never complete even in the best performing cultures. Plant cell walls are recalcitrant by nature, and studies suggest that the crystallinity of the cellulosic substrate can limit hydrolysis efficiencies (15, 41). However *C. uda* is able to degrade amorphous and crystalline regions of cellulose simultaneously (11). Yet the hydrolysis of even pure forms of cellulose by *C.*

uda is often incomplete (11). This has been linked to the accumulation of cellobiose, the final product of cellulose hydrolysis by *C. uda*, which acts as a feedback inhibitor of enzyme production (11). Additionally, compounds released during pretreatment (vanillin, syringic acid, syringyaldehyde) or fermentation (formate) can also inhibit the activity of xylanases (6, 20, 38). Alternatively, the enzyme system of *C. uda* may not be able to hydrolyze specific components of the AFEX-CS substrate. Hence, studies of the composition of the unhydrolyzed substrate and the enzyme system produced by *C. uda* for the hydrolysis of AFEX-CS could provide valuable information to genetically engineer strains with improved enzyme systems.

Several factors could explain the poor ethanologenesis efficiency observed at increased solid loadings (Fig. 3.1B). AFEX degradation products have been shown to affect xylose metabolism (27). Similarly, feedback inhibition by fermentation products could decrease fermentation efficiency. Acetate has been shown to be a non-competitive inhibitor of cellobiose metabolism in *C. uda*, presumably because it interferes with cellobiose uptake (12), As acetate levels increase during fermentation, cellobiose accumulates in the fermentation broth and feedback-inhibits cellobiose metabolism and cellulase synthesis (4, 12). Formate is also a major product of the fermentation of AFEX-CS and can inhibit xylanases activity (6, 20, 38). As sugars accumulate in the fermentation broth, they can also directly repress the activity of the hydrolytic enzymes and prevent further enzymatic hydrolysis. Glucose, for example, is a well-known inhibitor of *Cellulomonas* enzymes, and its accumulation results in decreases in β -glucosidase activity and the activities of other cellulases, whereas cellobiose can reduce endoglucanase activity (17, 52, 54, 55).

Ethanol is also a strong feedback inhibitor in C. uda, as evidenced by the reduced tolerance to ethanol of the parental strain (Fig. 3.2A). This feedback inhibition is a result of a lack of native pressure for high product tolerance as fermentation products diffuse rapidly and are utilized by neighboring organisms in nature (33, 34). Adaptive evolution was used to develop ethanol tolerance and improve fermentation efficiencies. Allyl alcohol pressure was also introduced to select for improved ethanol producers as alcohol dehydrogenase converts the allyl alcohol into a toxic compound, acrolein, which kills the cell (37). Thus, the presence of allyl alcohol selects for variants that preferentially use acetaldehyde, rather than allyl alcohol, as a substrate for alcohol dehydrogenase, thereby producing ethanol instead of acrolein (37). While improved ethanologenesis was not observed in the adapted strain, C. uda AA7 (Fig. 3.1B), the approach selected for variants with improved fermentation as seen by rate of fermentation (Fig 3.3) and ethanol productivity (ethanol/day) (Fig. 3.5). The adapted strain adjusted to changes in sugar availability faster than the parental strain. This is likely to reflect a decrease in lag phase, evolved to initiate fermentation and minimize the metabolism of allyl alcohol and the accumulation of the toxic acrolein. Many proteins involved in the transport and metabolism of sugars are not constitutively expressed and substrate utilization and cell growth cannot be initiated until the proteins are expressed, thus resulting in lag phases (5, 13, 26). For instance, cellobiose phosphorylase is synthesized de novo in response to cellobiose availability (42). Our experiments used inocula grown in cellobiose (Fig. 3.4). Thus, when transferred to fresh media with cellobiose, the cells resumed exponential growth immediately and no lag phase was observed. Cellobiose is a non-competitive inhibitor of glucose uptake in C. fimi (22). As
a result, cells grown on cellobiose transport glucose at one half the rate of glucosegrown cells. Hence, strain AA7 has likely evolved cellular mechanisms to deregulate and improve the transport and/or metabolism of sugars. Some of the proteins that are involved in the transport of sugars and that are produced de novo may, for example, be constitutively expressed in the adapted strain AA7. This strategy enables a faster response to changes in sugar availability but it is energetically costly to the cell as it devotes protein components and pathways to a metabolism that may not be utilized at all times. The decreased growth yields observed in the strain AA7 with all the sugars tested (Fig. 3.3) is consistent with this notion. We also observed faster fermentation of AFEX-CS in *C. uda* AA7 compared to the parental strain (Fig. 3.4) but reduced hydrolysis efficiencies (Fig. 3.1), suggesting a diversion of energy resources towards sugar fermentation at the expense of hydrolysis.

As ethanologenesis rates are an essential aspect to the productivity of the biofuel industry, strain AA7 shows promise as a robust CBP organism. Together with small changes in the operational parameters and culturing conditions, we have observed notable improvements in the CBP of AFEX-CS by *C. uda* over previous studies (Fig 3.5). Feedback inhibition of *C. uda* fermentation by acetate and formate, and its indirect effect in the inhibition of enzyme production and activity, remain the bottleneck of the process. We are currently sequencing the genome of the parental and adapted AA7 strains of *C. uda*, which will provide critical information about carbohydrate metabolism and regulation. This, together with the promising results of a genetic system for the closely related *C. flavigena* (Appendix A), suggest that genetic engineering could be used to develop strains with improved traits for the CBP of AFEX-CS. Feedback

inhibition can also be alleviated, and the hydrolysis and fermentation of AFEX-CS can be stimulated, during syntrophic growth of *C. uda* with the exoelectrogen *G. sulfurreducens* in a MEC (48). This approach provides an attractive platform for the CBP of agricultural wastes with high energy recoveries.

3.6 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the Rackham Fund Foundation, Michigan Economic Development Corporation, and MSU Foundation to GR and a Marvin Hensley Endowed, continuation, and dissertation completion fellowships from Michigan State's College of Natural Science to JMY. We thank Bruce Dale and Ming Lau for the AFEX-pretreated corn stover and Allison Speers for her assistance through different phases of the work. REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- 1. Balan, V., B. Bals, S. P. Chundawat, D. Marshall, and B. E. Dale. 2009. Lignocellulosic biomass pretreatment using AFEX. Methods in molecular biology 581:61-77.
- 2. Balan, V., C. Sousa Lda, S. P. Chundawat, D. Marshall, L. N. Sharma, C. K. Chambliss, and B. E. Dale. 2009. Enzymatic digestibility and pretreatment degradation products of AFEX-treated hardwoods (Populus nigra). Biotechnology Progress 25:365-375.
- 3. **Bayer, E. A., H. Chanzy, R. Lamed, and Y. Shoham.** 1998. Cellulose, cellulases and cellulosomes. Current Opinion in Structural Biology **8**:548-557.
- 4. **Beguin, P., and H. Eisen.** 1977. Free and cellulose-bound cellulases in a *Cellulomonas* species. Journal of General Microbiology **101:**191-196.
- 5. **Brejning, J., and L. Jespersen.** 2002. Protein expression during lag phase and growth initiation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. International journal of food microbiology **75:**27-38.
- 6. **Cantarella, M., L. Cantarella, A. Gallifuoco, A. Spera, and F. Alfani.** 2004. Effect of inhibitors released during steam-explosion treatment of poplar wood on subsequent enzymatic hydrolysis and SSF. Biotechnology Progress **20**:200-206.
- 7. **Carere, C. R., R. Sparling, N. Cicek, and D. B. Levin.** 2008. Third Generation Biofuels via Direct Cellulose Fermentation. International journal of molecular sciences **9**:1342-1360.
- Cavedon, K., S. B. Leschine, and E. Canale-Parola. 1990. Characterization of the extracellular cellulase from a mesophilic clostridium (strain C7). Journal of bacteriology 172:4231-4237.
- 9. **Chundawat, S. P., B. Venkatesh, and B. E. Dale.** 2007. Effect of particle size based separation of milled corn stover on AFEX pretreatment and enzymatic digestibility. Biotechnology and bioengineering **96**:219-231.
- 10. Chundawat, S. P. S., R. Vismeh, L. N. Sharma, J. F. Humpula, L. D. Sousa, C. K. Chambliss, A. D. Jones, V. Balan, and B. E. Dale. 2010. Multifaceted characterization of cell wall decomposition products formed during ammonia fiber

expansion (AFEX) and dilute acid based pretreatments. Bioresource technology **101:**8429-8438.

- 11. **Dermoun, Z., and J. P. Belaich.** 1988. Crystalline index change in cellulose during aerobic and anaerobic *Cellulomonas uda* growht. Applied microbiology and biotechnology **27:**399-404.
- 12. **Dermoun, Z., C. Gaudin, and J. P. Belaich.** 1988. Effects of end-product inhibition of *Cellulomonas uda* anaerobic growth on cellobiose chemostat culture. Journal of bacteriology **170**:2827-2831.
- 13. **Deutscher, J., C. Francke, and P. W. Postma.** 2006. How phosphotransferase system-related protein phosphorylation regulates carbohydrate metabolism in bacteria. Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR **70**:939-1031.
- 14. **Du, J., Z. Shao, and H. Zhao.** 2011. Engineering microbial factories for synthesis of value-added products. Journal of industrial microbiology & biotechnology **38**:873-890.
- 15. **Fan, L. T., Y. H. Lee, and D. H. Beardmore.** 1980. Mechanism of the enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose: Effects of major structural features of cellulose on enzymatic hydrolysis. Biotechnology and bioengineering **22**:177-199.
- Gao, D., S. P. S. Chundawat, C. Krishnan, V. Balan, and B. E. Dale. 2010. Mixture optimization of six core glycosyl hydrolases for maximizing saccharification of ammonia fiber expansion (AFEX) pretreated corn stover. Bioresource technology 101:2770-2781.
- 17. **Han, Y. W.** 1982. Nutritional requirements and growth of a *Cellulomonas* species on cellulosic substrates. Journal of Fermentation Technology **60**:99-104.
- 18. Han, Y. W., C. E. Dunlap, and C. D. Callihan. 1971. Single cell protein from cellulosic wastes. Food Technology **25**:32-35.
- Hill, J., E. Nelson, D. Tilman, S. Polasky, and D. Tiffany. 2006. Environmental, economic, and energetic costs and benefits of biodiesel and ethanol biofuels. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103:11206-11210.
- 20. **Jorgensen, H., J. B. Kristensen, and C. Felby.** 2007. Enzymatic conversion of lignocellulose into fermentable sugars: challenges and opportunities. Biofuels Bioproducts & Biorefining-Biofpr **1**:119-134.
- Kauri, T., and D. J. Kushner. 1985. Role of contact in bacterial degradation of cellulose. Federation of European Microbiological Society Microbiology Ecology 31:301-306.

- 22. **Khanna, S.** 1993. Glucose uptake by *Cellulomonas fimi*. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology **9:**559-561.
- 23. **Kim, B. H., and J. W. T. Wimpenny.** 1981. SCP production from domestic refuse paper fractions using the cellulolytic bacterium *Cellulomonas flavigena*. Journal of Fermentation Technology **59:**275-280.
- 24. **Kristensen, T. P.** 1978. Continuous single cell protein production from *Cellulomonas* sp. and *Candida utilis* grown in mixture on barley straw. European Journal of Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology **5**:155-163.
- 25. Lamed, R., J. Naimark, E. Morgenstern, and E. A. Bayer. 1987. Specialized cell surface structures in cellulolytic bacteria. Journal of bacteriology **169:**3792-3800.
- 26. Larsen, N., M. Boye, H. Siegumfeldt, and M. Jakobsen. 2006. Differential expression of proteins and genes in the lag phase of Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis grown in synthetic medium and reconstituted skim milk. Applied and environmental microbiology **72**:1173-1179.
- 27. Lau, M. W., B. E. Dale, and V. Balan. 2008. Ethanolic fermentation of hydrolysates from ammonia fiber expansion (AFEX) treated corn stover and distillers grain without detoxification and external nutrient supplementation. Biotechnology and bioengineering **99**:529-539.
- 28. **Leschine, S. B.** 1995. Cellulose degradation in anaerobic environments. Annual Review in Microbiology **49:**399-426.
- 29. Luo, L., E. van der Voet, and G. Huppes. 2009. An energy analysis of ethanol from cellulosic feedstock-Corn stover. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 13:2003-2011.
- Lynd, L. R., M. S. Laser, D. Brandsby, B. E. Dale, B. Davison, R. Hamilton, M. Himmel, M. Keller, J. D. McMillan, J. Sheehan, and C. E. Wyman. 2008. How biotech can transform biofuels. Nature biotechnology 26:169-172.
- 31. Lynd, L. R., W. H. van Zyl, J. E. McBride, and M. Laser. 2005. Consolidated bioprocessing of cellulosic biomass: an update. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 16:577-583.
- 32. Lynd, L. R., P. J. Weimer, W. H. van Zyl, and I. S. Pretorius. 2002. Microbial cellulose utilization: fundamentals and biotechnology. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Review **66:**506-577.
- 33. McInerney, M. J., J. R. Sieber, and R. P. Gunsalus. 2009. Syntrophy in anaerobic global carbon cycles. Current Opinion in Biotechnology **20**:623-632.

- 34. McInerney, M. J., C. G. Struchtemeyer, J. Sieber, H. Mouttaki, A. J. M. Stams, B. Schink, L. Rohlin, and R. P. Gunsalus. 2008. Physiology, ecology, phylogeny, and genomics of microorganisms capable of syntrophic metabolism, p. 58-72. *In* J. Wiegel, R. J. Maier, and M. W. W. Adams (ed.), Incredible Anaerobes: from Physiology to Genomics to Fuels, vol. 1125.
- Montes-Horcasitas, C., R. Ruiz-Medrano, I. Magana-Plaza, L. G. Silva, A. Herrera-Martinez, L. Hernandez-Montalvo, and B. Xoconostle-Cazares.
 2004. Efficient transformation of Cellulomonas flavigena by electroporation and conjugation with Bacillus thuringiensis. Current Microbiology 49:428-432.
- Mosier, N., C. Wyman, B. Dale, R. Elander, Y. Y. Lee, M. Holtzapple, and M. Ladisch. 2005. Features of promising technologies for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass. Bioresource technology 96:673-686.
- Osman, Y. A., and L. O. Ingram. 1987. *Zymomonas mobilis* Mutants with an Increased Rate of Alcohol Production. Applied and environmental microbiology 53:1425-1432.
- 38. **Panagiotou, G., and L. Olsson.** 2007. Effect of compounds released during pretreatment of wheat straw on microbial growth and enzymatic hydrolysis rates. Biotechnology and bioengineering **96:**250-258.
- 39. **Poulsen, O. M., and L. W. Petersen.** 1989. Electrophoretic and enzymatic studies on the crude extracellular enzyme system of the cellulolytic bacterium Cellulomonas sp. ATCC 21399. Biotechnology and bioengineering **34:**59-64.
- 40. **Poulsen, O. M., and L. W. Petersen.** 1987. Purification of an extracellular cellulose-binding endoglucanase of Cellulomonas sp. ATCC 21399 by affinity chromatography on H(3)PO(4)-swollen cellulose. Biotechnology and bioengineering **29:**799-804.
- 41. **Sasaki, T., T. Tanaka, N. Nanbu, Y. Sato, and K. Kainuma.** 1979. Correlation between x-ray diffraction measurements of cellulose crystalline structure and the susceptibility to microbial cellulase. Biotechnology and bioengineering **21**:1031-1042.
- 42. Schimz, K. L., B. Broll, and B. John. 1983. Cellobiose phosphorylase (EC 2.4.1.20) of *Cellulomonas*: Occurence, induction, and its rold in cellobiose metabolism. Archives of microbiology **135**:241-249.
- 43. Schmer, M. R., K. P. Vogel, R. B. Mitchell, and R. K. Perrin. 2008. Net energy of cellulosic ethanol from switchgrass. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **105**:464-469.
- 44. **Schubert, C.** 2006. Can biofuels finally take center stage? Nature biotechnology **24**:777-784.

- 45. Sendich, E. N., M. Laser, S. Kim, H. Alizadeh, L. Laureano-Perez, B. Dale, and L. Lynd. 2008. Recent process improvements for the ammonia fiber expansion (AFEX) process and resulting reductions in minimum ethanol selling price. Bioresource technology **99**:8429-8435.
- 46. **Sluiter, A., B. Hames, R. Ruiz, C. Scarlata, J. Sluiter, D. Templeton, and D. Crocker.** April, 2008. Determination of Structural Carbohydrates and Lignin in Biomass: Laboratory Analytical Procedure (LAP). National Renewable Energy Laboratory.
- 47. Sousa, L. D., S. P. S. Chundawat, V. Balan, and B. E. Dale. 2009. 'Cradle-tograve' assessment of existing lignocellulose pretreatment technologies. Current Opinion in Biotechnology **20**:339-347.
- 48. **Speers, A. M., and G. Reguera.** 2012. Consolidated Bioprocessing of AFEX-Pretreated Corn Stover to Ethanol and Hydrogen in a Microbial Electrolysis Cell. Environmental Science and Technology.
- 49. **Speers, A. M., and G. Reguera.** 2012. Electron donors supporting growth and electroactivity of *Geobacter sulfurreducens* anode biofilms. Applied Environmental Microbiology **78:**437-444.
- 50. **Stackebrandt, E., and R. M. Keddie.** 1986. Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology, vol. 2. Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore London Los Angelos Sydney.
- 51. **Stackebrandt, E., P. Schumann, and H. Prauser.** 2006. The Family Cellulomonadaceae. Prokaryotes: a Handbook on the Biology of Bacteria, Vol 3, Third Edition: Archaea. Bacteria: Firmicutes, Actinomycetes:983-1001.
- 52. **Stoppok, W., P. Rapp, and F. Wagner.** 1982. Formation, Location, and Regulation of Endo-1,4-beta-Glucanases and beta-Glucosidases from Cellulomonas uda. Applied and environmental microbiology **44:**44-53.
- 53. **Teymouri, F., L. Laureano-Perez, H. Alizadeh, and B. E. Dale.** 2005. Optimization of the ammonia fiber explosion (AFEX) treatment parameters for enzymatic hydrolysis of corn stover. Bioresource technology **96**:2014-2018.
- 54. **Thayer, D. W., S. V. Lowther, and J. G. Phillips.** 1984. Cellulolytic activities of strains of the genus *Cellulomonas*. International journal of systematic bacteriology **34:**432-438.
- 55. Vladuttalor, M., T. Kauri, and D. J. Kushner. 1986. Effects of cellulose on growth, enzyme production, and ultrastructure of a *Cellulomonas* species. Archives of microbiology **144**:191-195.

- 56. Weil, J., P. Westgate, K. Kohlmann, and M. R. Ladisch. 1994. Cellulose pretreatments of lignocellulosic substrates. Enzyme and Microbial Technology **16**:1002-1004.
- Wyman, C. E., B. E. Dale, R. T. Elander, M. Holtzapple, M. R. Ladisch, and Y. Y. Lee. 2005. Coordinated development of leading biomass pretreatment technologies. Bioresource technology 96:1959-1966.
- 58. **Young, J. M., S. B. Leschine, and G. Reguera.** 2012. Reversible control of biofilm formation by Cellulomonas spp. in response to nitrogen availability. Environmental microbiology **14:**594-604.

Chapter 4

Fermentation of glycerol into ethanol and simultaneous hydrogen production in microbial electrolysis cells

The material presented in this chapter was generated through equal collaboration with Allison M. Speers. All experiments were a joint effort except for adaptive evolution experiments with *Clostridium cellobioparum*, which were performed by J.M.Y., and adaptive evolutions experiments with *Geobacter sulfurreducens*, which were performed by A.M.S.

4.1 ABSTRACT

Biodiesel is a promising alternative to petroleum-based transportation fuels as it is chemically analogous to petrodiesel and can be used in compression engines and distributed using the existing infrastructure. However, its production results in large amounts of glycerol-containing wastewater, the treatment of which is an economic liability for the industry. The 'in situ' generation of enhanced-value co-products from crude glycerin has been identified as a promising step to simultaneously reduce the cost of biodiesel production and generate additional revenue for the industry through product diversification. Consequently, we developed a microbial consortium for the conversion of glycerol into ethanol and H₂ in a type of bioelectrochemical system (BES) called a microbial electrolysis cell (MEC). The ethanol can be recycled as a feedstock for the transesterification reaction, whereas the fermentative and cathodic hydrogen can be used to partially offset the energy needs of the biodiesel plant. The platform consists of a glycerol-fermenting bacterium, Clostridium cellobioparum, and the excelectrogen Geobacter sulfurreducens. C. cellobioparum ferments glycerol into ethanol and other fermentative byproducts including lactate, acetate, formate, and H₂. G. sulfurreducens converts the fermentative byproducts into hydrogen in the MEC, thereby reducing feedback inhibition and improving glycerol fermentation. Both organisms were adaptively evolved for tolerance to industrially relevant glycerol concentrations (10%) w/v). Co-cultivation of the evolved strains stimulated microbial growth, glycerol consumption, ethanologenesis and the conversion of fermentative byproducts into cathodic H₂ in the MEC with 10% (w/v) glycerol. Additionally, a metabolic shift in

fermentation from ethanol to 1,3-propanediol was observed compared to batch monocultures of *C. cellobioparum*. Optimization of the platform by increasing the buffering capacity of the media and removal of fermentative H₂ and CO₂ resulted in glycerol consumption near 50 g/L, making this an attractive platform for the pretreatment of glycerol-containing wastewater.

4.2 INTRODUCTION

Global energy use and environmental concerns have led to the development of renewable energy sources, in particular those that can replace liquid transportation fuels. The transportation sector accounts for 60% of oil consumption globally each year and is estimated to increase 1.8% per year. This would result in depletion of petroleum reserves in the next century (1). Biodiesel is an attractive alternative fuel as it is derived from renewable resources and can be used in the existing infrastructure either alone or blended with petrodiesel fuel (35).

As an alternative to petrodiesel, biodiesel has several beneficial characteristics including a higher lubricity which reduces long-term engine wear (11, 27), as well as lower emissions of sulfates, carbon monoxide, particulates, hydrocarbons, and aromatic compounds (13, 48). Biodiesel has a lower toxicity, higher biodegradability (13, 15, 48), and a higher flash point enabling it to be classified as a non-hazardous fuel (51). As a promising biofuel, biodiesel has a high cetane rating in the range of 45-70 (51) which reflects a lower ignition point following fuel injection (1) and a higher energy content compared to a competing fuel alternative, ethanol (13). Additionally, burning biodiesel contributes only small amounts of net atmospheric CO_2 due to the closed loop of the

 CO_2 cycle (35). However, there are some challenges to biodiesel usage, including poor cold fuel properties (pour point and cloud point) that limit usability especially in winter months (51), a heat of combustion that is 93.4% lower than conventional diesel, higher emissions of nitrogen oxides (NO_X), and faster fuel degradation by both oxidation and microbial contamination (51). If biodiesel blends above 20% are used, engine modifications are required to facilitate fuel injections due to the 10-15 times higher viscosity of the biodiesel (1, 15), as well to prevent corrosion (51).

Biodiesel is produced from triacylglycerides, an energy rich form of reduced carbon that is very abundant and renewable (i.e. produced using energy from the sun). Triacylglycerol feedstocks include a wide variety of edible and non-edible plant oils, animal fats, and microbe-derived oils (1). As feedstock cost represents at least 75% of biodiesel production costs, inexpensive and productive sources will be essential for the economic sustainability of the biodiesel industry (33). Microalgae have potential to become the next generation feedstock for biodiesel production, due to their efficient conversion of solar energy to biomass (57) and projected oil yields per land area $(58,700-136,900 \text{ L} \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ year}^{-1})$, which are higher than for any other feedstock (1). They can grow with low nutrient input and in saline or harsh conditions, and they do not compete with food crops for land (57). Currently, economic challenges limit the potential to scale up microalgae production, as the energy inputs to assure robust growth rates and oil yields need to be reduced (40). If these challenges are overcome, microalgal oils are likely to be the feedstock with the greatest potential to supply the global biodiesel supply chain (1).

Triacylglycerides have three fatty acid chains (18-16 carbons in length) esterified to glycerol. They are too viscous to use directly as a fuel, and therefore need to be converted into the less viscous fatty acid esters via transesterification (Fig 4.1). The transesterification process occurs with an alcohol, usually methanol or ethanol, and a catalyst to produce fatty acid methyl/ethyl esters (FAMEs and FAEEs) (13). Using ethanol as the alcohol feedstock for transesterification has many benefits. FAEEs eliminate dependence on non-renewable energy as methanol is produced from natural gas derived from fossil fuels while ethanol is made from renewable sources (corn, sugarcane, lignocellulose) (42). Other benefits of FAEE include higher cetane number and energy content (as FAEEs have one more carbon per molecule than FAMEs), lower density, pour point, and cloud point (improving handling and transportation efficiencies), and lower NO_x emissions (42). Furthermore, evidence also shows that FAEEs may store better than FAMEs as they are more resistant to oxidation, light, temperatures, and metals (42).



Figure 4.1: Transesterification reaction of triacylglycerides and alcohol to produce either fatty acid methyl esters (R, CH₃) or fatty acid ethyl esters (R, CH₃CH₂). Adapted from (5).

In addition to biodiesel (fatty acid esters), the transesterification process also yields 10 lb of glycerol for every 100 lb of biodiesel generated (61). To meet international standards of fuel quality the glycerol must be thoroughly removed from the biodiesel (1). The density difference between glycerol and biodiesel allows for their separation after centrifugation. The separation from glycerol is improved and almost complete when FAMEs rather than FAEEs are used (5). Water at pH 4.5 is often added to the crude biodiesel to improve the phase separation and remove additional contaminants such as residual catalyst and alcohol, unreacted mono-, di-, and triglycerides, and soaps (20). The biodiesel undergoes one more round of centrifugation to separate the water and is then vacuum dried until the final moisture content is below

0.050% (v/v) (20). Glycerol waste streams contain on average 10% glycerol and 5% alcohol, and require treatment prior to disposal. Soaps are converted to free fatty acids by hydrochloric acid treatment, which are then removed by centrifugation and disposed of as sewage. The waste stream is then neutralized and distilled to recover residual alcohol for reuse in the transesterification reaction (20). The resultant crude glycerol is partially purified to 80% (w/v) by distillation and sold to commercial refineries for further treatment. However, as biodiesel production has increased, the glycerol byproduct has become an environmental and economic liability (14, 26). Between 2000 and 2010, the global production of biodiesel increased 22-fold (56), dropping the price of glycerol from US \$0.20-0.25 per pound in 2004 to US \$0.06-\$0.011 per pound in 2012 (36, 61). This has mostly impacted small and medium scale producers as profit margins decrease with the added cost of waste disposal and loss of byproduct revenue (20, 61).

While glycerol has value in the food, cosmetic and pharmaceutical industries (38), the combination of the glut caused by the biodiesel industry and the high cost of processing and purification of crude glycerol from biodiesel waste streams (20, 61) creates the need for alternative uses. Recent research has therefore focused on finding uses for crude glycerol, which will both remove glycerol from the waste stream and provide added value to the biodiesel refineries. The reduced nature of glycerol compared to other sugars also makes an attractive substrate for microbial conversion into value added products such as ethanol or 1,3-propanediol (Fig. 4.2; (45, 61)). Several organisms have been identified that can ferment glycerol including several species of Klebsiella. Bacillus. Clostridium. Lactobacillus, Enterobacter. Propionibacteria and Citrobacter (2, 3, 12, 21, 23, 34, 37, 39, 44, 54). However, many of

these bacteria are also classified as opportunistic pathogens, which greatly limits their practical applications. E. aerogenes (44) and B. subtilis (37) have been shown to couple the degradation of low concentrations of glycerol (1% and 0.1%, respectively) with current production in microbial electrolysis cells (MECs), however coulombic efficiencies were low. In the case of *E. aerogenes*, current production from crude glycerol was enabled by the addition of a mediator, thionine. However, this approach increases the cost of MEC operation and makes large scale flow-through system difficult to attain. In another MEC platform, Shewanella oneidensis was genetically engineered to convert glycerol to ethanol by knocking out the native phosphate acetyltransferase gene and heterologously expressing four *E. coli* genes for glycerol consumption and two ethanol production genes from Zymomonas mobilis (17). The fermentation proceeded with stoichiometric conversion of glycerol to ethanol and acetate in the presence of a poised electrode, which was required to consume the excess reducing power of the fermentation. However, low (ca. 0.5% w/v) concentrations of pure glycerol were used in this study and antibiotic supplementation was required to maintain the expression vectors (17). Similarly, an adaptively-evolved strain of G. sulfurreducens carrying a single point mutation in a transcriptional regulator was able to convert glycerol into electricity in a microbial fuel cell (MFC), yet concentrations of glycerol processed by the exoelectrogen were even lower (0.05% w/v) (29). BECs driven by naturally-established microbial communities have been reported, to partially recover energy from glycerolcontaining wastewaters. However, power densities were still low and the efficiency of glycerol removal was never assessed (9). All glycerol-fermenting species are able to consume the excess reducing equivalents by reducing glycerol to 1,3-propanediol (Fig.

4.2), which is a valuable precursor to a new formulation of polyester (polypropylene terephthalate) as well as biodegradable plastics (19, 45). *Clostridium acetobutylicum* for example, while unable to ferment glycerol naturally, was engineered to produce 1,3-propanediol through the introduction of genes from *Clostridium butyricum*, the resulting strain was able to consume ca. 6% (w/v) glycerol and produce primarily 1,3-propanediol (molar yield of 0.64), yet lactate, acetate, formate, butyrate and H₂ were produced as waste products (19).

The waste products that are made during glycerol fermentations for ethanol and propanediol (Fig. 4.2) can act as feedback inhibitors and/or acidify the fermentation broth, thus inhibiting cell growth. As a result, extensive genetic engineering is often required to reroute the native metabolisms. For example, the efficient conversion of glycerol into ethanol by E. coli required nine gene knockout mutations to reduce the cell's central metabolism from over 15,000 possible pathways to a total of 28 glycerolutilizing pathways and adaptive evolution was still needed to divert the metabolic flux towards ethanol production (54). Some of the waste products are coproduced to maintain the cell's redox balance and therefore cannot be eliminated by genetic engineering and must be otherwise removed to prevent inhibition of cell growth and fermentation. H₂, for example, is produced by *Clostridium cellobioparum* concomitantly to ethanol during fermentation (Fig. 4.2) and is a potent feedback inhibitor of growth (8). However, feedback inhibition can be alleviated and growth and fermentation stimulated by cocultivating C. cellobioparum with the methanogen Methanobacterium ruminantium, which removes the H_2 and converts it into methane (8).

In this chapter, a coculture approach is described in which *C. cellobioparum*, a robust glycerol-fermenting bacterium, is cocultured with the exoelectrogen *G. sulfurreducens* in a microbial electrolysis cell (MEC). *G. sulfurreducens* converted the waste fermentation byproducts into electricity, which was electrochemically converted into cathodic H_2 . This allowed for the energy in the waste products to be recovered as ethanol feedstock and H_2 and also stimulated glycerol consumption and fermentation by *C. cellobioparum*.



Figure 4.2: The fermentative metabolism of glycerol into ethanol and 1,3-propanediol and the associated fermentative byproducts. Adapted from (2, 31, 43, 61).

4.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.3.1 Bacterial strains and culture conditions

Geobacter sulfurreducens PCA was routinely cultured at 30°C in anaerobic minimal medium (DB medium; (50)) with 20 mM acetate and 40 mM fumarate (DB-AF). Ethanologenic, cellulolytic strains from our culture collection (Table 4.1) were routinely grown at 35°C in anaerobic GS2 medium (6) supplemented with 0.2% cellobiose (GS2-CB) or glycerol (GS2-glycerol). When indicated, 3-(N-morpholino)propanesulfonic acid (MOPS) was omitted from the media (GS3 medium).

4.3.2 Screening of fermentative strains for glycerol consumption

Ethanologenic strains from our culture collection (Table 4.1) were screened for their ability to produce ethanol from glycerol at 35° C in anaerobic GS2 medium supplemented with 0.25% (w/v) glycerol. Cultures were grown anaerobically in GS2-CB before inoculating to an initial optical density at 660 nm (OD₆₆₀) of 0.04 into triplicate tubes with 10 ml GS2-glycerol medium. Growth was monitored spectrophotometrically (OD₆₀₀) every 12 h.

4.3.3 Batch cultures of C. cellobioparum and G. sulfurreducens

Late-exponential phase cultures of *G. sulfurreducens* and *C. cellobioparum* grown anaerobically at 30°C in DB-AF and GS2-CB media, respectively, were inoculated to an initial OD_{660} of 0.02 in the same (coculture) or separate (monoculture) tubes containing 10 ml GS2 medium supplemented with 0.25% (w/v) glycerol and 40 mM fumarate.

Control monocultures of *G. sulfurreducens* and *C. cellobioparum* were also prepared in GS2 medium without glycerol to account for any growth from the yeast extract present in the medium or from nutrients carried over in the inoculum. Controls of *G. sulfurreducens* in DB-AF with and without 0.25% (w/v) glycerol were also included. All cultures were incubated at 30°C and growth (OD₆₆₀) was monitored every 6 h.

4.3.4 Alcohol tolerance of C. cellobioparum and G. sulfurreducens

Late-exponential phase cultures of wild-type *C. cellobioparum* and *G. sulfurreducens* grown anaerobically at 30°C in GS3-CB and DB-AF media, respectively, were inoculated to an initial OD_{660} of 0.02 in the same (coculture) or separate (monoculture) tubes with 10 ml GS3 medium containing 40 mM fumarate in the presence of glycerol (concentrations ranging from 0 and 10% (w/v)) or ethanol (concentrations between 0 and 5% (v/v)). The cultures were incubated at 30°C and growth was monitored every 12 h.

4.3.5 Adaptive evolution of *C. cellobioparum*

A glycerol-tolerant strain of *C. cellobioparum* was evolved through serial transfers of stationary phase cultures in GS3 medium supplemented with increasing concentrations of glycerol, starting at 6.3% (w/v). The glycerol concentration was increased to 8.8% (w/v) glycerol and finally 10% (w/v) once the growth rate and *lag* time of the cultures had stabilized. After approximately 16 months, a culture was adapted that grew with 10% (w/v) glycerol and clonal representatives were isolated on solidified (1.4% agar) GS2-CB using roll tubes (22). Individual colonies were subcultured three times to insure

the purity of the clone. Five clones were tested for growth, glycerol consumption and fermentation product yields in medium with 10% (w/v) glycerol. The best performing strain was designated $CcelA_{10G}$ and its glycerol tolerance was assessed as described above.

4.3.6 Adaptive evolution of *G. sulfurreducens*

An ethanol-tolerant strain of *G. sulfurreducens* was evolved by serially transferring stationary phase cultures in DB-AF medium supplemented with increasing concentrations of ethanol (between 1 and 5% v/v). The strain was routinely transferred in the same concentration of ethanol at least seven times or until growth rates improved and stabilized, before increasing the ethanol concentration by 0.5% increments. Cultures adapted for growth at each ethanol concentration were routinely preserved at - 80°C in anaerobic vials containing 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). Once a culture was adapted that grew at 5% (v/v) ethanol after several transfers, clonal individuals were recovered as isolated colonies on solidified NBAF media (10) in an anaerobic glove bag (Coy Laboratory Products, Inc.). Ten colonies were subcultured three times to ensure purity and the one with the most robust growth in DB-AF medium with 5% (v/v) ethanol was designated GsulA_{5E} and was selected for further study. GsulA_{5E} was tested for tolerance to increasing concentrations of glycerol and ethanol, as described above.

4.3.7 MECs

Dual-chambered, H-type MECs were set up as described previously (50) and incubated at 30°C. They were autoclaved before the addition of 90 ml DB medium to the anode

and cathode chambers. The medium in the anode chamber was supplemented with 1 mM acetate. The reference electrode (3 M Ag/AgCl, Bioanalytical Systems Inc.) was sterilized in 70% ethanol for 1 min and rinsed with sterile water before being added to the anode chamber. Before inoculation, the anode electrode was poised at 0.24 V with a VSP potentiostat (BioLogic) and the chambers were sparged with filter-sterilized N₂:CO₂ (80:20) gas. Once the current was stabilized, the anode chamber was inoculated with 10 ml of a cell suspension of the wild-type (Gsul) or ethanol-tolerant (GsulA_{5E}) strain of *G. sulfurreducens* in DB medium. The cell suspension was prepared by harvesting cells from a 40% (v/v) volume of an early stationary-phase culture grown at 30°C in DB-AF by centrifugation (6,000 x g, 6 min, 25°C) under anaerobic conditions and washing them once before resuspending them in 10 ml DB medium.

Once all the acetate was consumed in the anode chamber (i.e., when the current declined to baseline level), the medium was replaced with GS3 medium containing 10% (w/v) glycerol, and the chamber was inoculated with *C. cellobioparum* (the wild-type Ccel or the adapted CcelA_{10G} strain). The Ccel or CcelA_{10G} cells were harvested anaerobically by centrifugation (6,000 x g, 6 min, 25°C) from a 40% (v/v) inoculum of late exponential-phase culture grown at 30°C in GS3-glycerol, washed once, and resuspended in 10 ml GS3-glycerol medium. The anode chamber was sparged briefly with N₂ following inoculation to ensure anaerobiosis, but no additional sparging was used to prevent the evaporation of fermentative ethanol. By contrast, the cathode chamber was sparged continuously with N₂:CO₂ (80:20) to prevent the crossover of H₂ into the anode chamber. The percent of cathodic H₂ recovered in the MEC system was

determined by discontinuing the sparging of the cathode chamber, sampling the headspace and analyzing the gas composition by gas chromatography (GC), as described below. Alternatively, other types of media were used in place of GS3-glycerol to test their effect on MEC performance. Where indicated, GS2-glycerol or GS3-glycerol supplemented with 200 mM phosphate buffer were used as media in the MECs to improve the buffering capacity of the medium in the anode chamber. Alternatively, anode chambers with GS2-glycerol medium were continuously sparged with N₂ to remove the fermentative H₂ and CO₂ and investigate the potential effect of feedback inhibition or medium acidification, respectively, on MEC performance.

Controls with GsulA_{5E} monocultures to test the glycerol tolerance in the MECs were performed as described above by first growing GsulA_{5E} anode biofilms in DB media containing 1 mM acetate. After current production declined, the medium was switched to fresh DB medium containing 1 mM acetate with and without 10% (w/v) glycerol. The anode supernatant was analyzed by high pressure liquid chromotrography (HPLC) as described below and the efficiency of acetate conversion into current (coulombic efficiency, CE) was calculated as the coulombs recovered divided by the total coulombs in the substrate (eq. 1).

$$CE = \frac{\int_{0}^{t} I \, dt}{8F \, \Delta A} \tag{1}$$

The integral of the current (*I*) over the duration of the experiment (*t*) is given in coulombs (A*s). The number 8 represents the number of moles of electrons in 1 mol of acetate, F

is Faraday's constant, and ΔA is the decrease of acetate (moles) over the duration of the experiment.

Controls with CcelA_{10G} monocultures were also grown in the MECs. CcelA_{10G} cells were harvested as described above and inoculated into MECs containing 90 ml GS3 medium and 10% glycerol. Where indicated, the anode electrode was poised at 0.24 V vs. Ag/AgCl and current production was monitored.

4.3.8 Energy recovery

Energy recovery η (%) for the MECs was calculated by dividing the energy outputs by energy inputs (59), as described in the following equation:

$$\eta = \frac{W_E + W_{HA} + W_{HC}}{(W_G)m_G + (W_A)m_A + W_P}$$
(2)

The energy outputs in eq. 2 included the amount of energy recovered as ethanol (W_E) , which was calculated as the heat of combustion of the ethanol produced (upper heating value 23.4 MJ/L; (47)), and the energy recovered as H₂ at the cathode (W_{HC} in eq 2) plus the energy recovered as fermentative H₂ in the anode (W_{HA}), which were determined using the heat of combustion of H₂ (upper heating value 285.83 kJ/mol; (7)). The recovery of cathodic H₂ from the system was calculated as the number of moles of H₂ measured in the headspace of the cathode chamber at the end of the experiment

divided by the maximum theoretical coulombic H₂ recovery (r_{CE}), which was obtained from the amount of current (*I*) produced in the MEC as follows:

$$r_{CE} = \frac{\int_0^t I \, dt}{2F} \tag{3}$$

Where *F* is Faraday's constant and 2 represents the number of moles of electrons per mol of H_2 (7).

The energy inputs in eq. 2 included the energy input from glycerol, which was determined by the heat of combustion of glycerol (W_G ; 17,961 J/g; (53)) multiplied by the mass of glycerol consumed over the duration of the experiment (m_G), and the energy input from acetate which was determined by the heat of combustion of the acetate (W_A ; 870.28 kJ/mol; (7)) multiplied by the moles of acetate (m_A) consumed over the duration of the experiment. The electricity input from the potentiostat to maintain the cell voltage (W_P in eq. 2) over the duration of the experiment (t) was calculated as:

$$W_P = \int_{t=0}^{t} I E dt \tag{4}$$

Where *I* is the measured current and *E* is the cell voltage (28). The applied potential of the cathode was measured with respect to a reference electrode (3 M Ag/AgCl, Bioanalytical Systems Inc.) inserted in the cathode chamber. The cell voltage was calculated as the difference between the measured cathodic potential and the applied potential at the anode electrode.

The energy recovery for the MFCs was calculated similarly (eq. 5), by taking into account the energy outputs from ethanol and fermentative H_2 as described above, as well as the power produced from the fuel cell (W_F) which is a product of the voltage and current over the duration of the experiment as seen in eq. 4. The energy inputs were from the amount of glycerol and acetate consumed over the duration of the experiment, as described above.

$$\eta = \frac{W_E + W_{HA} + W_F}{(W_G)m_G + (W_A)m_A}$$
(5)

The energy recovery from the *C. cellobioparum* fermentation was determined as seen in eq. 6 and took into account only the energy inputs from the glycerol consumed and the fermentative ethanol and H_2 produced.

$$\eta = \frac{W_E + W_{HA}}{(W_G)m_G} \tag{6}$$

4.3.9 Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy (CLSM)

Anode biofilms were examined by CLSM at the end of the MEC experiments as previously described (50), except that *G. sulfurreducens* (Gram negative) and *C. cellobioparum* (Gram positive) cells were differentially stained in green and red, respectively, with the BacLight Gram Stain Kit (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer's recommendations. The electrodes were imaged with an Olympus FluoView FV1000 inverted microscope (Olympus; Center Valley, PA) equipped with a PLAPON 120X oil immersion objective (Olympus; numerical aperture [NA], 1.42). The excitation

wavelength was 488 nm for both dyes. The emission spectra were detected with a BA505-525 band pass filter (SYTO 9, green) and a BA650IF long pass filter (hexidium iodide, red). Image stacks were collected every 0.4 μ m and image projections were generated using the FV10-ASW 3.0 software (Olympus).

4.3.10 Analytical techniques

At the end of each experiment when the cultures had reached stationary phase, the composition of the fermentation broth and the headspace atmosphere were analyzed by HPLC and GC, respectively. Alcohols and organic acids in culture supernatant fluids were measured by HPLC (Waters, Milford, MA) at 30°C, as previously described (32) except that samples were filtered with 0.45 μm syringe filters (National Scientific, Rockwood, TN) prior to analysis. GC analyses were performed in a Varian CP-4900 Micro Gas Chromatograph (Agilent, Santa Clara, CA). Where indicated the pH was also measured with an Orion Aplus pH meter (Thermo Electron, Beverly, MA).

4.4 RESULTS

4.4.1 Identification of a glycerol-fermenting ethanologenic strain

Seven ethanologenic strains from our laboratory culture collection grew in rich media containing 0.25% (w/v) glycerol at 35°C. Only C. cellobioparum coupled growth to the fermentation of glycerol to ethanol (Table 4.1), growing to an OD₆₆₀ of 0.37 \pm 0.01 (OD_{660}) , consuming 28.9 (± 0.7) mM glycerol (84.5 (± 2.0)% of the glycerol provided), and producing 31.3 (± 1.2 mM) ethanol as the main product of fermentation followed by acetate (19.7 \pm 0.8 mM), lactate (10.8 \pm 0.5 mM) and H₂ (7.7 \pm 0.2 mM). The amount of glycerol fermented corresponds well with the amount of ethanol produced (0.29.0.31 mmol). The maximum theoretical molar conversion of glycerol to ethanol is 1:1; therefore the high (more than 100%) fermentation yields from glycerol suggest that substrates available in the rich medium and/or carried over from the inoculum were also used for fermentation. In fact, the GS2 medium without glycerol supported the growth of C. cellobioparum to yields of 0.21 \pm 0.01 (OD₆₆₀) and production of ethanol (4.2 \pm 0.9 mM), acetate (3.9 \pm 1.7 mM), formate (1.9 \pm 1.5 mM), lactate (1.1 \pm 0.5 mM) and H₂ $(2.7 \pm 0.3 \text{ mM})$. Although glycerol was not efficiently consumed by the other strains tested, they still grew in the GS2 medium (Table 4.1).

Strain (designation)	Glycerol consumed (mM)	Ethanol produced (mM)	Growth rate (d ⁻¹) ^b
Cellulomonas uda (ATCC 21399)	0.9 (± 1.5)	6.0 (± 1.1)	1.5 (± 0.1)
<i>Cellulomonas biazotea</i> (ATCC 486)	1.8 (± 1.5)	4.8 (± 0.5)	1.0 (± 0.1)
<i>Cellulosimicrobium cartae</i> (ATCC 21681)	0.3 (± 0.3)	5.1 (± 0.3)	1.8 (± 0.1)
Cellulomonas gelida (ATCC 488)	0.4 (± 0.5)	2.7 (± 0.8)	1.7 (± 0.1)
Clostridium cellobioparum (ATCC 15832)	28.9 (± 0.7)	31.2 (± 2.7)	1.5 (± 0.1)
Cellulosilyticum lentocellum (ATCC 27405)	0.6 (± 0.9)	0.8 (± 0.4)	14.7 (± 1.4)
Clostridium papyrosolvens (NCIMB 11394)	0.7 (± 0.7)	2.1 (± 1.1)	5.3 (± 0.2)

 Table 4.1: Screening of fermentative strains for glycerol consumption.^a

^{*a*} Shown are averages and, in parentheses, standard deviations of three replicates.

^b Determined by optical density at 660 nm of planktonic growth.

4.4.2 Syntrophic growth of *G. sulfurreducens* and *C. cellobioparum* in batch cultures with fumarate as the electron acceptor

The syntrophic growth of C. cellobioparum and G. sulfurreducens was investigated in batch cultures grown at 30°C in GS2-glycerol supplemented with fumarate to serve as the terminal electron acceptor for G. sulfurreducens (Fig. 4.3A). Monocultures of C. cellobioparum in medium with and without glycerol, and monocultures of G. sulfurreducens in medium with glycerol were included as controls (Fig. 4.3A). A small amount of growth (OD₆₆₀, 0.22) was also seen in C. cellobioparum monocultures without glycerol (Fig. 4.3A), suggesting that growth was being sustained by the yeast extract or carryover from the inoculum. Consistent with this, small amounts of fermentation products were also detected (Fig. 4.3B; ethanol, 1.1 ± 0.6 mM; lactate, 0.5 ± 0.01 mM; acetate, 3.6 ± 0.3 mM; formate, 1.2 ± 0.2 mM; H₂, 3.0 ± 0.6 mM; CO₂, 1.1 ± 0.2 mM). The basal GS2 medium with glycerol and fumarate was unable to support high growth yields for G. sulfurreducens (OD₆₆₀, 0.15) and glycerol was not consumed. Furthermore, fermentation products were not detected in the culture broth. C. cellobioparum monocultures were able to couple glycerol fermentation to growth and reached higher yields (OD₆₆₀, 0.47) (Fig 4.3A). The C. cellobioparum monoculture consumed 22.7 \pm 0.6 mM glycerol (82.8 (\pm 2.3)% of the glycerol provided) and produced ethanol ($30.3 \pm 1.2 \text{ mM}$), lactate ($15.6 \pm 0.9 \text{ mM}$), acetate ($10.2 \pm 0.8 \text{ mM}$), formate (2.4 \pm 2.3 mM), H₂ (7.4 \pm 0.4 mM) and CO₂ (3.1 \pm 0.3 mM) (Fig 4.3B). In the coculture, 23.5 \pm 0.4 mM glycerol was consumed (85.8 (\pm 1.5)% of the glycerol provided). Coculture supernatants contained ethanol (26.6 ± 2.6 mM) and lactate (14.5 ± 1.1 mM), while no

acetate or formate were detected (Fig. 4.3B). H₂ concentrations in the headspace decreased (1.4 \pm 0.2 mM) and CO₂ production increased (4.3 \pm 0.2 mM) in the coculture compared to the *C. cellobioparum* monoculture. The observed consumption of the preferred electron donors for *G. sulfurreducens* (acetate, formate, and H₂) coupled with the stimulated growth yields (OD₆₆₀, 1.2; Fig. 4.3A), correlates well with the increases in CO₂ production observed in the cocultures (Fig. 4.3B). Furthermore, we also measured 1.3-fold increases in growth rates in the coculture (2.3 \pm 0.1 d⁻¹) compared with the *C. cellobioparum* monoculture (1.7 \pm 0.1 d⁻¹), consistent with the stimulation of growth when the two strains are growing syntrophically. The growth of *G. sulfurreducens* was unaffected by the addition of 0.25% (w/v) glycerol as growth rates were similar in GS2 with acetate and fumarate in the presence (2.4 \pm 0.1 d⁻¹) and absence (2.2 \pm 0.1 d⁻¹) of glycerol (data not shown).



Figure 4.3: Syntrophic growth of *G. sulfurreducens* and *C. cellobioparum* in batch cultures with glycerol and fumarate at 30°C. (A) Growth of the coculture (solid circles), and *C. cellobioparum* monocultures with glycerol (open triangles), *C. cellobioparum* monocultures without glycerol (solid triangles) and *G. sulfurreducens* monocultures (open squares). Growth was monitored as optical density at 660 nm (OD₆₆₀). (B) Glycerol fermentation products at the end of the experiment in *C. cellobioparum* monocultures with (Ccel) and without (Ccel*) glycerol and in the coculture (Ccel/Gsul).

4.4.3 Tolerance of wild-type strains to glycerol

The glycerol tolerance of wild-type C. cellobioparum was investigated in batch cultures incubated at 30°C with glycerol concentrations ranging from 0-10% (w/v) (Fig 4.4A). The growth rate increased 1.4-fold as glycerol concentrations increased from 0.25% to 1%, as more substrate was available for growth. Growth rates were ca. 79% of the maximum for cultures grown with glycerol concentrations between 3 and 7% and no growth was observed at 10% glycerol concentrations. The tolerance of the wild-type strain of G. sulfurreducens to increasing concentrations of glycerol was also investigated (Fig 4.4A). G. sulfurreducens tolerated up to 3% (w/v) glycerol concentrations with growth rates 81% of the maximum. At 5% glycerol concentrations the growth rates were 47% of the maximum and no growth was observed at 7% and 10% glycerol. The two strains were also cocultured with increasing concentrations of glycerol to investigate the glycerol tolerance of the coculture (Fig 4.4A). The highest growth rates were observed at glycerol concentrations of up to 3% and then declined to 69% of the maximum growth rate in cultures with 5% glycerol. No growth was observed at 7 and 10% glycerol. These results suggest that the G. sulfurreducens strain is more sensitive to glycerol than C. cellobioparum, and that the growth of G. sulfurreducens was the bottleneck that drove the growth of the coculture.



Figure 4.4: (A) Tolerance of wild-type *C. cellobioparum* (open triangles), *G. sulfurreducens* (open squares) and the coculture (closed circles) to increasing concentrations of glycerol. Error bars show standard deviations from three replicate cultures. (B) Current production of a sequentially inoculated MEC. *G. sulfurreducens* was inoculated first and supplemented with 1 mM acetate, the anode media was then exchanged (arrow) for GS3 media supplemented with 3.8% (w/v) glycerol and inoculated with *C. cellobioparum*. (C) Glycerol consumption and fermentation products from the MEC shown in panel B compared with a *C. cellobioparum* monoculture (Ccel) in 90 ml GS3-3.8% glycerol medium. Error bars show standard error of two replicates.
4.4.4 Fermentation of glycerol to ethanol in a MEC

We investigated the ability of the coculture of G. sulfurreducens and C. cellobioparum to couple the fermentation of glycerol with current production in a MEC. A sequential inoculation strategy was followed in which G. sulfurreducens was first inoculated in the MEC and supplemented with 1 mM acetate to provide optimal conditions for biofilm formation on the anode electrode (Fig. 4.4B). The current increased exponentially at a rate of 3.1 d⁻¹ and peaked at 0.8 mA after 42 h, before declining once the acetate was consumed. As the current reached baseline levels below 0.1 mA, the anode medium was replaced with GS3 containing 3.8% (w/v) glycerol, a concentration that supported robust growth of the coculture (Fig. 4.4A), and the anode medium was inoculated with C. cellobioparum (Fig. 4.4B). The current resumed immediately and peaked at 1.34 mA before declining to below 0.2 mA over a period of ca. 5 d and yielding a total of 3.4 mmol of electrons. As a monoculture control, we also grew C. cellobioparum into duplicate serum bottles containing 90 ml GS3-glycerol media, following the same procedure used to inoculate the anode chamber of the MEC. HPLC analysis of the culture supernatant fluids at the end of the experiment showed a nearly stoichiometric conversion of glycerol (94 \pm 14 mM) into ethanol (65 \pm 7 mM), lactate (25 \pm 1 mM) and acetate (11 \pm 2 mM), with the concomitant production of formate (30 \pm 4 mM), H₂ (17 \pm 1 mM) and CO₂ (7 \pm 0.2 mM) in the *C. cellobioparum* monoculture (Fig. 4.4C). Glycerol fermentation was stimulated 1.6-fold in the MEC driven by the coculture, with approximately 154 mM of glycerol being consumed. Ethanol production was also stimulated in the MEC (1.3-fold) and ethanol yields were 85 mM. The concentrations of acetate (5 mM), formate (12 mM), and H₂ (2 mM) were significantly lower (45, 40 and 12%, respectively) than in the monoculture, consistent with the removal by *G. sulfurreducens* of much of the waste fermentation products that could be used as electron donors. The concentration of lactate was only slightly lower (21 mM or 84%) than in the monocultures (Fig. 4.4C), in agreement with previous studies (50) that reported that lactate is not a good electron donor for *G. sulfurreducens*. The concentration of CO₂ (3.5 mM) was half of that measured in the monoculture. This was unexpected because both *C. cellobioparum* and *G. sulfurreducens* produce CO₂ during their metabolism and more CO₂ production is expected with increased glycerol fermentation. This reduction may however reflect limitations derived from the use of MECs, which are not tight seal systems and can leak some of the headspace gases during operation.

4.4.5 Adaptive evolution of *C. cellobioparum*

Adaptive evolution was used to increase the tolerance of *C. cellobioparum* to industrially-relevant glycerol loadings (10% w/v, Fig. 4.5). We had previously observed robust growth of the wild-type strain of *C. cellobioparum* up to 3% glycerol and slower growth at up to 7% concentrations (Fig. 4.4A). Consequently, adaptive evolution was initiated at glycerol loadings of 6.3%, where growth rates were diminished but growth was sustainable over many serial transfers. The strain was continually subcultured from stationary phase cells in order to take advantage of the higher mutation rates induced by the expression of the error-prone, stationary phase DNA polymerase IV, which lacks

5'-3' proofreading ability. The increased rates of mutation in the stationary phase cultures allowed us to select for strains with "growth advantage in stationary phase" (GASP) mutations (16). The strain was transferred in medium containing 6.3% glycerol for ca. 2 months. During this period of time, the cultures reached stationary phase faster (from 16 to 7 days) (Fig. 4.5A), as a result of decreases in the duration of the *lag* phase from 120 to 24 h (Fig. 4.5B), and increases in growth rates from 0.5 to 0.8 d⁻¹ (Fig. 4.5C). Furthermore, growth yields also increased 2-fold (from 0.40 to 0.81 OD₆₆₀ units) during the evolution experiment (Fig.4.5D).

The culture that was adapted to faster growth with 6.3% concentrations of glycerol was then transferred to cultures with 8.8% glycerol concentrations. After ca. 1 month the cultures recovered the growth rates ($0.9 d^{-1}$), reduced *lag* phases (24 h) and robustness (7 days from inoculation to stationary phase) of the 6.3% cultures while maintaining growth yields of 0.64 OD₆₆₀ units (Fig 4.5). The glycerol concentration was then increased to the industry target of 10%. Although the initial growth rates were lower ($0.7 d^{-1}$), they improved ($1.3 d^{-1}$) and were maintained stably after serial transfers for approximately 13 months (Fig. 4.5). At the end of the adaptive evolution experiment, the growth time to stationary phase was reduced to 4 days and the *lag* time to 12 h, whereas the growth yields increased to 0.93 (OD₆₆₀ units).

Following the adaptive evolution of *C. cellobioparum* for enhanced growth with glycerol, five single colonies were isolated in roll-tubes (22) and subcultured 3 times to ensure the purity of the strains. Each clonal culture was tested for growth, glycerol

consumption, and fermentation product yields on 10% (w/v) glycerol-containing media. The best performing strain grew at a rate of 1.1 d⁻¹, consumed 3.5% of the glycerol provided (or the equivalent of 37.9 ± 1.8 mM) and produced $39.5 (\pm 0.9)$ mM ethanol, 21.2 (\pm 1.8) mM formate, 5.5 (\pm 0.3) mM H₂ and 5.9 (\pm 0.4) mM CO₂. Interestingly, unlike the wild-type strain (Fig. 4.3B), no lactate or acetate was produced. Thus, the adapted strain had become optimized for stoichiometric ethanol production with the concomitant formation of formate, H₂ and CO₂. The strain was designated CcelA_{10G} and chosen for further studies.



Figure 4.5: Adaptive evolution of glycerol tolerance in *C. cellobioparum*. Points shown are representative transfers at approximately 2-month intervals of the adaptive evolution at 6.3% (w/v) glycerol, 8.8% (w/v) glycerol and 10% (w/v) glycerol. (A) Time the cultures took to grow to stationary phase; (B) duration of the *lag* phase; growth rate (C) and growth yield (D) determined from OD₆₆₀ of planktonic growth.

4.4.6 Adaptive evolution of G. sulfurreducens

Adaptive evolution was also used to improve the tolerance of G. sulfurreducens to high concentrations of alcohol. As G. sulfurreducens would be exposed to high ethanol concentrations during coculture with C. cellobioparum, and because an ethanol-tolerant G. sulfurreducens strain would also be a valuable component of the consolidated bioprocessing platform described in Chapter 3, ethanol tolerance was the first goal of the adaptive evolution. The tolerance of the wild-type strain to ethanol was investigated with increasing concentrations of ethanol from 0 to 5% (v/v) (Fig. 4.6A). Growth rates decreased dramatically to 37% of the maximum as ethanol concentrations increased from 0 to 1%, and continued to decline steadily until reaching the inhibitory concentration of 5%, where no growth was observed. The adaptive evolution experiment was therefore started at 1% ethanol loading. The strain was continually transferred from cells in stationary phase cultures to take advantage of GASP mutations as described above for C. cellobioparum. Cultures were serially transferred a minimum of 7 times at any given concentration of ethanol before transferring it to cultures 0.5% higher concentrations of ethanol. After approximately 10 months, the strain was able to stably sustain growth in media containing 5% ethanol. At this point, the cultures were plated in solidified medium in an anaerobic glove bag to isolate individual colonies. Ten colonies were subcultured three times to ensure that they came from a monoclonal population. The ten strains were then grown in the presence and absence of ethanol to identify the strain with the most robust growth. Interestingly, two growth phenotypes were observed for the clonal variants: three of the strains grew planktonically whereas the remaining seven strains grew as microcolonies attached to the walls of the glass

tubes (Fig 4.6B). The strain with the highest growth rate in the presence (0.6 d^{-1}) and absence (4.7 d^{-1}) of ethanol (GsulA_{5E}) was among those that grew planktonically and was chosen for further studies. Ethanol concentrations in the cultures of GsulA_{5E} grown with acetate and fumarate did not decrease during the course of the experiment (data not shown), indicating that ethanol was not being used as a source of carbon or as an electron donor by GsulA_{5E}.

GsulA_{5E} was tested for ethanol tolerance at varying concentrations (0-6%) as described above for the wild-type strain (Fig. 4.6A). Interestingly, the growth rate of the adapted strain in the absence of ethanol was 1.3-fold higher compared to the wild-type strain (Fig. 4.6A), although the growth yields were lower (0.62 \pm 0.01, OD₆₆₀) than the wild-type strain (0.74 \pm 0.02, OD₆₆₀). Although the growth rates at 2 and 3% ethanol concentrations were 63 and 45%, respectively, of the maximum, they were 4-fold higher than the wild-type strain rates at the same ethanol concentrations (Fig. 4.6A). The growth yields of the GsulA_{5E} at 2% ethanol (0.47 \pm 0.02, OD₆₆₀) were similar to those of the wild-type (0.48 \pm 0.02, OD₆₆₀), but higher (0.46 \pm 0.01, OD₆₆₀) than the wild-type strain (0.33 ± 0.02, OD₆₆₀) at 3% concentrations. And while the wild-type strain growth was inhibited at 5% concentrations of ethanol, the adapted strain grew with both 5% $(0.38 \pm 0.02, OD_{660})$ and even 6% ethanol, although with reduced yields $(0.19 \pm 0.04,$ OD₆₆₀).



Figure 4.6: (A) Tolerance of wild-type *G. sulfurreducens* (solid symbols) and the ethanol-adapted strain (GsulA_{5E}, open symbols) to increasing concentrations of ethanol. (B) Growth phenotypes obtained from the adaptive evolution of *G. sulfurreducens* for ethanol tolerance. Three strains grew planktonically (left image) while seven grew as microcolonies (right image).

4.4.7 Glycerol tolerance of GsulA_{5E} and CcelA_{10G}

It was hypothesized that the ethanol-adapted strain GsulA_{5E} would display a nonspecific tolerance to other alcohols, including glycerol. The tolerance was tested as described previously for the wild-type strain at glycerol concentrations between 0 and 10% (w/v) (Fig. 4.4A). The growth rate for GsulA_{5E} was similar to the wild-type at glycerol concentrations between 0 and 5%. At higher concentrations of glycerol, decreases in growth rate up to 61% of the maximum as glycerol concentrations were observed. At glycerol concentrations greater than 7%, the wild-type strain was unable to grow whereas GsulA5F was able to sustain growth rates greater than 39% of the maximum (Fig. 4.7A). CcelA_{10G} was also tested for glycerol tolerance. The growth rate of the adapted strain increased 2-fold as the glycerol concentration increased from 0.6% to 2.5%, and was constant at approximately 1.0 d⁻¹ between glycerol concentrations of 2.5% and 10% (Fig. 4.7A). This represents a significant improvement compared to the wild-type strain, which was unable to sustain growth at 10% glycerol loadings (Fig. 4.4A).

The adapted strains $GsulA_{5E}$ and $CcelA_{10G}$ were grown together at varying concentrations of glycerol to investigate the tolerance of the coculture to glycerol (Fig. 4.7A). The growth rates of both the wild-type coculture (Fig. 4.4A) and the adapted coculture increased 1.6-fold as concentrations of glycerol increased from approximately 0.5 to 3%. At 5% and above, the adapted coculture out-performed the wild-type coculture with growth rates that only decreased to 76% of the maximum at 10%

glycerol. Interestingly, the growth rate of the adapted coculture at 10% glycerol (1.5 \pm 0.1 d⁻¹, Fig. 4.7A) was higher than that of either the CcelA_{10G} or GsulA_{5E} monocultures (1.1 \pm 0.1 d⁻¹ and 0.9 \pm 0.1 d⁻¹, respectively), suggesting that the growth was stimulated by the synergistic action of the two strains. Consistent with this, glycerol consumption (Fig. 4.7B) and ethanol production (Fig. 4.7C) were both stimulated approximately 1.4-fold in the coculture compared with CcelA_{10G} monocultures when starting glycerol concentrations were high (i.e. greater than 5% w/v).

In addition to experiments in batch culture, the effect of 10% glycerol loadings on the GsulA_{5E} anode biofilms in MECs was investigated (Fig. 4.8). The anode biofilms were first grown with medium containing 1 mM acetate. When the acetate was depleted and the current declined to less than 0.1 mA, the medium in the anode was replaced with fresh medium containing 1 mM acetate with or without 10% glycerol. The current immediately resumed in all the fuel cells regardless of the presence of glycerol. While the MECs without glycerol reached a higher current (1.46 \pm 0.01 mA) than those with glycerol (1.12 \pm 0.02 mA), the coulombic efficiency for acetate conversion to current was similar in the presence (92 \pm 1%) or absence (88 \pm 2%) of glycerol. No glycerol was consumed over the duration of the experiment. These results indicate that the electronic efficiency of GsulA_{5E} anode biofilms is not inhibited by 10% glycerol loadings.



Figure 4.7: (A) Growth rates of CcelA_{10G} (open triangles), GsulA_{5E} (open squares) and the coculture of the adapted strains (solid circles) when grown in increasing concentrations of glycerol. (B-C) The amount of glycerol consumed (B) and ethanol produced (C) in the CcelA_{10G} monocultures (open triangles) and cocultures (solid circles) shown in (A). Error bars show standard deviations from three replicate cultures.



Figure 4.8: Tolerance of GsulA_{5E} in anode biofilms to glycerol in a MEC. GsulA_{5E} was initially grown with 1 mM acetate. When the acetate was consumed and the current declined, the media was replaced (arrow) with media containing 1 mM acetate (black lines, two replicate experiments shown) or 1 mM acetate and 10% (w/v) glycerol (gray lines, two replicate experiments shown).

4.4.8 MECs with 10% (w/v) glycerol loading

The adapted strains, $GsulA_{5E}$ and $CcelA_{10G}$, were shown to be tolerant to industrially relevant glycerol concentrations (10% w/v) and to syntrophically couple glycerol fermentation by $CcelA_{10G}$ with fumarate reduction by $GsulA_{5E}$ in batch cultures (Fig. 4.7A). We next investigated the ability of the coculture to couple the fermentation of 10% glycerol with current production in a MEC. As described previously, a sequential inoculation strategy was followed in which $GsulA_{5E}$ was first inoculated into the MEC

and supplemented with 1 mM acetate to provide optimal conditions for biofilm formation (Fig. 4.9A). The current increased exponentially at a rate of 6.9 (\pm 1.0) d⁻¹, peaked at 1.1 (\pm 0.2) mA after approximately 30 h, and then declined once the acetate was consumed. When the current was below 0.1 mA, the anode medium was replaced with GS3 containing 10% (w/v) glycerol, and the MEC anode was inoculated with CcelA_{10G} (Fig. 4.9A). Following inoculation with CcelA_{10G}, the current immediately resumed and peaked at 1.4 (\pm 0.2) mA before declining to below 0.2 mA over a period of ca. 3 days, producing 2.0 (± 0.2) mmol e (Fig. 4.9B). For comparison, CcelA_{10G} was grown as a monoculture in the MECs, however no current production was observed (not shown). At the end of the experiment, the anode electrode was removed from the MEC, stained with fluorescent dyes that differentially stain Gram positive (red) and Gram negative (green) cells, and imaged using confocal microscopy (Fig. 4.9C). Both red (CcelA_{10G}) and green (GsulA_{5E}) cells were visible on the anode electrode with the GsulA_{5E} positioned closer to the electrode and CcelA_{10G} forming a layer on top. While the anode culture broth was visibly turbid, a result of CcelA_{10G} growth, the close proximity of the cells on the anode electrode may be facilitating interspecies metabolite transfer.



Figure 4.9: Current production of sequentially inoculated MECs. (A) GsulA_{5E} was inoculated first and supplemented with 1 mM acetate (open circles), the medium was then exchanged (arrow) for GS3 (black line), GS2 (grey line), GS3 with 200 mM phosphate buffer (open triangles), or GS2 medium that was then sparged with N₂ over the duration of the experiment (open squares). All MECs were supplemented with 10% (w/v) glycerol and inoculated with CcelA_{10G}. (B) Current production following the inoculation of CcelA_{10G} into the MEC and the addition of 10% (w/v) glycerol. CcelA_{10G}

Figure 4.9 (cont'd) monocultures, Ccel; MECs sparged continuously with N₂; MECs with 200 mM phosphate buffer, P. (C) The anode biofilm shown in panel A (black line) was stained with the BacLight Gram Stain Kit (green, Gram negative, *G. sulfurreducens*; red, Gram positive, *C. cellobioparum*) and imaged with CLSM. Top view and corresponding projection in the *x* axis (bottom) is shown; scale bar, 10 μ m.

At the end of the MEC experiment when the current had declined below 0.1 mA, the composition of the anode supernatant was analyzed by HPLC and compared to CcelA_{10G} negative controls grown in GS2-10% glycerol medium in the MECs in the presence and absence of a poised anode electrode (Fig. 4.10B). Although less than 0.2 mmol e⁻ were produced from CcelA_{10G} grown with a poised electrode (Fig 4.9B), growth in the presence of the poised anode increased glycerol consumption 1.9-fold from 72.3 (\pm 18.8) mM to 140.5 (\pm 53.8) mM (Fig. 4.10A). Ethanol production also increased by 2.2-fold from 46.2 (\pm 10.1) mM to 101.8 (\pm 43.9) mM. This improved performance is accompanied with an increase in pH from 5.3 (\pm 0.4) to 5.7 (\pm 0.4) (Fig. 4.10A), although the cause of the pH increase is uncertain. Both CcelA_{10G} cultures grown in the MECs produced acetate and lactate which was unexpected as previous experiments with CcelA_{10G} grown in batch culture in 10 ml pressure tubes following the adapted evolution produced only ethanol, formate, H₂ and CO₂ produced.

Glycerol consumption was similar in the MEC with the CcelA_{10G} monoculture with a poised electrode and the MEC pregrown with GsulA_{5E} (151.6 \pm 10.4 mM; Fig. 4.10A) both in GS3. Interestingly, ethanol production decreased in the coculture (29.0 ± 2.8 mM) due to some of the carbon being shunted to the formation of 1,3-propanediol $(22.7 \pm 4.4 \text{ mM})$ and propionate $(7.7 \pm 1.0 \text{ mM})$, which were not produced in any of the CcelA_{10G} monocultures (Fig. 4.10B). The production of ethanol, acetate and lactate began immediately after inoculation of CcelA_{10G} into the anode chamber with GsulA_{5E}, while the production of propionate and 1,3-propanediol were first detected in the culture broth approximately 5 days after inoculation and at the same time as the ethanol production was reaching a plateau. This suggests that there was metabolic switch that diverted fluxes away from the production of ethanol and toward 1,3-propanediol and propionate (Fig. 4.2). The energy recoveries for the CcelA_{10G} monocultures were high (poised anode, $62.4 \pm 2.3\%$; unpoised anode, $57.6 \pm 3.2\%$) because approximately 68%of the glycerol was converted to ethanol. The energy recoveries in the MEC, calculated assuming cathodic H₂ recovery efficiencies of 72% as described previously (49), were lower (16 \pm 2%) because only ca. 19% of the glycerol consumed was recovered as ethanol. The energy recovered from the fermentation alone made up 15% (3.44 ± 0.22) kJ) of the energy recovered while cathodic H_2 production from the MEC contributed only 1% (0.27 ± 0.03 kJ).

Current production ceased in the MEC even though acetate, lactate, formate and H_2 remained in the anode chamber at the end of the experiment (Fig. 4.10B), indicating

that something was limiting the performance of the G. sulfurreducens anode biofilm. The pH of the MEC anode broth at the end of the experiment was $5.1 (\pm 0.1)$, which was substantially lower than that of the CcelA_{10G} monoculture (pH, 5.7 \pm 0.4). Because the thermodynamics of energy conversions at the anode are sensitive to pH changes (28, 37), we hypothesized that this had caused the drop in current production despite the abundance of electron donors available for G. sulfurreducens. Consequently, we repeated the MEC experiments and used MOPS-buffered GS2 with 10% glycerol to replace the medium in the anode chamber at the time of CcelA_{10G} inoculation (Fig. 4.9). As before, the current increased immediately upon inoculation of the CcelA_{10G}, peaking at 1.3 (± 0.1) mA before decreasing over a period of ca. 3 d to <0.2 mA. The pH of the anode broth at the end of the experiment (5.1 ± 0.2) was similar to that of the GS3 medium despite the additional buffering. This was possibly due to the increased accumulation of CO₂ in the anode chamber (26.0 ± 3.4 mM) compared with the GS3 MECs (8.0 \pm 0.4 mM), which, when dissolved into the medium, results in the production of carbonic acid. Likely as a consequence of the low pH, the predicted increase in current production was not observed (Fig. 4.9B). There was, however, a 1.3-fold increase in the amount of glycerol consumed (193.5 ± 7.1 mM), and a 2.2-fold increase in total fermentation products detected at the end of the experiment (Fig. 4.10). The percent of the glycerol consumed that was recovered as ethanol increased to ca. 30%; the energy recoveries also increased accordingly to 27% (± 2). As seen previously, the energy recoveries were primarily due to the fermentation (26%) with only a small contribution from the MEC (1%).

Because we suspected that CO₂ accumulation in the anode headspace resulted in the acidification of the medium, we repeated the MEC experiment with GS2 as described above, and following the inoculation of CcelA_{10G}, the anode and cathode media were sparged continuously with N₂ gas (Fig. 4.7). As before, the current immediately resumed upon inoculation of CcelA_{10G}, reaching ca. 0.8 mA, however it took an additional day for the current to reach a maximum of 1.1 (± 0.1) mA. This difference is likely due to the fact that hydrogen was removed from the anode vessel by sparging, and that it took some time for the CcelA_{10G} to start fermenting glycerol into products that could be used as electron donors by GsulA_{5E}. The current declined to ca. 0.2 mA over a period of 3.7 days and was maintained at ca. 0.2 mA for approximately 6 days. It was this sustained low level of current production that resulted in higher electron recoveries $(2.4 \pm 0.1 \text{ mmol e})$ (Fig. 4.9B) than were observed in either of the other MEC experiments. Removing the H₂ by sparging the anode did not decrease the current production, which indicates that G. sulfurreducens was preferentially using the organic acids as electron donors. However, lactate (5.8 ± 0.2 mM) and acetate (28.2 ± 5.9 mM) still remained in the anode supernatant at the end of the experiment and were not converted into current. As expected, removing CO_2 resulted in increased pH (6.0 ± 0.2, Fig. 4.10A) compared with MOPS-buffered medium alone (5.1 \pm 0.2). The glycerol consumed by CcelA_{10G} increased 2.4-fold compared with the unsparged GS2 MEC, and ca. 43% of the glycerol that was provided was removed (Fig. 4.10A). This increase

is likely due to the removal of H₂ as a feedback inhibitor of the fermentation (8). Correspondingly, 1.7-fold more fermentation products were detected at the end of the experiment, however this number does not include the H₂ and CO₂ that were produced, which were removed by sparging. Interestingly, formate was not detected at the end of the experiment. As H₂ and CO₂ are in equilibrium with formate through the action of formate dehydrogenase, their removal probably drove the reaction in the direction of H₂ and CO₂ production. Some formate may also have been removed by *G. sulfurreducens*. Approximately 40% of the glycerol consumed was recovered as ethanol (Fig. 4.10) or the equivalent of 187.8 (± 48.5) mM, although it is worth noting that this may be an underestimate of ethanol production because some ethanol may have evaporated during the sparging. Energy recoveries also increased compared with the GS2 medium without sparging to 34% (± 8); 33.6% was a result of the fermentation while 0.4% was from cathodic H₂ production in the MEC.



Figure 4.10: Glycerol consumed (bars in panel A), fermentation products produced (B) and final pH (line in panel A) measured at the end of the experiment in each of the MECs shown in Fig. 4.9A (N₂, MECs sparged continuously; P, MECs with 200 mM phosphate buffer). Monocultures of CcelA_{10G} grown in GS3 medium with 10% glycerol in MECs with (CcelA) and without (CcelA*) a poised anode electrode are shown for comparison.

MOPS buffer is a useful laboratory chemical that, because of its price, does not lend itself well to widespread industrial applications. We therefore tested the effectiveness of 200 mM phosphate buffered GS3 medium in the MECs (Fig. 4.9A). As seen previously, the current immediately resumed following the replacement of the medium and inoculation of CcelA_{10G}, however the maximum current production (ca. 0.77 mA) was only 60% of that seen in the MECs with standard GS3 medium (Fig 4.9A), suggesting that the phosphate buffer was detrimental to the G. sulfurreducens anode biofilm. Consistent with this, large amounts of electron donors (lactate, 2.2 mM; acetate, 37.8 mM; formate, 19.8 mM) remained in the supernatant after the current production stopped. Despite this difference, the total current production (ca. 2 mmol e) was similar to that of GS3 medium without the phosphate buffer (Fig. 4.9B). The pH of the anode medium at the end of the experiment (5.9) was similar to that of the MEC that was run with continuous sparging (Fig. 4.10A), demonstrating that the phosphate buffer was effective at counteracting the fermentative CO₂ production. Glycerol consumption was stimulated 3.5-fold compared to standard GS3 medium, and approximately 50% of the glycerol that was provided in the medium was consumed (Fig. 4.10A). 43% of the glycerol consumed was converted to ethanol and correspondingly the energy recovery increased to ca. 36%. Consistent with the poor conversion efficiency of the electron donors into current, only 0.2% of the energy recovery was due to the MEC.

4.5 DISCUSSION

In this chapter, we identify *C. cellobioparum* as a robust glycerol fermenting, ethanologen. Consumption of glycerol $(29 \pm 1 \text{ mM})$ matched ethanol production $(31 \pm 1 \text{ mM})$ corresponding to a 1:1 fermentation yield showing great potential as an industrial strain. *C. cellobioparum* is a cellulolytic strain within Cluster III of the *Clostridiaceae* family (60) later reclassified as *Ruminococcaceae* (30). To our knowledge, no other strain in this clade is able to ferment glycerol. *C. papyrosolvens*, another member of this cluster, was tested in this study and no glycerol fermentation was observed.

C. cellobioparum demonstrated robust growth at low concentrations of glycerol. Growth rates increased 1.4-fold as glycerol concentrations were increased from 0.25 to 1% (w/v) due to the additional substrate provided (Fig. 4.4A). However, as glycerol concentration increased (3%-7% (w/v)), growth was negatively affected (Fig. 4.4A), likely due to the increases in viscosity and osmotic pressure of the medium (58). The cell membrane is semi-permeable to glycerol, and at high concentrations, glycerol can also enter the cell and affect enzyme activity (58). No growth was observed at 10% (w/v) glycerol (Fig. 4.4A). As crude glycerol wastewater is generally at least 10% glycerol (w/v), *C. cellobioparum* was adaptively evolved on increasing concentrations of glycerol (Fig. 4.5). Over the course of 16 months, *C. cellobioparum* developed robust growth at 10% (w/v) glycerol. Overtime, growth rates and yields increased (Fig. 4.5C-D), while lag phase and duration of fermentation (time to stationary) decreased, resulting in a glycerol-tolerant strain (CcelA_{10G}) able to ferment industrially relevant glycerol loadings.

G. sulfurreducens was more sensitive than *C. cellobioparum* to glycerol, with growth rates decreasing dramatically at glycerol concentrations above 3.8% (w/v). Adaptive evolution of alcohol tolerance in *G. sulfurreducens* resulted in a strain tolerant to 5% (v/v) ethanol and 10% (w/v) glycerol (GsulA_{5E}), which could be grown in coculture with *C. cellobioparum* at high glycerol loadings and at high rates of ethanologenesis (Fig. 4.6A and 4.7A). In general, adaptations that confer solvent tolerance are complex, requiring multiple genetic changes, which affect general cellular stress response mechanisms as well as changes in membrane fatty acid, phospholipids and protein composition (25, 46, 62).

In addition to ethanol, wild-type *C. cellobioparum* also produced lactate, acetate, formate, hydrogen, and CO₂ via fermentation of glycerol (Fig. 4.3B). Interestingly, the adapted strain, CcelA_{10G}, only produced ethanol, formate, hydrogen, and CO₂ from glycerol fermentation. Lactate and acetate were no longer observed in improved fermentation efficiency of glycerol to ethanol with the concomitant production of formate hydrogen, and CO₂. At higher glycerol concentrations (3.8% (w/v) for WT and 10% (w/v) for CcelA_{10G}), both strains only metabolized a fraction of the glycerol provided. Fermentation products can act as feedback inhibitors and acidify the medium preventing further glycerol metabolism. Hydrogen, in particular, has been shown to inhibit growth of *C. cellobioparum* (8). The ability of WT *C. cellobioparum* and WT *G. sulfurreducens* to grow syntrophically was demonstrated on low concentrations of glycerol (0.25% (w/v)) using fumarate as the terminal electron acceptor (Fig. 4.3A). Acetate, formate, and most of the hydrogen produced by *C. cellobioparum* were consumed by *G. sulfurreducens* in

the coculture, leaving behind ethanol and lactate. Following adaptive evolution of the two strains, syntrophic growth was investigated at high glycerol loadings. Growth rates of the adapted consortia exceeded the growth rates of either species alone (Fig. 4.7A). Additionally, glycerol consumption and ethanol production increased in the coculture compared with the CcelA_{10G} monoculture when the starting glycerol concentration was above 5% (w/v) (Fig. 4.7B-C). This suggests that the consumption of fermentation products by GsulA_{5E} decreased feedback inhibition and stimulated the fermentation of CcelA_{10G}.

The ability of *G. sulfurreducens* to consume fermentation products in batch coculture was limited by the amount of fumarate provided as the terminal electron acceptor. However, *G. sulfurreducens* can consume fermentative byproducts and convert them to electrical current in MECs where an electrode acts as an unlimited electron acceptor. Additionally, the energy lost in the fermentative byproducts (i.e., non-ethanol products) can be recovered at the cathode as H₂ fuel, thereby contributing to the overall energy recovery of the system. Syntrophic growth of WT *C. cellobioparum* and WT *G. sulfurreducens* with glycerol (3.8% (w/v) was demonstrated in a sequentially inoculated MEC, and resulted in current production (and therefore cathodic H₂ production) by *G. sulfurreducens* (Fig. 4.4B). Glycerol consumption and ethanol production were improved within the MEC compared to *C. cellobioparum* in batch culture (Fig. 4.4C).

The adapted strains were also tested in the MECs. Controls of CcelA_{10G} were grown alone in the MEC with and without a poised anode electrode to test for current production by the fermentative strain. Some species of *Clostridia* such as *C. propionicum* have been shown to produce current with the help of mediators (63). Under the conditions used in our system, CcelA_{10G} does not appear capable of current production (Fig. 4.9B). However, an increase in glycerol fermentation compared to the batch culture was observed when a positive potential of 0.24 V was applied at the anode. Additionally, the unpoised electrode resulted in a further increase in glycerol consumption and ethanol production (Fig. 4.10) although energy recoveries were similar (62.4 and 57.9%, respectively). Despite this improvement, only ca. 20% of the glycerol was consumed by CcelA_{10G} (Fig. 4.10A).

Co-culturing the adapted strains in the MECs in GS3 medium resulted in increased current production due to the presence of $GsulA_{5E}$ (Fig. 4.9B), however, the energy recovery was lower (16%) compared to the $CcelA_{10G}$ monoculture, this is a result of redirection of fermentation products away from ethanol to 1,3-propanediol and propionate. Energy recovery in this system was due primarily to ethanol production, and only 19% of the glycerol consumed went towards ethanol, compared to 68% in the monocultures. Furthermore, the pH at the end of the MEC run was low (5.1), which we believe contributed to both the decline in current production by $GsulA_{5E}$ and potentially the diversion of products away from organic acids by $CcelA_{10G}$. The nature of this metabolic shift is not yet understood and would benefit from further investigation

through the use of enzyme activity assays and the quantification of intracellular NADH/NAD⁺ pools as described previously (19).

Stabilization of culture pH was attempted using the addition of MOPS buffer (GS2), GS2 with sparging to eliminate CO₂ acidification of the media, and adding a high concentration of phosphate buffer to GS3 (P). GS3 medium (with MOPS) was unsuccessful at improving the pH (final pH 5.1). GS2 and continuous sparging and GS3 with phosphate buffer resulted in improved pHs of 6.0 and 5.9 respectively. While the presence of MOPS alone did not stabilize the pH of the medium, glycerol fermentation was stimulated 1.3-fold, and fermentation products increased 2.2-fold compared to the GS3 medium without MOPS. The conditions with improved pH (sparging and phosphate buffer, respectively) showed noted improvements in glycerol consumption (2.4- and 3.5fold increases) and fermentation products (1.7- and 4.7-fold increases) respectively compared to their base medium (GS2 and GS3 respectively). The pH also influenced the metabolic shift. The lower pH cultures result in less ethanol produced as a percentage of glycerol consumed compared to the more pH controlled cultures. The ethanol conversion for the original MEC culture was 19%, the addition of MOPS improved it to 27%, the addition of sparging increased it to 40%, and the best fermentative scenario of phosphate buffering resulted in 50% conversion of glycerol consumed to ethanol. This corresponded to increases in energy recoveries as well (16, 27, 34, and 36% respectively).

Interestingly, GsulA_{5E} current production was not greatly affected by the buffer optimization (Fig 4.9B). The increases in pH did seem to increase the duration of

current production (Fig 4.9A), but the total current produced did not increase. Several factors may be limiting current production by *G. sulfurreducens*. While pH stabilization was improved, the best scenarios still had a pH around 6. which is not optimal (28). The high concentration of glycerol is unlikely to have inhibited the current production of GsulA_{5E}, as control MECs with GsulA_{5E} alone using acetate as the electron donor showed that the presence of 10% (w/v) glycerol did not decrease the coulombic efficiency (Fig. 4.8).

Genome sequencing of both of the adapted strains is underway to ascertain the genetic basis for our improved glycerol tolerance. Additionally, the sequence of $CcelA_{10G}$ and its parental strain could lead to metabolic engineering of *C. cellobioparum*. Currently, this strain does not have a genetic system, but closely related species *Clostridium thermocellum* (55) and *Clostridium cellulolyticum* do (4, 24, 52). The shift in metabolism creates an interesting potential of customized fermentation via metabolic engineering.

The primary fermentation product of *C. cellobioparum*, ethanol, is one of the main types of alternative fuel (41), but it can also be used as a feedstock for the transesterification process, thereby reducing production costs for biodiesel (5). The other fermentative products, propionate and 1,3-propanediol, which were produced in the MECs during coculture with *G. sulfurreducens* are marketable as well. Propionate is a chemical used in antifungal agents, herbicides, solvents and perfumes (31), and 1,3-propanediol is used as a precursor to renewable plastics (19, 45). 1,3-propanediol has great potential to improve the economics of the biodiesel industry and its production has been widely studied (2, 18, 31, 34). By determining the mechanism for the observed metabolic shift,

and/or by directly manipulating metabolism, we could potentially direct the fermentation of glycerol to the product that will return the most value to our wastewater treatment platform: ethanol as a feedstock to reduce production costs, ethanol as a fuel to recover energy, or propionate and 1,3-propanediol as commercial products to add value to the wastestream.

Genetic engineering of the *C. cellobioparum* strain could be used to target the metabolic pathway for either ethanol production or 1,3-propanediol production by knocking out the genes required for competing pathways. For example, eliminating the pathways to lactate, acetate, propionate and 1,3-propanediol production could result in increases in ethanol yields (46, 55), up to the maximum theoretical yields of 1 mol of ethanol per mol of glycerol. Alternatively, the highest theoretical yield for 1,3-propanediol (0.72 mol per mol glycerol) is achieved when acetate is coproduced for ATP synthesis (31). This could be achieved by eliminating the pathways for ethanol, lactate, formate, and propionate production. In either scenario of metabolic engineering, fermentative waste products are produced (formate and H₂ during ethanol fermentation, or acetate during 1,3-propanediol fermentation) which could be used by *G. sulfurreducens* for electricity production in BESs.

Energy recovery from fermentative and cathodic H_2 was also investigated, however, H_2 yields were low and therefore did not contribute much to our system (ca. 1%). Many of the electron donors available for *G. sulfurreducens* remained in the supernatant at the end of the experiments, indicating that something was limiting *G. sulfurreducens* current production. It is possible that some of the fermentative products

(e.g., propanediol or propionate) were inhibiting *G. sulfurreducens* metabolism and should be further investigated. Further improvements in the MEC system will be needed to improve energy recoveries from this part of the platform. Alterations in MEC design should be implemented and scaling up will be essential. Improvements will include removing expensive components such as the proton exchange membrane, as well as design features such as decreasing the distance between the anode and cathode electrodes, and increasing the ratio of anode surface area to reactor volume (28). In addition, better control of the pH conditions could prolong current production.

Currently, we use refined glycerol in our coculture MEC platform, but future directions for the research will include testing crude glycerol wastewater from the biodiesel industry. Glycerine wastewater has high salinity and contains contaminants that may inhibit the growth of *C. cellobioparum* and *G. sulfurreducens*. It will be interesting to see if the cellular improvements gained from glycerol tolerance (most likely membrane changes) will confer tolerance to more osmotic stress and harsh conditions of the wastestream.

Developing a use for the crude glycerol produced as a major byproduct of the biodiesel industry without the need to purify it has the potential to improve the economic viability of the industry. Conversion of crude glycerol into ethanol would have the added benefit of supplying the biodiesel refinery with up to 1/3rd of the ethanol feedstock required for the transesterification reaction, thereby reducing costs of the chemical inputs (presently 12% of the cost of biodiesel production) (1), and making the production of biodiesel increasingly independent of fossil fuel inputs. In this study, we have demonstrated interspecies metabolite transfer between *C. cellobioparum* and *G.*

sulfurreducens when grown with industrially relevant glycerol loadings, which resulted in the production of value-added products (ethanol, propionate, 1,3-propanediol, and H₂). Additionally, we have demonstrated notable improvements in our system that shows great potential for this platform as a method for wastewater treatment for the biodiesel industry.

4.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by a Marvin Hensley Endowed, continuation, and dissertation completion fellowships from Michigan State's College of Natural Science to JMY. We thank Susan Leschine for the culture collection of fermentation strains.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- 1. Atabani, A. E., A. S. Silitonga, I. A. Badruddin, T. M. I. Mahlia, H. H. Masjuki, and S. Mekhilef. 2012. A comprehensive review on biodiesel as an alternative energy resource and its characteristics. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews 16:2070-2093.
- 2. **Biebl, H., K. Menzel, A. P. Zeng, and W. D. Deckwer.** 1999. Microbial production of 1,3-propanediol. Applied microbiology and biotechnology **52:**289-297.
- 3. **Biebl, H., and C. Sproer.** 2002. Taxonomy of the glycerol fermenting clostridia and description of *Clostridium diolis* sp. nov. Systematic and Applied Microbiology **25**:491-497.
- 4. **Blouzard, J. C., O. Valette, C. Tardif, and P. de Philip.** 2010. Random mutagenesis of *Clostridium cellulolyticum* by using a Tn1545 derivative. Applied and environmental microbiology **76**:4546-4549.
- 5. **Brunschwig, C., W. Moussavou, and J. Blin.** 2012. Use of bioethanol for biodiesel production. Progress in Energy and Combustion Science **38**:283-301.
- Cavedon, K., S. B. Leschine, and E. Canale-Parola. 1990. Cellulase system of a free-living, mesophilic clostridium (strain C7). Journal of Bacteriolology 172:4222-4230.
- 7. Cheng, S., and B. E. Logan. 2007. Sustainable and efficient biohydrogen production via electrohydrogenesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA **104**:18871-18873.
- 8. **Chung, K. T.** 1976. Inhibitory effects of H₂ on growth of *Clostridium cellobioparum*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **31**:342-348.
- 9. Clauwaert, P., D. van der Ha, and W. Verstraete. 2008. Energy recovery from energy rich vegetable products with microbial fuel cells. Biotechnology Letters **30**:1947-1951.
- 10. **Coppi, M. V., C. Leang, S. J. Sandler, and D. R. Lovley.** 2001. Development of a genetic system for *Geobacter sulfurreducens*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **67:**3180-3187.

- 11. **Demirbas, A.** 2008. New liquid biofuels from vegetable oils via catalytic pyrolysis. Energy Educaction and Science Technology **21**:1-59.
- 12. **Dharmadi, Y., A. Murarka, and R. Gonzalez.** 2006. Anaerobic fermentation of glycerol by *Escherichia coli*: a new platform for metabolic engineering. Biotechnology and Bioenergy **94**:821-829.
- 13. **Durrett, T. P., C. Benning, and J. Ohlrogge.** 2008. Plant triacylglycerols as feedstocks for the production of biofuels. Plant Journal **54:**593-607.
- 14. **Engelhaupt, E.** 2007. Biodiesel boom creates glut of glycerin. Environmental Science and Technology **41:**5175.
- 15. **Feofilova, E. P., E. Sergeeva Ia, and A. A. Ivashechkin.** 2010. Biodiesel-fuel: content, production, producers, contemporary biotechnology (review). Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology **46:**405-415.
- 16. **Finkel, S. E.** 2006. Long-term survival during stationary phase: evolution and the GASP phenotype. Nature Reviews Microbiology **4**:113-120.
- 17. Flynn, J. M., D. E. Ross, K. A. Hunt, D. R. Bond, and J. A. Gralnick. 2010. Enabling unbalanced fermentations by using engineered electrode-interfaced bacteria. mBio 1.
- 18. **Gonzalez-Pajuelo, M., J. C. Andrade, and I. Vasconcelos.** 2004. Production of 1,3-propanediol by *Clostridium butyricum* VPI 3266 using a synthetic medium and raw glycerol. Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology **31:**442-446.
- 19. **Gonzalez-Pajuelo, M., I. Meynial-Salles, F. Mendes, P. Soucaille, and I. Vasconcelos.** 2006. Microbial conversion of glycerol to 1,3-propanediol: physiological comparison of a natural producer, Clostridium butyricum VPI 3266, and an engineered strain, Clostridium acetobutylicum DG1(pSPD5). Applied and environmental microbiology **72**:96-101.
- 20. Haas, M. J., A. J. McAloon, W. C. Yee, and T. A. Foglia. 2006. A process model to estimate biodiesel production costs. Bioresource technology **97:**671-678.
- 21. **Himmi, E. H., A. Bories, A. Boussaid, and L. Hassani.** 2000. Propionic acid fermentation of glycerol and glucose by Propionibacterium acidipropionici and Propionibacterium freudenreichii ssp. shermanii. Applied microbiology and biotechnology **53**:435-440.
- 22. **Hungate, R. E., and J. Macy.** 1973. The roll-tube method for cultivation of strict anaerobes. Bulletin of Ecological Research Communications **17**:123-125.

- 23. **Ito, T., Y. Nakashimada, K. Senba, T. Matsui, and N. Nishio.** 2005. Hydrogen and ethanol production from glycerol-containing wastes discharged after biodiesel manufacturing process. Journal of Bioscience and Bioenergy **100**:260-265.
- 24. Jennert, K. C., C. Tardif, D. I. Young, and M. Young. 2000. Gene transfer to *Clostridium cellulolyticum* ATCC 35319. Microbiology **146 Pt 12:**3071-3080.
- 25. **Jia, K., Y. Zhang, and Y. Li.** 2010. Systematic engineering of microorganisms to improve alcohol tolerance. Engineering in Life Sciences **10**:422–429.
- 26. **Johnson, D. T., and K. A. Taconi.** 2007. The glycerin glut: Options for the value-added conversion of crude glycerol resulting from biodiesel production. Environmental Progress **26**:338-348.
- 27. Lapuerta, M., O. Armas, and J. Rodriguez-Fernandez. 2008. Effect of biodiesel fuels on diesel engine emissions. Progress in Energy and Combustion Science **34**:198-223.
- 28. Logan, B. E. 2008. Microbial fuel cells. Wiley-Interscience, Hoboken, N.J.
- 29. Lovley, D. R., Z. M. Summers, S. A. Haveman, and M. Izallalen. 2011. Geobacter strains that use alternate organic compounds, methods of making, and methods of use thereof. U.S.A.
- Ludwig, W., K.-H. Schleifer, and W. B. Whitman. 2009. Revised road map to the phylum Firmicutes, p. 1-13. *In* P. Vos, G. M. Garrity, D. Jones, N. R. Krieg, W. Ludwig, F. A. Rainey, K.-H. Schleifer, and W. B. Whitman (ed.), Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology. Springer New York.
- 31. Maervoet, V. E. T., M. D. Mey, J. Beauprez, S. D. Maeseneire, and W. K. Soetaert. 2011. Enhancing the microbial conversion of glycerol to 1,3-propanediol using metabolic engineering. Organic Process Research and Development **15**:189-202.
- 32. **McKinlay, J. B., J. G. Zeikus, and C. Vieille.** 2005. Insights into *Actinobacillus succinogenes* fermentative metabolism in a chemically defined growth medium. Applied Environmental Microbiology **71**:6651-6656.
- 33. Meng, X., J. M. Yang, X. Xu, L. Zhang, Q. J. Nie, and M. Xian. 2009. Biodiesel production from oleaginous microorganisms. Renewable Energy **34:**1-5.
- 34. **Moon, C., J. H. Ahn, S. W. Kim, B. I. Sang, and Y. Um.** 2010. Effect of biodiesel-derived raw glycerol on 1,3-propanediol production by different microorganisms. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology **161**:502-510.

- 35. **Ng, J. H., H. K. Ng, and S. Gan.** 2010. Recent trends in policies, socioeconomy and future directions of the biodiesel industry. Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy **12**:213-238.
- 36. Nicol, R. W., K. Marchand, and W. D. Lubitz. 2012. Bioconversion of crude glycerol by fungi. Applied microbiology and biotechnology **93**:1865-1875.
- Nimje, V. R., C. Y. Chen, C. C. Chen, H. R. Chen, M. J. Tseng, J. S. Jean, and Y. F. Chang. 2011. Glycerol degradation in single-chamber microbial fuel cells. Bioresource Technology 102:2629-2634.
- 38. **Nitayavardhana, S., and S. K. Khanal.** 2012. Biofuel Residues/Wastes: Ban or Boon? Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology **42:**1-43.
- 39. Oh, B. R., J. W. Seo, S. Y. Heo, W. K. Hong, L. H. Luo, M. H. Joe, D. H. Park, and C. H. Kim. 2011. Efficient production of ethanol from crude glycerol by a Klebsiella pneumoniae mutant strain. Bioresource technology **102**:3918-3922.
- 40. **Petkov, G., A. Ivanova, I. Iliev, and I. Vaseva.** 2012. A critical look at the microalgae biodiesel. European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology **114:**103-111.
- 41. **Rojey, A., and F. Monot.** 2010. Biofuels: Production and Applications, p. 413-431, Industrial Biotechnology. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.
- 42. Rottig, A., L. Wenning, D. Broker, and A. Steinbuchel. 2010. Fatty acid alkyl esters: perspectives for production of alternative biofuels. Applied microbiology and biotechnology **85**:1713-1733.
- 43. Saint-Amans, S., L. Girbal, J. Andrade, K. Ahrens, and P. Soucaille. 2001. Regulation of carbon and electron flow in Clostridium butyricum VPI 3266 grown on glucose-glycerol mixtures. Journal of Bacteriology **183**:1748-1754.
- 44. **Sakai, S., and T. Yagishita.** 2007. Microbial production of hydrogen and ethanol from glycerol-containing wastes discharged from a biodiesel fuel production plant in a bioelectrochemical reactor with thionine. Biotechnology Bioenergy **98:**340-348.
- 45. **Saxena, R. K., P. Anand, S. Saran, and J. Isar.** 2009. Microbial production of 1,3-propanediol: Recent developments and emerging opportunities. Biotechnology Advances **27**:895-913.
- Shao, X., B. Raman, M. Zhu, J. R. Mielenz, S. D. Brown, A. M. Guss, and L. R. Lynd. 2011. Mutant selection and phenotypic and genetic characterization of ethanol-tolerant strains of Clostridium thermocellum. Applied microbiology and biotechnology 92:641-652.

- 47. **Shapouri, H., J. A. Duffield, and M. Wang.** 2003. The energy balance of corn ethanol revisited. Transactaions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers **46**:959-968.
- 48. Sharma, Y. C., B. Singh, and S. N. Upadhyay. 2008. Advancements in development and characterization of biodiesel: A review. Fuel **87**:2355-2373.
- 49. **Speers, A. M., and G. Reguera.** 2012. Consolidated Bioprocessing of AFEX-Pretreated Corn Stover to Ethanol and Hydrogen in a Microbial Electrolysis Cell. Environmental Science and Technology.
- 50. **Speers, A. M., and G. Reguera.** 2012. Electron donors supporting growth and electroactivity of *Geobacter sulfurreducens* anode biofilms. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **78**:437-444.
- 51. **Szulczyk, K. R., and B. A. McCarl.** 2010. Market penetration of biodiesel. Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews **14**:2426-2433.
- 52. **Tardif, C., H. Maamar, M. Balfin, and J. P. Belaich.** 2001. Electrotransformation studies in *Clostridium cellulolyticum*. Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology **27:**271-274.
- 53. **Thompson, J. C., and B. B. He.** 2006. Characterization of crude glycerol from biodiesel production from multiple feedstocks. Applied Engineering in Agriculture **22**:261-265.
- 54. **Trinh, C. T., and F. Srienc.** 2009. Metabolic engineering of *Escherichia coli* for efficient conversion of glycerol to ethanol. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **75**:6696-6705.
- 55. Tripathi, S. A., D. G. Olson, D. A. Argyros, B. B. Miller, T. F. Barrett, D. M. Murphy, J. D. McCool, A. K. Warner, V. B. Rajgarhia, L. R. Lynd, D. A. Hogsett, and N. C. Caiazza. 2010. Development of pyrF-based genetic system for targeted gene deletion in *Clostridium thermocellum* and creation of a pta mutant. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **76**:6591-6599.
- 56. **U.S.** 2012. Total biofuels production (thousand barrels per day). Available from: http://www.eia.gov/cfapps/ipdbproject/iedindex3.cfm?tid=79&pid=81&aid=1&cid= &syid=2000&eyid=2010&unit=TBPD.
- 57. Verma, N. M., S. Mehrotra, A. Shukla, and B. N. Mishra. 2010. Prospective of biodiesel production utilizing microalgae as the cell factories: A comprehensive discussion. African Journal of Biotechnology **9**:1402-1411.
- 58. Walter, R. P., J. G. Morris, and D. B. Kell. 1987. The roles of osmotic stress and water activity in the inhibition of the growth, glycolysis and glucose phosphotransferase system of *Clostridium pasteurianum*. Journal of general microbiology **133**:259-266.
- 59. Wang, X., Y. J. Feng, H. M. Wang, Y. P. Qu, Y. L. Yu, N. Q. Ren, N. Li, E. Wang, H. Lee, and B. E. Logan. 2009. Bioaugmentation for electricity generation from corn stover biomass using microbial fuel cells. Environmental Science and Technology **43**:6088-6093.
- 60. **Wiegel, J., R. Tanner, and F. A. Rainey.** 2006. An Introduction to the Family Clostridiaceae. Prokaryotes: a Handbook on the Biology of Bacteria, Vol 4, Third Edition: Bacteria: Firmicutes, Cyanobacteria:654-678.
- 61. **Yazdani, S. S., and R. Gonzalez.** 2007. Anaerobic fermentation of glycerol: a path to economic viability for the biofuels industry. Current Opinions in Biotechnology **18**:213-219.
- 62. Yomano, L. P., S. W. York, and L. O. Ingram. 1998. Isolation and characterization of ethanol-tolerant mutants of *Escherichia coli* KO11 for fuel ethanol production. Journal of industrial microbiology & biotechnology **20:**132-138.
- 63. **Zhu, L., H. Chen, L. Huang, J. Cai, and Z. Xu.** 2011. Electrochemical analysis of *Clostridium propionicum* and its acrylic acid production in microbial fuel cells. Enginerring in Life Sciences **11:**238–244.

Chapter 5

Conclusions and Future Directions

5.1 CONCLUSIONS

Consolidated bioprocessing (CBP) microorganisms are key drivers of plant matter decomposition in terrestrial environments and show great promise for the industrial bioprocessing of agricultural wastes and plant-derived substrates into biofuels such as ethanol. One of the CPB microorganisms that I studied, *Cellulomonas uda*, serves as a great laboratory model for ecological studies that link carbon cycling to climate and anthropogenic nitrogen disturbances. Further understanding the mechanisms that enable this microorganism to finely tune its physiology to carbon and nitrogen inputs will provide valuable insights for the development of more sensitive climate models and remediation strategies for carbon mitigation.

The microorganisms and processes that enable the decomposition of plant matter in nature can also be harnessed in the bioenergy industry. We harnessed the cellulolytic and fermentative capabilities of *C. uda* to develop a novel platform for bioethanol and biohydrogen from agricultural wastes via consortia growth with *Geobacter sulfurreducens*. Using the knowledge gained on nitrogen responses of *C. uda*, our lab was able to improve the energy recoveries in this system with nitrogen supplementation (Allison M. Speers, personal communication). Despite high energy recoveries, limitations remained. Using operational and biological approaches, I was able to improve rates and yields of ethanol production of *C. uda* from AFEX-pretreated corn stover.

In a similar platform, we harnessed the ability of *C. cellobioparum* and *G. sulfurreducens* cocultures to process glycerol to ethanol and biohydrogen for the treatment of glycerin wastewaters derived from the biodiesel industry. Improvements in the operational parameters of the platform led to the consumption of up to 50 g/L of

glycerol and the production of the value-added products of ethanol, 1,3-propanediol, and biohydrogen. My research shows that understanding native capabilities of microorganisms is the first step to utilizing them in industry.

5.2 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

5.2.1 Cellulomonas uda

Carbon sequestration and substrate attachment in nutrient-limited conditions give *Cellulomonas* spp. an adaptive advantage. Specific colonization of cellulose substrates gives *C. uda* better access to both carbon and nitrogen derived from plant cell walls (Chapter 2). Understanding these mechanisms will provide potential targets for improved cellulose degradation in industry, which is necessary for high levels of ethanol production. Allison M. Speers observed low energy recovery under nitrogen limiting conditions in a platform using a coculture of *C. uda* and *G. sulfurreducens* to convert agricultural waste at low concentrations of Ammonia Fiber Expansion pretreated corn stover (0.2% (w/v) AFFEX-CS) into ethanol and hydrogen in a microbial electrolysis cell (MEC). This was attributed to carbon being used for storage (curdlan) instead of fermentative conversion to ethanol. Nitrogen supplementation resulted in improved energy recoveries (10).

Using this knowledge, I improved ethanol yields and rates of *C. uda* on AFEX-CS by adjusting the operational parameters, increasing the solid loading (up to 5% (w/v)), and adapting *C. uda* for fermentative productivity. Our system is still limited in terms of complete substrate hydrolysis and fermentative efficiency. We are in the process of developing a genetic system for this strain (Appendix A). We are currently sequencing

the genome of both the parental and adapted strains of C. uda. In addition, I have performed preliminary tests to reproduce the genetic methods used to transform Cellulomonas flavigena (8), that hopefully will be applicable to C. uda as well. These two strains are closely related (11), so I anticipate similar results in this strain. Currently, we have a method to make electrocompetent cells as well as an electroporation protocol that have both proved successful. Potential targets for strain improvement include enzymes and metabolic pathways. If the limitation in hydrolysis seen is due to a missing enzyme that would complete the AFEX-CS degradation, a simple gene insertion could improve the strain. Alternatively, if feedback inhibition is the limitation, overexpression of the enzymes already produced could increase hydrolysis. Both methods have been attempted for recombinant cellulolytic strategies (7). There are several strategies used to promote the production of ethanol by metabolic engineering. Enzymes can be added to redirect metabolism and diminish pyruvate accumulation (3), and knocking out genes responsible for organic acid formation (such as acetate and lactate) would decrease production of undesirable products and increase the production of ethanol (9).

Additionally, *G. sulfurreducens* in coculture with *C. uda* in MECs could result in improvements in *C. uda* fermentation, as we hypothesized feedback inhibition as a cause of limitations in fermentation yields of *C. uda* on AFEX-CS (Chapter 3). Consortia growth with *G. sulfurreducens* would reduce the feedback inhibition as acetate and formate are converted to hydrogen at the cathode. This has the potential to improve hydrolysis and fermentative yields as formate reduces xylanase activity (5) and acetate disrupts cellobiose utilization (2). Adjustments in MEC parameters will be necessary as

our current system does not work well with high solid loadings. A flow-through system in which *C. uda* and AFEX-CS are separate from the anode chamber of the MEC, for example, could help avoid the mechanical stress of AFEX-CS on the anode biofilm (personal communication with Allison M. Speers).

5.2.2 Clostridium cellobioparum

We have identified a robust glycerol-fermenting ethanologen, *C. cellobioparum*, capable of consortia growth with *G. sulfurreducens*. Adapted strains and improvements in operating parameters have led to the production of ethanol, 1,3-propanediol, and biohydrogen from glycerol in a MEC. However, remaining limitations in the system include the incomplete consumption of glycerol and the low current production by *G. sulfurreducens*, which resulted in biohydrogen production having a minimal contribution to energy efficiencies.

To enhance biohydrogen production in the MEC by *G. sulfurreducens*, improvements in the MEC system will be necessary. Such improvements may include removing components such as the proton exchange membrane, which contributes to the high internal resistance of the MEC, as well as design features such as decreasing the distance between the anode and cathode electrodes, and increasing the ratio of anode surface area to reactor volume (6).

We are currently sequencing the genomes of our parental and adapted *C*. *cellobioparum* strains. While no genetic system is available for this organism, we believe the genetic systems in closely related organisms could be applicable to our

strain. Two other members of the *Clostridiaceae/Rumminococcaceae* clade including *C. thermocellum* and *C. cellulolyticum* have established genetic protocols (1, 4, 12).

We observed interesting metabolic changes in the MEC cocultures compared to MEC monocultures and batch cultures. In our best performing MEC, *C. cellobioparum* consumed ca. 50% of the glycerol available and produced ethanol and 1,3-propanediol. About 43% of the glycerol consumed was converted to ethanol. While both ethanol and 1,3-propanediol are value-added products, it would be beneficial to direct fermentation in one direction to allow for higher titers of the desired product. This creates an interesting potential for customizable fermentation via metabolic engineering. To produce 1,3-propanediol and acetate, the pathways for ethanol, lactate, formate, and propionate could be eliminated. Alternatively, to only produce ethanol and formate, elimination of lactate, acetate, propionate, and 1,3-propanediol could be accomplished through genetic engineering.

Lastly, to apply this system to wastewater treatment for the biodiesel industry, we will need to test crude glycerol wastewater as growth substrate. а Refined glycerol used in this study does not have high salinity or contaminants, such as those present in biodiesel wastewater, which could inhibit the growth of C. cellobioparum and G. sulfurreducens. It is possible that the adaptations that conferred glycerol tolerance to both C. cellobioparum and G. sulfurreducens (most likely membrane changes) will serve to increase tolerance to the greater osmotic stress and harsh conditions of the waste stream. Given the successful adaptive evolution strategies presented in this dissertation it is likely that continued adaptive evolution would be possible for these conditions.

- 1. **Blouzard, J. C., O. Valette, C. Tardif, and P. de Philip.** 2010. Random mutagenesis of Clostridium cellulolyticum by using a Tn1545 derivative. Applied and environmental microbiology **76:**4546-4549.
- 2. **Dermoun, Z., C. Gaudin, and J. P. Belaich.** 1988. Effects of end-product inhibition of Cellulomonas uda anaerobic growth on cellobiose chemostat culture. Journal of bacteriology **170**:2827-2831.
- 3. **Guedon, E., M. Desvaux, and H. Petitdemange.** 2002. Improvement of cellulolytic properties of Clostridium cellulolyticum by metabolic engineering. Applied and environmental microbiology **68:**53-58.
- 4. Jennert, K. C., C. Tardif, D. I. Young, and M. Young. 2000. Gene transfer to Clostridium cellulolyticum ATCC 35319. Microbiology **146 Pt 12:**3071-3080.
- 5. **Jorgensen, H., J. B. Kristensen, and C. Felby.** 2007. Enzymatic conversion of lignocellulose into fermentable sugars: challenges and opportunities. Biofuels Bioproducts & Biorefining-Biofpr **1**:119-134.
- 6. Logan, B. E. 2008. Microbial fuel cells. Wiley-Interscience, Hoboken, N.J.
- 7. **Mazzoli, R., C. Lamberti, and E. Pessione.** 2012. Engineering new metabolic capabilities in bacteria: lessons from recombinant cellulolytic strategies. Trends Biotechnol **30**:111-119.
- 8. Montes-Horcasitas, C., R. Ruiz-Medrano, I. Magana-Plaza, L. G. Silva, A. Herrera-Martinez, L. Hernandez-Montalvo, and B. Xoconostle-Cazares. 2004. Efficient transformation of Cellulomonas flavigena by electroporation and conjugation with Bacillus thuringiensis. Curr Microbiol **49**:428-432.
- Shaw, A. J., K. K. Podkaminer, S. G. Desai, J. S. Bardsley, S. R. Rogers, P. G. Thorne, D. A. Hogsett, and L. R. Lynd. 2008. Metabolic engineering of a thermophilic bacterium to produce ethanol at high yield. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105:13769-13774.
- 10. **Speers, A. M., and G. Reguera.** 2012. Consolidated Bioprocessing of AFEX-Pretreated Corn Stover to Ethanol and Hydrogen in a Microbial Electrolysis Cell. Environmental science & technology.

- 11. **Stackebrandt, E., P. Schumann, and H. Prauser.** 2006. The Family Cellulomonadaceae. Prokaryotes: a Handbook on the Biology of Bacteria, Vol 3, Third Edition: Archaea. Bacteria: Firmicutes, Actinomycetes:983-1001.
- 12. **Tardif, C., H. Maamar, M. Balfin, and J. P. Belaich.** 2001. Electrotransformation studies in Clostridium cellulolyticum. Journal of industrial microbiology & biotechnology **27**:271-274.

APPENDIX

Appendix

Investigations towards the development of a Genetic System in *Cellulomonas*

flavigena

A.1 BACKGROUND

As the bioenergy field expands, the need for improved microbial catalysts becomes increasingly important. *Cellulomonas* spp. are promising candidates for the consolidated bioprocessing of lignocellulose substrates, but further strain improvement is necessary. Genetic engineering is a targeted approach for strain improvement that could greatly enhance the metabolic attributes of *Cellulomonas* spp. for applications in bioenergy. However, no genetic systems have been reported for any *Cellulomonas* strains. The genome of the type strain *Cellulomonas flavigena* has recently been sequenced by the Joint Genome institute (1). Reports are also available that indicate that this strain could be transformed by electroporation (6). Hence, I began investigations towards the development of a genetic system in this organism.

A.2 MATERIAL AND METHODS

A.2.1 Bacterial strains and culture conditions

Cellulomonas uda (ATCC 21399) and *Cellulomonas flavigena* (ATCC 482) were routinely cultured aerobically in GS2 (3) medium supplemented with cellobiose (0.2% (w/v)) as the C source (GS2-CB). When indicated, 1.5% (w/v) agar was added. Cultures were incubated at 35° C.

A.2.2 Antibiotic screening and minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC)

C. uda and *C. flavigena* were tested for sensitivity to an array of antibiotics including kanamycin, chloramphenicol, gentamicin, streptomycin, ampicillin, novobiocin, erythromycin, tetracycline, and vancomycin. All antibiotics were tested using the paper

disc method (4) except for vancomycin, which was tested using a gradient strip (Etest®, Biomerieux). Paper discs of Whatman 3MM filter paper were saturated with varying concentrations of antibiotic (10, 50, 100, and 250 μ g/ml) and pressed into an agar plate streaked for confluent lawn growth. Zones of growth inhibition around the discs were measured to determine the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) for each antibiotic.

A.2.3 DNA Manipulations and Plasmid Construction

Genomic DNA (gDNA) was routinely isolated from cells harvested by centrifugation (16873 x g for 5 min at 25°C) from 4.5 ml of late exponential phase (ca. 18h) cultures using the Masterpure DNA purification Kit (Epicentre), following the manufacturer's instructions. The gDNA was resuspended in sterile water and its concentration was determined using a Nanodrop (Eppendorf). Primers for PCR amplification of DNA fragments of *C. flavigena* were designed using sequence data from the Joint Genome Institute. PCR amplification was performed using Herculase II Fusion DNA Polymerase (Agilent Technologies) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Plasmid DNA was purified using Qiagen midi-plasmid purification kits and resuspended in sterile water.

Plasmid pJYP11 was constructed using the In-Fusion HD Cloning Kit[®] (Clontech) that carried an insertion of a ~1.7 kb recombinant PCR construct into the MCS of the pCR2.1[®]TOPO[®] vector (Invitrogen). The insert contained the PCR-amplified upstream (~0.3 kb) and downstream (~0.4 kb) regions of the *C. flavigena* gene Cfla3152, which encodes a 1,3- β -glucanase, flanking an erythromycin-resistance cassette. The upstream region of Cfla3152 was amplified from *C. flavigena* gDNA using primers

Cfla3152 F1 (CGACACAGCTCGCGTACC) and Cfla3152 R1

(GTGGTCGTCGTCGTCGTCCATATGGCTACCCGACACCTCGAT), whereas primers Cfla3152 F2 (ATCGAGGTGTCGGGTAGCCCATATGGAGGAGCACGACGACCAC) and Cfla3152 R2 (CTCTACGTGCAGGGCGAGTA) were used to PCR-amplify the downstream region. The upstream and downstream regions were sewn together using primers Cfla3152 F1 and Cfla3152 R2 and introduced into the MCS of the plasmid pCR2.1[®]TOPO[®] using *Escherichia coli* Stellar TM competent cells (Clontech). The plasmid was then purified and linearized with FastDigest® Ndel. An erythromycin resistance cassette was amplified from plasmid pORI19 (5) using primers Inf Erm1 (TCGTGCTCCATATGAGCACAGTTCATTATCAACCAAA) and Inf Erm2 (TGTCGGGTAGCCATATGATGCAGTTTATGCATCCCTTA). The linearized vector and the erythromycin resistance cassette were then "infused," using the In-Fusion HD Cloning Kit® and StellarTM competent cells (Clontech). This resulted in the final plasmid pJYP11 containing the erythromycin resistance cassette within the upstream and downstream region of the 1,3-β-glucanase gene of *C. flavigena* (Cfla3152).

A.2.4 Preparation of electrocompetent cells and electrotransformation

Cells were harvested by centrifugation (3220 x *g* 8 min at 4° C), washed with ice-cold sucrose electroporation buffer (SPB: 272mM sucrose, 7mM sodium phosphate buffer [pH 7.4], 1mM MgCl₂) and resuspended in 1/20 of the original volume of SCP as previously described (2, 6). The cell suspension was either used fresh or mixed 1:1 with 50% glycerol (v/v) and stored at -80C.

Electrotransformations were performed following previously published protocols (2, 6) using an Eppendorf 2510 Electroporator using ~1 μ g/ μ l of DNA. Electrocompetent *C. flavigena* cells were either used fresh or thawed on ice. The cells were pulsed with 2500V before resuspension in pre-warmed (35°C) GS2 and incubated overnight at 35°C in liquid medium (GS2-CB) before plating on agar-solidified GS2-CB supplemented with 50 μ g/ml erythromycin.

A.3 RESULTS

A.3.1 Antibiotic resistance profile of C. uda and C. flavigena

No growth inhibition was observed for either *C. uda* or *C. flavigena* in the presence of kanamycin, chloramphenicol, gentamicin, streptomycin, novobiocin, and tetracycline (Table B.1-2). Thus, these strains exhibit resistance to these antibiotics up to concentrations of 250 μ g/ml. By contrast, both strains were sensitive to ampicillin at concentrations of 50 μ g/mL and higher and to erythromycin at concentrations of 10 μ g/mL and higher (Tables B.1-2). The zones of inhibition observed for *C. flavigena* in the presence of increasing concentrations of erythromycin are shown in Fig. B.1. Vancomycin was also tested for both strains using Etest[®] strips, and inhibition was observed at concentrations as low as 0.125 μ g/mL (Fig. B.2).

Table A.1: Antibiotic resistance profile of C. uda

Antibiotic	10 (µg/ml)	50 (µg/ml)	100 (µg/ml)	250 (µg/ml)
Kanamycin	-	-	-	-
Chloramphenicol	-	-	-	-
Gentamicin	-	-	-	-
Streptomycin	-	-	-	-
Ampicillin	-	2 mm	5 mm	а
Novobiocin	-	-	-	-
Erythromycin	2 mm	5 mm	8 mm	11 mm
Tetracycline	-	-	-	-

a Zone of inhibition too large to measure

Table A.2: Antibiotic resistance profile of C. flavigena

Antibiotic	10 (µg/ml)	50 (µg/ml)	100 (µg/ml)	250 (µg/ml)
Kanamycin	-	-	-	-
Chloramphenicol	-	-	-	-
Gentamicin	-	-	-	-
Streptomycin	-	-	-	-
Ampicillin	-	1 mm	4 mm	а
Novobiocin	-	-	-	-
Erythromycin	2 mm	5 mm	14 mm	20 mm
Tetracycline	-	-	-	-

a Zone of inhibition too large to measure



Figure A.1: Sensitivity of *C. flavigena* to erythromycin at increasing concentrations (10, 50, 100, and 250 μg/ml).



Figure A.2: Sensitivity of C. uda (A) and C. flavigena (B) to vancomycin

A.3.2 Transformation of C. flavigena

Based on the MICs determined during the antibiotic sensitivity screening, erythromycin was chosen as marker for genetic manipulations. An erythromycin-resistance cassette was amplified from plasmid pORI19 (5) and used to construct a recombinant PCR fragment for targeted deletion of gene Cfla3152 from *C. flavigena*. Gene Cfla3152

encodes a $1,3-\beta$ -glucanase, which break down the curdlan ($1,3-\beta$ -glucan polymer) exopolysaccharide. The recombinant PCR construct contained the erythromycinresistance cassette flanked by the upstream and downstream regions of the Cfla3152 gene and was inserted in the MCS of the pCR2.1[®]TOPO[®] vector. The resulting pJYP11 plasmid was transformed into electrocompetent cells of C. flavigena. DNA-free controls were also included. Whereas control cells did not produce any erythromycin-resistant colonies, the cells transformed with plasmid pJYP11 did, averaging ~400 CFUs per µg of DNA. Approximately 10 erythromycin-resistant colonies were randomly picked and cultured in liquid medium (GS2-CB). The clones were designated C. flavigena P11. gDNA was isolated from all the clones and the recombination of the recombinant insert of plasmid pJYP11 was evaluated by PCR amplification using primers Cfla3152 F1 and Cfla3152 R2. The WT gene with up and downstream regions results in a fragment ~2.8 kb while the expected recombined fragment containing the erythromycin resistance cassette in place of the Cfla3152 gene would be ~1.7 kb. The PCR-amplifications did not yield a product of the expected size (ca. 1.7 kb) in the P11 cultures, but, rather, a 2.8 kb fragment as in the control samples with WT gDNA, consistent with the amplification of the uninterrupted chromosomal Cfla3152 gene (Fig B.3). This suggests that the plasmid replicated in C. flavigena.



Figure A.3: Amplification of gene Cfla3152 in C. flavigena WT and P11

A.4 DISCUSSION

The combination of an antibiotic resistance profile and an effective transformation method shows promise for a tractable genetic system in *Cellulomonas* strains. *C. flavigena* was used in this study as a transformation system had been previously described, and the genetic sequence is now available. In Chapter 2 and 3, 1 demonstrated the promise of this clade of organisms and in particular *C. uda* as a candidate for bioenergy industrial applications. Although improvements have been made in our strain via adaptive evolution, limitations in ethanol yield will need to be overcome for use in industry. This work could lead to improved fermentation strains either by directed mutagenesis for metabolic engineering or a transposon mutagenesis screening for improved strains.

- Abt, B., B. Foster, A. Lapidus, A. Clum, H. Sun, R. Pukall, S. Lucas, T. Glavina Del Rio, M. Nolan, H. Tice, J. F. Cheng, S. Pitluck, K. Liolios, N. Ivanova, K. Mavromatis, G. Ovchinnikova, A. Pati, L. Goodwin, A. Chen, K. Palaniappan, M. Land, L. Hauser, Y. J. Chang, C. D. Jeffries, M. Rohde, M. Goker, T. Woyke, J. Bristow, J. A. Eisen, V. Markowitz, P. Hugenholtz, N. C. Kyrpides, and H. P. Klenk. 2010. Complete genome sequence of Cellulomonas flavigena type strain (134). Standards in Genomic Science 3:15-25.
- Bone, E. J., and D. J. Ellar. 1989. Transformation of Bacillus thuringiensis by electroporation. Federation of European Microbiological Societies Microbiology Letters 49:171-177.
- Cavedon, K., S. B. Leschine, and E. Canale-Parola. 1990. Characterization of the extracellular cellulase from a mesophilic clostridium (strain C7). Journal of bacteriology 172:4231-4237.
- 4. **De Beer, E. J., and M. B. Sherwood.** 1945. The Paper-Disc Agar-Plate Method for the Assay of Antibiotic Substances. Journal of bacteriology **50**:459-467.
- 5. **Law, J., G. Buist, A. Haandrikman, J. Kok, G. Venema, and K. Leenhouts.** 1995. A system to generate chromosomal mutations in Lactococcus lactis which allows fast analysis of targeted genes. Journal of bacteriology **177**:7011-7018.
- Montes-Horcasitas, C., R. Ruiz-Medrano, I. Magana-Plaza, L. G. Silva, A. Herrera-Martinez, L. Hernandez-Montalvo, and B. Xoconostle-Cazares.
 2004. Efficient transformation of Cellulomonas flavigena by electroporation and conjugation with Bacillus thuringiensis. Curr. Microbiol. 49:428-432.